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Foreword

     The Combat Studies Institute is pleased to present Occasional Paper 30, 
Searching for Stability: The US Development of Constabulary Forces in 
Latin America and the Philippines, by Dr. Richard L. Millett. In this study, 
Dr. Millett offers a survey of U.S. military involvement in the training of 
indigenous security forces in the Philippines and the Caribbean Basin in 
the 20th century.  Given the dramatic increase of these types of efforts in 
Iraq, Afghanistan, and other countries, this study provides relevant insights 
for current military professionals facing the daunting challenges that are 
inherent to the training and advising of foreign police and military forces.

     Dr. Millett’s succinct analysis highlights several critical themes com-
mon to the American experience in these types of missions. First and fore-
most, despite all the best attempts to involve other departments of the fed-
eral government, the U.S. military has historically served as the lead, and 
often the sole, U.S. agency in these efforts. This fact often translated into 
constabulary training programs that suffered from a lack of both guidance 
and resources. Put simply, the relatively few Soldiers and Marines work-
ing on these efforts - many of whom were relatively junior in rank - were 
forced to make important military and political decisions that had critical 
effects on the host nation as well as on U.S. foreign policy. Additionally, 
this study emphasizes the traditional strains between U.S. goals and host 
nation desires, tensions that were often exacerbated by U.S. personnel who 
knew little or nothing about the culture in which they were working and 
had no ability to speak the language of those they were training. Dr. Mil-
lett suggests that these problems contributed to the important but flawed 
assumption among both U.S. policymakers and American military officers 
that indigenous forces trained by the U.S. military would behave like the 
U.S. military. Unfortunately, rather than becoming the professional secu-
rity forces that served stable representative governments, these constabu-
laries often became tools of unsteady repressive regimes.

     Given the geopolitical challenges facing the United States in the early 
21st Century and the Department of Defense’s focus on creating a military 
that can conduct stability operations in a variety of countries,  the mission 
to train and advise foreign security forces is unlikely to disappear any time 
soon. This study offers an important set of insights from the past that can 
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contribute to a sharper understanding about the challenges of building and 
advising these forces in the future.  CSI – The Past Is Prologue!

Dr. William G. Robertson
Director, Combat Studies Institute
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Map 1. The Philippine Archipelago.
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Chapter 1

Introduction

There is remarkably little literature available on American efforts to 
create and train security forces in other nations. Only a few studies focus-
ing on specific cases are available, many published by the US Army. The 
topic is included but rarely emphasized in studies of American interven-
tions. There is no broad-based study examining the American experience 
in several different nations and no literature, at least in English, compar-
ing the American military experience with that of other nations such as 
the United Kingdom, France, or the Soviet Union. Hopefully, this volume 
will begin to fill in some of these gaps and will inspire others to examine 
the prospects and pitfalls of such projects and the limits of influence that 
constrain all such efforts.

Prior to 1898, the United States had little experience in creating       
military or police forces in other nations. In addition, we had virtually no 
experience with constabulary-type forces of our own, in part because posse 
comitatus seemed to forbid this combination of military and internal police 
functions. The closest parallel may have been the creation of various units 
among the Native Americans such as Apache Scouts and Reservation Po-
lice. In the last third of the nineteenth century, Reservation Police were a 
major project of the Bureau of Indian Affairs, in part because of pressures 
to replace the military in policing reservations. The squads received very 
little training from the Army or from anyone else.1

The Spanish–American War of 1898 and the decision to construct a ca-
nal through Panama a few years later dramatically changed the American 
interest in creating and training constabularies. The United States found 
itself responsible for internal security in the Philippines and Cuba and for 
maintaining security in the new nation of Panama. In short order, Haiti, the 
Dominican Republic, and Nicaragua became virtual protectorates of the 
United States. Chronic instability in Central America and on the island of 
Hispaniola (shared by Haiti and the Dominican Republic) had previously 
been of little concern in Washington, DC, but the proliferation of American 
territories and bases in the region combined with the opening of the Pan-
ama Canal suddenly made stability in this region a major policy concern.2 

For a variety of reasons the United States found it difficult to acknowl-
edge that it had become a colonial power. As a result, no Colonial Office 
or service was ever created, no body of civilian specialists put together to 
manage these new responsibilities. This even applied to the establishment 
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of Customs Receiverships in various nations. Responsibility was given to 
the War and Navy Departments who administered most of the territories as 
well as running operations in the protectorates. War Department responsi-
bilities were centered in the Bureau of Insular Affairs which was created 
in 1898 and, at one point or another, had administrative jurisdiction over 
Puerto Rico, the Philippines, the first and second military governments in 
Cuba, and Customs Receiverships in Haiti and the Dominican Republic.3 
The Navy ran the Virgin Islands until 1931, Guam until 1950, and Ameri-
can Samoa until 1951. Government in the Canal Zone was a matter of 
prolonged controversy, but for most of its existence the Governor was an 
active-duty Army officer.4

Shortly after the Spanish–American War another development impact-
ed American operations in the new territories and protectorates. That was 
the rapid development of wireless radio. This gave Washington the oppor-
tunity to exercise much closer supervision over operations in the field and 
also gave newspapers and other media increased opportunities to report on 
developments. The independent authority of those operating in the field 
was reduced and the potential for friction between those who made policies 
and those charged with their enactment increased.

Adapting US policies to this changed environment proved difficult and 
controversial. One reflection of this was the creation of the “Roosevelt 
Corollary” to the Monroe Doctrine, included in President Theodore Roos-
evelt’s 1905 State of the Union Message. Roosevelt declared:

It is always possible that wrong actions toward this Nation 
or toward citizens of this nation, in some State unable to 
keep order among its own people, unable to secure justice 
for outsiders, and unwilling to do justice to those outsiders 
who treat it well, may result in our having to take action to 
protect our rights; but such action will not be taken with 
a view to territorial aggression, and it will be taken if at 
all only with extreme reluctance and when it has become 
evident that every other resource has been exhausted.5 

While never legally binding, the Corollary would be cited and expand-
ed by subsequent administrations. In November 1915, Woodrow Wilson’s 
Secretary of State, Robert Lansing, wrote:

The United States should expand the application of the 
Monroe Doctrine and declare as a definite Caribbean pol-
icy that, while it does not seek domination over the terri-
tory of any of these republics, it is necessary for the na-
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tional safety of the United States, and particularly in view 
of its interests on the isthmus of Panama, that it aid the 
people of those republics in establishing and maintaining 
honest and responsible governments to such extent as may 
be necessary in each particular case.6

This justification for interventions, past and present, brought the 
United States directly into what would much later be described as “nation 
building.” The development of security forces would be a vital part of this 
mission. Dr. Dana Gardner Munro, who held several key State Department 
posts in Central America and the Caribbean during the 1920s and 30s, re-
called:

The establishment of nonpartisan constabularies in the Ca-
ribbean states was one of the chief objectives of our policy 
from the time it became clear that the customs collector-
ships wouldn’t assure stability by themselves. The old 
armies were or seemed to be one of the principal causes 
of disorder and financial disorganization. They consumed 
most of the government’s revenue, chiefly in graft, and 
they gave nothing but disorder and oppression in return. 
We thought that a disciplined force, trained by Americans, 
would do away with the petty local oppression that was 
responsible for much of the disorder that occurred and 
would be an important step toward better financial admin-
istration and economic progress generally.7

Other aspects of these nation-building efforts would include govern-
ment reorganization, election supervision, road building, improved health 
and sanitation, and judicial reform. In most of these projects the newly 
created security forces became involved. Once American tutelage ended 
these forces usually proved reluctant to give up their expanded roles. The 
combination of military and police functions in a single body also made the 
new constabularies a potentially powerful political force in their own right.

Beginning in 1899 in the Philippines, the American assumption of 
responsibility for internal security brought the United States into direct 
involvement in prolonged civil conflicts, first there and later in Haiti, the 
Dominican Republic, and Nicaragua. In each case the desire to reduce 
American casualties and extricate forces made the creation of native troops 
an increasingly urgent priority.8 In the process, the original emphasis on us-
ing these forces for policing functions was reduced and increased emphasis 
given to military capabilities. In every case, Americans, usually military on 
active duty, not only undertook training, but filled some, if not all, of the 
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positions as officers in the field. The military was now involved in polic-
ing, sanitation, internal communications, and sometimes even in exercising 
judicial authority over civilian populations. All this was done with severely 
constrained resources, little doctrinal preparation or guidance, limited if 
not nonexistent language skills, and in the context of prevailing racial, cul-
tural, and religious prejudices. The task proved to be a formidable one.

Relations with domestic political forces varied widely over time and 
place. There was rarely any genuine interest in the creation of a profession-
al, nonpartisan force that would not serve largely the interests of whatever 
faction was in power. There were also issues of national sovereignty and 
not wanting to cede control over the forces responsible for maintaining or-
der and defending sovereignty to a foreign power. At the same time, those 
in power were not unhappy to have a more powerful and capable force 
with which to confront revolutionary outbreaks. Central governments also 
saw such forces as a means of breaking the power of regional strongmen.

Events in the wider world impinged on these efforts. Resources in the 
Philippines were strained by the diversion of troops to China during the 
Boxer Rebellion and later by the coming of war with Japan. World War I 
had a major impact, especially in Haiti and the Dominican Republic, drain-
ing men and supplies, diverting the attention of Washington, and creating a 
new dimension of internal security concerns where there was a significant 
German presence. Japanese attacks in Manchuria caused Secretary of State 
Henry Stimson to accelerate the pace of American withdrawal from Haiti 
and Nicaragua so as to strengthen the moral case for opposition to Japanese 
intervention. The Great Depression also made Washington anxious to cut 
costs and conserve the resources connected with the interventions.

Finally, domestic politics were frequently a disruptive factor. Changes 
in administrations brought changes in policy objectives and methods. Con-
gressional investigations, especially in the Philippines and Haiti, both di-
verted attention and forced operational changes. A vocal minority in both 
Congress and the press kept up a barrage of criticism and negative public-
ity. Intervention policies were an issue in several elections, most notably in 
1912 and 1920. Political decisions led to turnover of newly created forces 
to national command much sooner than many in the military thought wise 
or prudent. 

Under these circumstances, what is perhaps surprising is not the array 
of problems that confronted efforts to develop these forces, but the surpris-
ing degree of at least short-term success of most of these efforts. Relative 
peace, if not democratic government, was restored, transfers to national 
authorities completed, and in the short run, US influence, if not control, 
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largely maintained. Longer-range results would be much less favorable, 
but this was something those charged with creating the new security forces 
could neither envision nor control. The basic question in every case was 
the same: would the price of the stability achieved ultimately prove too 
high?
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Press of Kentucky, 1983); Max Boot, The Savage Wars of Peace: Small Wars and 
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Chapter 2

The Philippines: Becoming a Colonial Power

The Philippines were America’s first, and perhaps most successful ex-
perience, in organizing foreign constabulary forces. The key was the total 
control the United States, as the ruling colonial power, had over the islands 
and the expectation that such control would continue for an indefinite pe-
riod. These conditions would not be replicated in later experiences in the 
Caribbean, but American officials repeatedly cited the Philippine experi-
ence as both a justification of and a model for these later efforts and as an 
example of a successful counterinsurgency. Officers with experience in the 
Philippines were frequently called on for service in subsequent constabu-
lary-creating efforts, most notably in Nicaragua in 1924. This makes the 
history of the Philippine Constabulary both relevant and informative when 
evaluating subsequent efforts.

The American takeover of the Philippines from Spain had proved      
surprisingly easy. Gaining effective control over this vast archipelago, 
however, would prove much more difficult. At first Washington seemed un-
sure about what to do with this territory. President McKinley told a group 
of Methodists that he was compelled to seek divine guidance as to what 
course to pursue. After fervent prayer he determined that America had an 
obligation “to educate the Filipinos and uplift and Christianize them.”1 He 
hoped that this could be done peacefully and that the Filipinos would come 
to understand that we had their good interests at heart. This hope was to 
prove tragically misplaced.

Besides the newly arrived American forces and the remnants of Span-
ish colonial units, there were two other armed groups active in the Phil-
ippines. One was armed Muslims in the south, notably on Samar and 
Mindanao. More numerous and better organized and armed was a revolu-
tionary army led by Emilio Aguinaldo. He had already begun organizing 
a government and had large forces near Manila. His initial hopes that the 
Americans would support an independent government were soon dashed 
and tensions steadily increased.2 Fighting broke out in early 1899 and the 
resultant conflict was prolonged and costly. Over 122,000 American mili-
tary personnel were ultimately sent to the Philippines, although average 
monthly strength for the two and a half years of official combat averaged 
only forty thousand. More American troops were killed in action in putting 
down what was termed the Philippine Insurrection than were lost in the 
Spanish–American War.3 
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On 4 July 1902, President Theodore Roosevelt proclaimed the               
Insurrection at an end, but fighting continued, especially against the Mus-
lim insurgents known as Moros, for several more years.4 Indeed the last 
organized Moro resistance did not end until 1916. The fighting strained 
the Army’s resources, generated considerable controversy at home, and 
produced numerous accounts of alleged Army atrocities.5 An additional 
complicating factor was the need to dispatch American troops from the 
Philippines to China to help put down the Boxer Rebellion. General Arthur 
MacArthur, the Army’s commander in the Philippines, constantly resisted 
Washington’s demands that he dispatch units, complaining that, as a result, 
his forces had “been decimated to limit of safety.”6

The Army was also reluctant to take on policing duties throughout the 
Islands. Under the Spanish these had largely been left to the Guardia Civil, 
which, according to one source, was “regarded with detestation and terror 
by the people.”7 A municipal police, under close American control, was 
soon organized for Manila, but the rest of the country had little in the way 
of law enforcement. Further complicating the issue was the domination 
of most courts by local elites and the multitude of languages and dialects 
spoken throughout the archipelago. 

All of these factors combined to make it imperative to raise native 
forces to assist in and eventually take over both the fighting and basic po-
lice duties. Taking advantage of local feuds, the Americans had quickly 
recruited groups of local auxiliaries, some of whom proved quite effec-
tive. But, stronger, more disciplined forces were needed. Ultimately, the 
decision was reached to create two separate units, one of which would be 
incorporated within the American military structure, while the other would 
be a national militarized police force. These would become the Philippine 
Scouts and the Philippine Constabulary.

The Scouts began on 10 September 1899 with the recruitment of 100 
soldiers, from the minority Macabebes. Commanded by First Lieutenant 
Matthew Betson of the US Army, they performed so well that four more 
companies were formed in October. Other minority populations were later 
recruited, but for years there were no units from the majority Tagalog pop-
ulation due to American distrust and fears of their ties to the insurgents.8 
Reliance on the Scouts increased constantly and, by June 1901, there were 
5,400 of them serving with the American Army.9

Ultimately, the Scouts became part of the American Army, forming 
the heart of the “Philippine Division.” Their budget was provided by the 
United States, but enlisted men drew a significantly smaller pay than their 
American counterparts. At first, all officers were American, but slowly Fil-
8



ipinos took over the field grade officer positions. Higher posts remained 
in American hands. In one important aspect the Scouts, and later the Con-
stabulary, differed from European colonial armies. They were specifically 
prohibited from serving outside the Philippines. 

As time passed, combat increasingly was taken over by Scout units, 
especially on Samar. In 1904, at the start of the fighting, there were twelve 
American Army companies and six Scout companies there. Three years 
later, there were eighteen Scout companies and only two American.10 The 
growing reliance on the Scouts had the additional advantage of reducing 
American casualties and, consequently, some of the criticism of our oc-
cupation of the Islands.

The Scouts role in combat left the task of policing the countryside still 
unfilled. Expanding the Scouts would have also expanded the cost to the 
US budget, something that Washington wanted to avoid. However, some 
Army officers argued for Scout expansion, not wanting to see any armed 
force in the Islands outside of their control. In addition, the Army had 
undertaken the informal recruiting of local auxiliaries, often taking advan-
tage of local ethnic and religious rivalries. While justified as a necessity at 
the height of combat these “unsavory allies” all too often were “motivated 
by revenge, tribal vendettas, or just bad character.”11 Another force was 
needed to undertake policing duties, and maintain control in rural areas 
while coming under closer American control. Governor William Howard 
Taft decided that the civil, not the military authority must control such a 
force and on 1 August 1901 the Philippine Commission issued Act 175 
which created an independent Philippine Constabulary.12 In October, in a 
report to the Secretary of War, the Philippine Commission outlined their 
plan:

To create an insular force of not exceeding one hundred 
and fifty men for each province, selected from the na-
tives thereof, who may be mounted in whole or part, and 
who are placed under the command of one or more, not 
exceeding four, provincial inspectors. The whole body 
is placed under the control of a chief and four assistant 
chiefs of constabulary. . . . Full powers are given to prop-
erly arm, equip, maintain and discipline the force, which 
is enlisted for two years, unless sooner discharged. They 
are declared to be peace officers and it is their special 
duty to prevent and suppress brigandage, insurrection, 
unlawful assemblies, and breaches of the peace. For this 
purpose they are given authority to make arrests, but are 
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required at the earliest possible moment to bring the pris-
oner before a magistrate for examination.13

Providing officers was an immediate issue. The Army detailed only a 
few active duty officers to fill the most senior posts. The rest were drawn 
from a variety of sources. Some were American volunteers who had mus-
tered out in the Philippines, others were regular Army non-commissioned 
officers who had been discharged, and a small number were Filipinos.14 
These were a mixed lot. Some were drunks or had other character defects.15 
Almost all the Americans were former enlisted men who had no experi-
ence and were evidently given little training as officers. Enlisted personnel 
also came from various backgrounds, including some former members of 
the hated Guardia Civil. Despite budget limitations and the problems of 
finding suitable recruits, the force grew quickly, reaching over 2,000 men 
by early 1902.

The Constabulary had a rocky beginning. They confronted the rem-
nants of Aguinaldo’s revolutionary forces, fanatical Islamic insurgents, and 
organized banditry. While their opponents were well armed the Constabu-
lary was at first given only light weapons, notably single shot Remington 
shotguns. This was in part because critics in the Army and in the civilian 
government feared they might desert, taking their weapons with them.16 
Ultimately, this prejudice was overcome and more modern arms supplied, 
but only after some disastrous engagements. 

Poorly armed, ill-trained, and, at times, not well led, the new force at-
tracted considerable criticism. One American critic, who served as a judge 
in the Philippines, charged that the Constabulary was “wholly inadequate . 
. . for the maintenance of public order,” and, as a result, “by 1903 brigand-
age therein was thriving like a garden of weeds.”17 Philippine Commission 
member Dean C. Worcester explained this: “The organization of a rural 
police force was imperatively necessary. Unfortunately, the most critical 
situation which it would be call upon to meet had to be faced at the very 
outset when both officers and men were inexperienced and before adequate 
discipline could be established.”18 At first called the Insular Constabulary 
the title was soon changed to Philippine Constabulary. An intelligence unit, 
known as the Secret Service, was established within the force and eventu-
ally became the major source of information not only on insurgents and 
criminals, but also on foreign citizens living in the islands. By 1909, they 
were furnishing the War Department a forty-three page summary of Japa-
nese activities.19

There was significant early friction between the Constabulary and 
the Scouts, especially when they served near each other in conflicted ar-
10



eas. The Scouts looked down on the Constabulary as a markedly inferior 
force, while the Constabulary’s commander constantly sought to expand 
his force’s authority at the expense of the Scouts.20 These disputes would 
continue on for several years. At the same time, it became increasingly 
common for Scout and Constabulary units to mount joint operations, most 
of which proved successful. During 1903, for example, there were 357 
hostile contacts by Constabulary units that claimed to have killed 1,185 
“outlaws,” and captured another 2,722 men.21 By 1911, when the last or-
ganized resistance ceased, the Constabulary claimed to have killed 4,862 
and captured 11,977 men. Constabulary losses totaled 11 officers and 197 
enlisted killed in action plus 48 officers and 991 men who died of disease.22

As time passed, the Constabulary’s capacity and reputation slowly 
improved. More and more Filipinos became officers, with some rising to 
the rank of Captain. Instruction was provided for potential officers and 
non-commissioned officers, but virtually all of it was conducted in Eng-
lish that severely limited enrollment. The Army’s appreciation of the Con-
stabulary’s contribution also rose. In part this may have been due to cost 
savings. A US Army enlisted man earned $1,400 a year, a member of the 
Constabulary only $363.50. In addition, Constabulary enlisted men drew 
only ten and a half cents a day for rations.23 Of even greater importance, 
while almost all Scout expenses came out of the Army’s budget, only the 
salaries of the top seven or eight Constabulary officers did.24

The Constabulary also relieved the Army and the Scouts of most po-
lice duty and took over the more isolated posts. Because they were largely 
recruited locally, they had a good knowledge of local terrain and politi-
cal structures and could speak local languages. This gave them a great 
advantage not only as police, but also in counterinsurgency operations. 
As one American officer observed, “Catching Filipino outlaws with the 
Army is like catching a flea in a 20-acre field with a traction engine.”25 The 
Constabulary’s reliance on local recruits and the consequent ties to local 
families gave them a great advantage over both US Army and Scout units 
in small, local engagements. When led by officers who knew how to take 
advantage of these traits they often proved highly efficient.26

As peace was slowly imposed, the Constabulary began to concentrate 
on its other duties. Principal among these were regular rural police func-
tions. They also undertook training and supervision of existing municipal 
police forces.27 On occasion they clashed with local politicians, especially 
in cases were corruption or other malfeasance in office was alleged. Get-
ting such individuals convicted, especially in local courts, was always a 
major problem, but the Constabulary did have some success.28 They were 
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never able, however, to break the power of local caciques nor end the pat-
terns of abuse and corruption that would long continue to dominate many 
rural areas.

As peace returned the Constabulary’s responsibilities steadily expand-
ed into additional areas. While the fighting raged they had taken over the 
Army’s responsibility for the control and maintenance of telegraph and 
telephone lines. These were eventually given to the Bureau of Posts, but 
the Constabulary acquired other duties. Outside of the major cities they 
became the firemen as well as the police. They were involved in public 
health programs, administering vaccinations, teaching rudimentary sanita-
tion, and, on occasion, providing limited medical care. They undertook 
the building and maintenance of rural roads, both to enhance security 
and economic development. When a natural disaster occurred, an all too               
frequent event in an archipelago subject to violent typhoons, volcanic 
eruptions, and earthquakes, they provided relief, prevented looting, and 
helped with reconstruction.29 Their police duties included attempting to 
prevent smuggling (something which was almost a Philippine tradition) 
and dealing with rampant livestock theft.30 Their efforts in the latter effort 
were more successful.

As time passed, more and more Filipinos assumed the officer posts of 
the Constabulary. With the US entrance into World War I made the detail-
ing of officers to the Islands even less desirable the process was essentially 
completed. A native Filipino, Brigadier General Rafael Cramé, became the 
Constabulary’s commander. He continued in that post until his death in 
1927.31 By then the Constabulary had grown to a total of 6,223 officers 
and men.32

The Constabulary continued to function as a national militarized        
police until the Japanese invasion in December 1941. Some Americans 
continued to question the loyalty of the Scouts and Constabulary, espe-
cially after a near mutiny of the Scouts, largely over pay and related issues, 
in 1924. Plans for the Islands defense included the contingency of Scout 
and Constabulary defection, but fortunately there was never any occasion 
to put these into action.33

By the late 1930s American policy in the Philippines was complicated 
by two divergent trends. One was preparation of the Islands for their prom-
ised Independence. In early 1933, Congress passed a bill over President 
Hoover’s veto, promising independence within ten years.34 The other fac-
tor was the growing fear of war with Japan. General Douglas MacArthur 
was made a Field Marshall in the embryonic Philippine Army and set about 
trying to prepare a defense. He planned to create a national army with 
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one regular and thirty reserve divisions, but Depression economics and 
widespread opposition forced him to sharply curtail this project. Finding 
officers to train his reserves was a major issue. He had hoped to use the 
Philippine Scouts for this, but that proved largely impossible. Some of-
ficers were detailed from the Constabulary, but most of these preferred 
police work to military training.35 

Eventually, MacArthur decided to incorporate the Constabulary as a 
division to be mobilized in case of war. But they were never given any 
real training for combat, never participated in large scale maneuvers with 
other units, and were so scattered among the islands as to make effective 
mobilization virtually impossible. MacArthur’s plan to repel any attack 
on the beaches further insured that the Constabulary would never func-
tion as a cohesive military unit. The ultimate result was predictable. Some 
Constabulary units did join up with the rest of MacArthur’s forces and 
retreated into the Bataan Peninsula where, along with the rest of the Phil-
ippine Army, they were ultimately destroyed. The remaining units were 
included in the overall surrender signed by General Jonathan Wainwright 
on 6 May 1942.

Some of the Constabulary formed or joined guerrilla units and con-
tinued to resist the Japanese occupation, but the force, as a whole, ceased 
to exist from 1942 until early 1945. They were then recreated and merged 
with the Military Police Command. Placed first under the Ministry of the 
Interior, but soon transferred to the Defense Ministry, the restored Con-
stabulary was considered as part of the Philippine Armed Forces. Their of-
ficers graduated from the same Military Academy as regular army officers 
and it was not uncommon for officers to spend part of their career with both 
forces.36 They played a major role in the fight against the Huk insurgency 
in the 1950s and 60s. At the same time some of their policing and most 
of their auxiliary duties were reduced and a separate National Police was 
formed. In 1986, Constabulary Commander, Major General Fidel Ramos, 
was a pivotal figure in the uprising that ousted Ferdinand Marcos from the 
Presidency and restored democratic rule to the Philippines.37 Five years 
later, the Constabulary was merged with the National Police, ending its 
history as a separate force.

The Constabulary had performed reasonably well throughout most of 
its career. Its reputation was further enhanced by its role in the fall of Mar-
cos. One key was the relatively swift and smooth transition to a national 
officer corps. Another was the fact that, while it performed some military 
functions, principle responsibilities in this area always rested with other 
forces. Finally, its early years were shaped by an American colonial admin-
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istration that had an indefinite mandate. Efforts to apply the principles of 
the Philippine Constabulary in other nations would encounter fundamen-
tally different conditions. 
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Chapter 3

Cuba: Large Problems, Limited Influence

Like the Philippines, the US Army occupied Cuba as a result of the 
Spanish–American War. And, like the Philippines, Americans had to deal 
with a native revolutionary army that had been fighting the Spanish for 
several years. But there were major differences as well. While Filipinos 
spoke many different languages and were divided by religion, virtually all 
Cubans were Catholic and spoke Spanish. The bulk of the population was 
concentrated on a single island, and the terrain, while often difficult, was 
not nearly as inhospitable as much of the Philippines. There was a deep 
racial divide between those of European and those of African descent, but 
there was not the heritage of ethnic violence that characterized the Philip-
pines.

The Philippines, like most of the territory acquired from Spain in 1898 
was destined to remain under American rule for the foreseeable future. 
Cuba, however, was different. The United States had pledged to allow 
Cuba to become independent, but, at the same time, was determined to 
maintain a high degree of control. This made the transition from American 
military occupation to independence difficult and uncertain and insured 
that the formation and development of Cuban security forces would be a 
constant issue.

Occupied Cuba had two national forces in addition to the US military. 
There were remnants of the Spanish system, notably police, which had to 
be dealt with. One by one they were disarmed and the Spaniards later re-
patriated. But their absence left a law enforcement vacuum in many areas 
that the American occupying force was unwilling or unable to fill. As a 
result, some American authorities, starting with Colonel Leonard Wood 
in Santiago, began recruiting local forces, largely led by and composed of 
veterans of the Cuban Revolutionary Army.1 

While a few members of the Revolutionary Army joined the embry-
onic police, many more remained with their units. They were a major force 
in internal politics as well as in military affairs. The outbreak of fight-
ing in the Philippines left some American officers in Cuba fearful that               
similar events might occur there, but with Washington pledged to Cuban 
independence there was never any serious danger of conflict between the 
Americans and the revolutionaries. Dealing with them, however, presented 
problems. The American occupiers wanted them disarmed and disbanded 
as soon as possible, but had no clear plan as to what force, if any, might re-
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place them. For most revolutionaries, their biggest concern was collecting 
the large amount of back pay they were owed. There were also concerns 
about future employment and, in some cases, a desire to use their military 
laurels as a springboard to national office.

Negotiations over disbanding this force were difficult and prolonged, 
but with the help of Cuba’s senior general, Máximo Gómez, and three-
million dollars from unexpended US War appropriations the bulk were 
ultimately disarmed with each soldier receiving $75.2 There was some 
discontent over the relatively small amount received, but, in general, the 
process proceeded peacefully. Left unanswered was the question of what, 
if anything, would replace this force.

While most Cuban politicians wanted a national army, there were 
arguments against it, especially from the American point of view. Alone 
among the American republics, Cuba had no land frontiers with any other 
nation. This meant no boundary disputes, the major cause of Latin Ameri-
can wars, and no sanctuary in neighboring territory for rebel forces. The 
only credible external threat to Cuban sovereignty was that posed by the 
United States and the American Army obviously had no interest in helping 
Cuba defend itself against that. Finally, there was the omnipresent, if rare-
ly mentioned, issue of race. A Cuban national army would include many 
Afro-Cubans, while the police forces the Americans were organizing were 
overwhelmingly white.3 Virtually all American military officers at the start 
of the twentieth century rejected the idea of racially integrated units.

A military government was quickly established, with Major General 
John Brooke as Governor. Brooke had few specific instructions as to the 
objects of his government or its possible duration. He was simply told to 
pacify the Island and establish civil authority, but was given no instruction 
on creating security forces or on taking steps towards Cuban self-rule.4

Into this policy vacuum moved Brigadier General Leonard Wood, 
Commander of the Department of Santiago. While Brooke and most of the 
other senior officers in Cuba were aging Civil War veterans (including ex-
Confederate General Fitzhugh Lee), Wood was still under forty. Educated 
as a physician, he had risen with incredible speed from Captain to Briga-
dier General, helped by his close ties to President McKinley and Theodore 
Roosevelt. This, combined with his tendency to seek new options rather 
than sticking to traditional practices, produced considerable friction with 
Brooke and other officers, but also led to his replacement of Brooke as 
Military Governor.5
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One of Wood’s innovative policies involved the creation of a mounted 
rural guard in his department. Most of those recruited were white veterans 
of the Cuban revolutionary army. Other Department Commanders eventu-
ally followed Wood’s example. In most cases, Cuban veterans became the 
unit commanders.6

Washington was generally pleased with Wood’s efforts, in part be-
cause it facilitated American troop withdrawals. Secretary of War Russell 
A. Alger was especially enthusiastic, urging the recruiting of constabulary 
forces for urban as well as rural duties not only in Cuba, but in Puerto Rico 
and the Philippines as well.7 Washington’s enthusiasm was at least in part 
engendered by its reading of the British experience in Egypt and elsewhere 
and by the image of Mexico’s Rurales who had a reputation for turning 
bandits into rural mounted police.8 Elihu Root, who had replaced Alger as 
Secretary of War, believed that a rural guard would “dispose of a lot of men 
most likely to make trouble in Cuba, turn them from possible bandits, and 
educate them into Americans.”9

When Wood replaced Brooke as Military Governor he was able to 
combine the separate Rural Guard units into a single, national force. While 
almost all the officers would be Cubans the American military remained in 
control of training and administration. The formal structuring of the Guard 
waited until 5 April 1901 when Wood issued Military Order 114. This 
created a force of four regiments each commanded by a Cuban lieuten-
ant colonel under the overall command of a Cuban colonel. Considerable 
authority, however, continued to reside in a US Army Captain, Herbert 
Slocum, who was appointed as Superintendent of the Rural Guard, with 
responsibilities for training and organization.10 A small artillery unit, based 
in Havana’s forts was added to the Guard. By 1902, when the first elected 
Cuban president took office and the American Army withdrew, the Guard 
had reached a strength of 1,600 officers and men and Wood believed that 
they were capable of enforcing the law and maintaining the peace. The fi-
nal turnover to Cuban control went smoothly, in good part because both the 
funding and the officers were already Cuban. While an American military 
advisor remained he had little power and the Guard became essentially a 
Cuban controlled force. The new president, Tomás Estrada Palma, gave his 
assurances that the Guard would remain professional and above politics.11 
Both his assurances and Wood’s faith would all too soon be proven wrong.

There had been some debate as to whether the Guard, alone, was a 
sufficient military force. Many Cubans advocated the creation of a regu-
lar army alongside the Guard. There was, however, little support for this 
idea within the American military establishment. This may have been due, 
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in part, to the controversy surrounding Washington’s insistence that, as a 
condition for ending its occupation, Cuba incorporate into its Constitu-
tion and ratify a treaty containing the provisions of the Platt Amendment 
which the US Congress had added to the 1901 Army Appropriations Bill. 
Among the Amendment’s provisions were a prohibition on any other na-
tion acquiring bases in Cuba, a Cuban obligation to lease naval bases to 
the United States, and the specific right of American military interven-
tion “for the preservation of Cuban independence, the maintenance of a 
government adequate for the protection of life, property, and liberty.12 In 
later writings Senator Orville H. Platt, the amendment’s author, noted that, 
“the new government of Cuba will have neither an army nor a navy,” and 
expressed his belief that the US naval bases and the explicit right of inter-
vention “will prevent trouble there.”13 

The Platt Amendment virtually insured that neither the Army nor the 
Navy would favor creation of a Cuban regular army. Should the United 
States decide to exercise its right to intervene such a force might pro-
vide armed resistance. With the Navy determined to maintain a permanent 
presence in Cuba and initially hoping for much more than just the base at 
Guantanamo, they too might be called upon to intervene and had no desire 
to confront a Cuban army.14 President Palma seemed to echo their senti-
ments declaring, “We should have a degree of order such that the Army 
would become unnecessary.”15

For most of President Palma’s first term things seemed to go fairly 
well. The Rural Guard, which had grown to over 3,000, enforced order 
in the countryside and a National Police patrolled the cities. There were 
occasional outbreaks of violence, notably when the Guard and police 
were used against labor strikes, but most of the nation remained relatively 
peaceful.16 But the situation rapidly deteriorated in 1905 as Cuba’s next 
round of elections approached. 

Determined to hold on to power, Palma set about rigging the                  
elections. Unsure of the Guard’s personal loyalty, he expanded the Ar-
tillery Corps and placed it directly under his command. It would prove 
ineffective when, in 1906, the opposition Liberals, who had boycotted 
the elections, began a revolt. While the resulting uprising included more      
political maneuvering than actual fighting, the government’s position 
steadily deteriorated. There were some clashes between rebels and the Ru-
ral Guard, but there were also numerous defections of Guard units.17 As 
the conflict spread it became apparent that both sides were counting more 
on American intervention than on a military victory.
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This placed President Theodore Roosevelt on the horns of a dilemma. 
He could not let the conditions on the island continue to deteriorate but he 
wanted to avoid intervention. In a 9 September 1906 letter, he expressed 
his frustration:

I have just been notified by the Cuban government that 
they intend to ask us forcibly to intervene in the course 
of this week, and I have sent them a most emphatic pro-
test against their doing so, with a statement that I am not 
prepared to say what I will do if the request is made. On 
the one hand we can not see Cuba permanently a prey to 
misrule and anarchy; on the other hand I loath the thought 
of assuming any control over the island such as we have 
over Porto Rico or the Philippines. We emphatically do 
not want it.18

Roosevelt’s efforts to avoid intervention ultimately proved futile. On 
14 September, he ordered powerful Naval forces and a Marine battalion to 
Cuban waters and had the Marine Corps prepare additional units for pos-
sible intervention. He also dispatched Secretary of War William Howard 
Taft and Assistant Secretary of State Robert Bacon to Cuba in an effort to 
negotiate a political settlement. But with both sides preferring American 
intervention to making any concessions to their opponents, the mission 
was doomed to failure.19

Shortly after Taft and Bacon arrived, President Palma suddenly          
resigned and his Vice President refused to replace him. With no Cuban 
government, Taft authorized the landing of 2,000 Marines and proclaimed 
a provisional government administered by the United States with himself 
as Governor.20 The Marine Brigade quickly fanned out across the island, 
insuring that the opposing armed forces were kept separate and that rela-
tive peace was restored. The Marine Corps, however, had no intention of 
taking on an extended occupation. That task would once again fall to the 
Army.

The Marines stayed long enough to disarm many of the Cubans,         
but left within a few weeks as Army units arrived. Ultimately, over 6,000 
US troops would serve in this second occupation of Cuba, but many would 
have little to do as there would be no significant clashes between American 
and Cuban forces. Indeed things became so peaceful that many officers 
brought their families to Cuba where their salaries procured a much more 
comfortable lifestyle, complete with servants, than they could expect to 
enjoy at home.21
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Taft only remained as Governor for a few weeks as he had to return to 
his duties as Secretary of War. In his place, Roosevelt appointed a civil-
ian bureaucrat with experience in Panama, Charles E. Magoon.22 Honest, 
dedicated, but uninspiring, Magoon saw his task as creating, as soon as 
possible, conditions which would enable the United States to return the 
government to the Cubans. He was determined to minimize conflicts with 
Cuba’s political elites and was little concerned with the long-range impact 
of his policies on Cuba. 

An urgent task was insuring that Cuban forces would be able to maintain 
control over future internal political disturbances. One of the first decisions 
was to retain the Rural Guard, including its commander, but to reform and 
reequip it, making a more effective force. In their report of their mission 
to Cuba, Taft and Bacon concluded that the weakness and wide dispersal 
of the Guard had “left the government naked to its enemies and critics,” 
and “utterly unprepared to meet this attack.23 Making the Guard more 
effective while, at the same time, keeping it separate from politics would 
not prove an easy task. The Guard had become politicized under Palma, 
cooperating in insuring his victory in the 1905 election, and then had not 
performed well against the subsequent uprising.24 In an effort to divorce 
the Guard from Cuban politics Magoon issued a decree making political 
activity by Guard personnel a court-martial offense and the Guard’s Cuban 
Commander issued a General Order: “The members of the armed forces 
will not discuss, either publicly or privately, their political opinions. They 
are soldiers of the state and as such have no right to mix in politics. Their 
duty is to serve their government and take no part in its construction. . . 
. The welfare of the entire force depends on its being free from political 
combinations.”25

To undertake the task of reforming the Guard the Army called upon 
several veterans of the Wood era, notably Major Herbert Slocum who had 
earlier been the Guard’s Superintendent. Slocum and his fellow officers 
believed the Guard had to be expanded and have more of its force sta-
tioned near major population centers so that it could quickly respond to any 
uprisings. They also favored making more promotions from the ranks.26 
Despite never having more than eight other American officers to assist 
him, Slocum did manage to accomplish quite a bit. Guard weapons and 
training were improved, the ranks culled, and modern communications in-
stalled in many posts. The force was steadily expanded, in 1907 reaching a 
strength of over 5,000 divided into three regiments. Discipline and morale 
improved steadily, something the Americans attributed to the officers ex-
hibiting greater concern for the welfare of the enlisted men.27 The Guard 
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undertook expanded rural patrols as well as continuing to enforce routine 
law and order.28 An abortive revolutionary plot in 1907 was quickly dis-
covered and defused, more by the Havana Police than by the Guard, and 
the occupation continued to be basically peaceful. By the end of 1907, the 
force seemed well on its way to becoming the professional, largely non-
political force that its American founders had always envisioned. When 
Magoon included a list of the principle problems facing Cuba in his An-
nual Report, issued in January 1908, there were no military or security 
issues on the list.29

Once again, however, the realities of Cuba’s political culture would 
disrupt the American’s carefully constructed plans. Much of the leadership 
of both the Liberal and Conservative Parties opposed expansion of the 
Guard and argued that Cuba should instead create a regular army. Confi-
dent of victory in the 1908 elections, the Liberals were especially insistent 
that only a regular army could crush revolutionary outbreaks at their in-
ception. They also argued that an infantry force would be less costly than 
an expanded, mounted Guard and that only if it had an army could Cuba be 
considered a truly sovereign state.30 This last argument conveniently omit-
ted the fact that so long as the Platt Amendment remained in force Cuban 
sovereignty would be limited at best.

Magoon and the American officers attached to the Guard were less 
than enthusiastic about the idea of a regular army, fearing, as it turned out 
correctly, that such a force might prove easy prey to political influences. 
But the Cuban advocates of an army were unrelenting, using the press to 
criticize the Guard and argue for a regular Army. The debate lasted into 
1908. With an election approaching and the expectation that American 
withdrawal would soon follow, Washington essentially gave in, demon-
strating that ending the occupation rather than Cuba’s long-range future 
was its first priority.

A plan, advanced by Roosevelt and Taft, called for an expansion of 
the Guard, but also the creation of a brigade of regular infantry. The Army 
could later be expanded by taking in some units of the Guard. The Cuban 
Constitution was also to be modified to create a militia that could be called 
out in case of need. American officers would have little part in the training 
of the army nor would the United States have much influence in selecting 
its officers. There was little effort to pretend that the selection of officers, 
especially for the senior ranks, would be nonpolitical. This was underlined 
when Magoon acquiesced in the Liberal’s choice for Army commander, 
General Faustino, a leader of the 1906 Liberal revolt, known largely for 
not taking prisoners.31
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The American officers attached to the Guard were upset by these de-
velopments, but were powerless to alter them. They correctly foresaw that 
the Cuban Army would become a political instrument and that the Guard 
would be hard pressed not to follow the same path.32 With Washington set 
on a rapid withdrawal all they could do was finalize their training efforts 
and hope they would not have to return at some future date to again under-
take a similar task.

One American officer, Captain Frank Parker, was detailed to remain 
behind as advisor to the Rural Guard and another, Captain George Gate-
ly, filled a similar function with the Cuban Artillery. Parker’s instructions 
urged him to be “discreet” and “useful,” but said nothing about trying to 
keep the Guard apolitical.33 It is probably unlikely that any efforts he might 
have made in that direction would have had any effect, but the record indi-
cates that his influence actually helped politicize the guard. He devoted his 
major effort to making it a military-oriented cavalry force, useful largely in 
discouraging political opposition. Ultimately, the Guard’s best unit became 
the personal guard of the President and the rest came increasingly under 
the control of officers known more for their political loyalties than their 
military skills. Discipline deteriorated and by 1912 the number of courts-
martial was greater than the Guard’s enlisted strength.34 

As the Guard deteriorated the Army expanded. By 1909–1910, the 
Army and Guard’s combined strength had reached 404 officers and 8,772 
enlisted men.35 Six years later, the authorized strength of the Guard was 
only 5,508 while that of the Army had reached 11,715 men.36 By then, the 
Guard had come under the command of the Army’s senior officers and had 
become a political instrument of the ruling party. In the 1916 elections, it 
played a major role in insuring that the desired results were obtained.

In 1912, American troops had returned to Cuba but this time not as an 
occupying force. Long discriminated against and increasingly frustrated by 
the elites’ political domination, some Afro-Cubans had tried to organize an 
“Independent Party of Color.” When this predictably got nowhere, some 
of its members turned to armed revolt. In most areas, combined Army-
Guard forces were able to quickly defeat the insurgents, but the American 
Minister to Cuba, Arthur M. Beaupre was so alarmed that he cabled the 
State Department that the revolt “will not be put down for months or even 
years without material assistance or intervention by the American govern-
ment.”37

Marines from Guantánamo, joined by detachments from several war-
ships, entered Cuba and were largely assigned to protect American prop-
erty owners. But the Cuban government needed no assistance in ending 
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the rebellion and Washington saw no need to involve itself with their mili-
tary operations. The Marines were soon withdrawn. A few years later, they 
were back.

What was happening was that the United States was increasingly be-
coming the supporter of governments that used the now totally politicized 
Army and Guard to manipulate elections and crush opposition. The vi-
sion of an apolitical force that would both maintain stability and support 
at least some form of democratic government had virtually disappeared. 
Personal ambition, more than any ideology, had come to dominate Cuban 
politics. In 1916, the government was nominally Conservative, but splits 
in both major parties made this nearly meaningless. The election evolved 
into a fight by incumbent President Mario Menocal to hold on to power. 
When the returns appeared to be going against him he simply resorted to 
open fraud and proclaimed his reelection. When neither the Central Elec-
toral Board nor the Supreme Court upheld this, supplementary elections 
were scheduled in two provinces. But before they could be held a group of 
Army officers tried to overthrow Menocal. Many senior officers owed heir 
appointments to the previous Liberal government and were openly sympa-
thetic to that party. Others were evidently upset at the extent of government 
fraud, combined with efforts to arm the regime’s civilian supporters. Those 
plotting against the government expected at least 75 percent of the mili-
tary to join them. They were wrong. Their plans were discovered and their 
leaders arrested.38 Liberal Party supporters then launched their own upris-
ing.39 Many apparently hoped that this might force US intervention. But, 
with much of the Army occupied on the Mexican border and the prospect 
of war with Germany looming the Wilson administration was in no posi-
tion to dispatch large units to Cuba. Instead Washington shipped arms and 
ammunition to the Cuban government and landed small forces at several 
coastal points, releasing Cuban forces to battle the insurgents.40

By this time, the United States had apparently lost all interest in or 
hope of having a professional, nonpolitical constabulary or army in Cuba. 
Its concerns focused on curbing German activities on the island and, once 
war with Germany began, protecting the sugar crop. As Liberal guerrillas 
began burning sugar fields, probably hoping this might force intervention, 
the United States and Cuba arrived at a strange formula whereby the Unit-
ed States would request and Cuba would grant the use of its territory for 
training Marines. Why tropical Cuba was a desirable site for training units 
that might be destined for Europe was never explained. Ultimately, nearly 
3,000 Marines spent the war in Cuba, camped near American sugar proper-
ties, and freeing the Cuban Army to destroy the last vestiges of armed op-
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position. After the war, this force was slowly reduced, though one battalion 
remained until 1922.41 Meanwhile, the Cuban Army continued to expand. 
As a last vestige of American influence, over 150 officers were given train-
ing in the United States. This improved their professional skills, but also 
made their political loyalties suspect and they were largely excluded from 
key commands. 

While the Rural Guard continued to exist, it had, by the 1920s, lost 
most of its separate identity and was basically the cavalry arm of the Cu-
ban Army. During the dictatorship of Gerardo Machado, 1925–1933, its 
units were used against student protests, labor strikes, and assorted efforts 
to overthrow the regime. Not trusting officers who had been trained in the 
United States, Machado began promoting officers from the ranks.42 This 
created a faction loyal to him, but at the same time increased the discontent 
of the US-trained officers and of the sergeants who did not receive such 
promotions. As Machado’s tyranny increased and opposition, much of it 
from the left, grew increasingly violent, the United States dispatched a 
special envoy, Sumner Welles, to attempt to resolve the situation without 
military intervention. Ultimately, the Army, certainly with Welles encour-
agement, if not his active participation, forced Machado into exile.43

Stability seemed to be returning until early September 1933, when the 
sergeants at Camp Columbia, Havana’s key military base, revolted. Led by 
Sergeant Fulgencio Batista, they allied with a reformist political movement, 
took over the government, and began purging the Army, ultimately replacing 
512 officers with enlisted men, warrant officers and a few civilians.44 Many 
of the removed officers, together with some colleagues still technically on 
active duty, gathered together in Havana’s National Hotel, seeking ways 
to reverse the revolt and/or to promote US intervention. Batista, who had 
made himself a colonel and army chief of staff, ordered his artillery to shell 
the hotel. After two days of sporadic fighting the officers gave up.45 This 
marked the destruction of the last vestiges of US influence over Cuba’s 
military and the beginning of Fulgencio Batista’s domination of politics. 
That would last until the end of 1958 when Fidel Castro destroyed Batista’s 
army and began his own prolonged rule.

The American effort to form a nonpolitical, constabulary must be 
judged as a failure. In part this was because US control over events in 
Cuba was always partial and of limited duration. The Cuban political elites 
played on American desires to withdraw from Cuba and on Washington’s 
fear of internal disorders first to influence the development of the Rural 
Guard and then to make it subordinate to a clearly political (and probably 
unnecessary) army. From its inception the bulk of the officers, including 
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the higher ranks, were Cuban. While this facilitated the US withdrawal it 
also insured that Cuban politics were imbedded in the Guard from its in-
ception. Most senior officers were revolutionary army veterans with little 
US training and strong personal ties to political factions.

The Platt Amendment, designed to enshrine American influence in 
Cuba, proved to have an opposite effect. Cuban factions constantly ma-
neuvered to create conditions that might compel US intervention while 
the United States increasingly sought to avoid such a contingency. This 
made Washington willing to tolerate violent political repression. When the 
Amendment was finally abrogated in May 1934 it gave American policy-
makers new options. Unfortunately, the abrogation came much too late to 
have any impact on the destruction of the Rural Guard.
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Chapter 4

Panama: More Issues Than Running a Canal

U.S. dealings with Panama have always been distinct from those in-
volving other Western Hemisphere nations. Key to this has been that na-
tion’s location as a trans-isthmian route for people and commerce. From 
the California gold rush of 1849 to the present day, the United States has 
been determined to have unfettered access to that route and concerned 
about other nations’ real or imagined designs on it. In the first decade of 
the 20th century, when Panama broke away from Colombia and the United 
States determined to build a canal through the new nation, Washington’s 
concerns with and involvement in internal affairs escalated dramatically.
	 Panama was the last Latin American nation to achieve independence 
and, like Cuba, did so in good part because of US intervention. It, however, 
differed from Cuba, and from the Philippines, in that there had been no 
armed struggle for independence and there was no revolutionary army to 
pose an obstacle either to US interests or to the domestic political elite. In 
addition, shortly after independence, the United States took control of the 
Canal Zone, a strip of territory that divided Panama, and stationed a perma-
nent garrison there. In the process it assumed basic responsibility not only 
for the security of the Canal, but for that of Panama as well. No nation in 
Latin America was subject to greater US influence and, with the possible 
exception of Mexico, in no nation was American strategic and commercial 
interests so important.
	 While Panama did not have its own army in 1903, it inherited one. The 
commander of Colombian forces on the Isthmus, General Esteban Huertas, 
was persuaded, by a combination of American threats and Panamanian 
bribes, to change sides and his garrison briefly became the Army of 
Panama.1 From its inception this force was controversial. Panama had no 
real frontiers that it needed to defend. It was separated from Colombia 
on the south by a large expanse of virtually impenetrable jungle. On the 
north it bordered Costa Rica, which had only a tiny army, and, along with 
Uruguay, was the most democratic and pacific nation in Latin America. 
The Hay-Bunau-Varilla Treaty, which created the Canal Zone, also gave 
the United States the obligation to defend Panamanian independence.2 
The following year Panama adopted its first Constitution which included 
a clause, similar to one in Cuba’s Constitution, giving the United States 
the right to intervene in order to maintain order.3 Panamanian newspapers 
soon began criticizing the Army and the US Minister to Panama, William 
Buchanan, suggested that it should be transformed into a Guardia Rural 

31



like the one being created in Cuba. He added, “the men should be armed 
only with revolvers and spread around the Republic so that no faction 
might use them collectively to intimidate the government.”4 
	 Relations between Panama’s new government and General Huertas de-
teriorated steadily. He began to take sides in politics and the Panamanian 
National Assembly, the nation’s unicameral Congress, responded by pass-
ing a law reducing the army from 500 to 250 officers and men. Tensions 
escalated and coup rumors began to circulate. The American Minister was 
absent, but the Chargé, Joseph Lee, bluntly informed Huertas’ political 
supporters that the United States would not tolerate revolutionary activi-
ties. At the same time he cabled the State Department that the Army would 
be a source of unrest and political upheaval as long as it existed. He also 
pointed out that the Army was a weak force with some of its soldiers as 
young as eleven.5 
	 Huertas, however, was not discouraged. He continued to try to force 
the president to alter his cabinet, focusing his opposition on the appoint-
ment of Santiago de la Guardia as Minister of War and Foreign Affairs. The 
president, Manuel Amador, vacillated, but ultimately pressures from both 
the United States and De la Guardia convinced him that the Army should 
be abolished. This advice was strengthened by the presence of American 
naval vessels in Panamanian waters. Their commander, Rear Admiral C.F. 
Goodrich, further stiffened the president’s resolve by placing a company 
of Marines in proximity to Panama City. Huertas was forced to resign and, 
after some tense moments and with a repeated threat of US intervention, 
the army disbanded.6 Some troops were absorbed into the National Police 
that had been created the previous year and, to the relief of both the United 
States and Panama’s government, the danger of military interference in 
politics was, at least for the moment, eliminated.7

	 From 1904 through 1914, while the Canal was being constructed, 
Washington demonstrated little interest in security conditions in the inte-
rior of Panama. What attention existed was focused on the cities of Colón 
and Panama City at either end of the Canal Zone. Here, predictably, there 
were numerous clashes between Panamanian police and Americans, large-
ly military, especially around the bars and houses of prostitution in Coco 
Grove. On several occasions Americans were badly beaten.8 American 
ability to respond to these and other incidents was hampered by the un-
clear division of authority between American diplomatic personnel and the 
authorities in the Canal Zone, most of who came from the Army Corps of 
Engineers. In an effort to deal with this, the positions of American Minister 
to Panama and Canal Zone Governor were briefly combined. Panama’s 
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Foreign Minister, De la Guardia, had agreed to this and, in 1905, Charles 
Magoon, formerly legal counsel to the Canal Commission (ICC), took the 
combined position.9 He held it until he was sent to Cuba as Military Gov-
ernor in September 1906. The posts were soon separated again and with 
the appointment of then Major George Goethals to the position of head of 
the ICC and Chief Engineer the officials in the Zone began to take over 
much of the policy formulation process from the State Department and the 
diplomatic mission. This would be especially true when security issues 
were involved.
	 Meanwhile, clashes between the Panamanian police and Americans 
and canal construction workers continued with a major riot breaking out in 
1906. An attempt to have a New York police official take over training the 
force lasted only a few weeks. Magoon’s successor as Minister, Herbert 
Squiers, wanted to take away high-powered rifles from the police and to 
totally reorganize the courts, the police, and the prison system.10 This did 
not happen. Instead the United States relied on the presence of the Marines 
and the threat of intervention to keep matters from getting completely out 
of hand. At the same time, the Americans built up their own police force in 
the Zone, consisting of a unit of 117 white Americans and another of 116 
West Indians. The former was responsible for maintaining order among 
the Zone’s Caucasian residents and for dealing with Panamanians arrested 
inside the zone, the latter dealt with the non-white labor force.11 Few of 
either group spoke Spanish and neither did most judges who tried Panama-
nians arrested inside the Zone.12 Not surprisingly, this further exacerbated 
tensions between Panamanians and Zone authorities. 
	 The August 1914 opening of the Canal coincided with the outbreak of 
the World War I in Europe. Concerns over Canal security increased rapidly 
and began to encompass developments throughout Panama. In 1911, the 
first Army infantry unit had arrived in the Zone and the Army steadily re-
placed the Navy as the service primarily responsible for security. By 1912, 
the Navy was even arguing that the zone be governed by an Army officer 
“who combines in his own person the functions of military command and 
civil control.”13 
	 Panamanian authorities were increasingly concerned about the clashes 
between the police and Americans and worried that this might provide an 
excuse to establish an American military government. On 29 April 1915, 
Panama’s Foreign Minister, E.T. Lefevre wrote Governor Goethals, now a 
Brigadier General, asking him “to obtain through your intermediation an 
instructor for our National Police.” He continued:
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Nearly all the governments of the Republic, more or less, 
have tried to acquire the services of American instructors 
to improve our Police Department, but unfortunately in 
the field of practice, these efforts have not always given 
the desired results . . . A contract was entered into with a 
Mr. Jimenez who was a member of the Police Department 
of New York . . . There were suspicions the he protected 
certain interests which the police were bound to prosecute. 
The scandal caused by the revelations which resulted 
therefrom was the cause of the cancellation of the respec-
tive contract. . . . Later . . . arrangements were made for 
another instructor, a Mr. Clarke. This gentleman . . . might 
have been a good military instructor, on the other hand he 
did not possess the energy nor the knowledge of police 
affairs indispensible to organize the Panamanian Police as 
was required, and this new attempt failed.

After detailing yet another failed attempt involving an Army Major Helf-
ert, who also lacked experience in police matters and resigned, Lefevre 
concluded:

Among the extensive personnel of the Zone officials there 
must be someone who knowing our customs and our 
language, and appreciating us, possesses the necessary 
knowledge in order to serve as instructor of the Panama-
nian Police. When this person has been found we will take 
care of the rest and the sincere desire which the President 
has . . . of making of our Police Department a model of its 
kind should contribute greatly to the success of the mis-
sion of the new instructor.14

	 Two months later the Acting Governor of the Canal Zone, Colonel 
Chester Harding, replied, offering the services of a Lieutenant L.A. Mc-
Intire, but with numerous conditions attached. These included his being 
given the rank of Inspector and having four assistants appointed from the 
Zone Police, each with the rank of Captain and with authority over all but 
two members of the existing police. He also demanded:

To have entire charge and control of the Police Force, un-
der the Comandante of Police, and to be responsible for 
the instruction and discipline of the members thereof, 
which authority shall include specifically: Sole authority 
to suspend summarily and member of the Police Force 
other that the Comandante of Police. . . . Sole authority to 
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employ and assign to duty of members of the Police Force. 
Sole charge of the investigation of complaints against 
members of the Police Force.15

	 While negotiations over McIntire’s possible appointment dragged on a 
major crisis erupted between the National Police and Zone authorities. In 
early 1915 there were two major clashes between Panamanians and mem-
bers of the American military, in the second of which up to 1500 American 
troops engaged in a riot in the city of Colón after an American corporal 
was killed. Goethals wanted the US Army to take over policing duties in 
Panama City and Colón, but was overruled by General Leonard Wood. 
Panama proposed recruiting Americans to patrol the red light districts, but 
Goethals rejected this idea.16 The stalemate was broken in early 1916 when 
the United States found an excuse to demand that the Panamanian Police 
be disarmed of their high-powered rifles. Panama’s government protest-
ed bitterly, but could only get an exception made for the tiny Presidential 
Guard. The State Department also demanded an indemnity for the Ameri-
can killed, but a Panamanian court cleared the police of responsibility and 
no indemnity was ever paid.17 A few months later a senior Zone official 
wrote, “The arrangement of having a provost guard in the two Panamanian 
cities and taking away of rifles from the Panamanian police, has made a 
wonderful improvement in the situation respecting order in the two cit-
ies.”18 

While discussions over the appointment of McIntire or some other 
American to supervise the police continued well into 1917, the American 
entry into World War I and consequent concerns over Canal defense soon 
overshadowed all other considerations. Taking advantage of a provision 
of the Hay-Bunau-Varilla treaty that empowered Washington to take lands 
for Canal defense, the United States expanded the area under its control 
and even tried to seize the Panamanian holiday island of Taboga. Panama 
quickly followed the US lead in declaring war on the Central Powers, but 
its major role was harassing resident Germans and exporting bananas. In 
1918, an American, Albert Lamb of the Washington, DC police, was ap-
pointed as an instructor to the Panamanian police and in 1919, follow-
ing more American pressure, he was made Inspector General with broad 
powers of control. He held that post until 1924 when Panama’s Assembly 
passed a law returning the force to national control.19

No real effort was made by either Panama or the United States to 
strengthen internal security forces during the war. Instead, the American 
military expanded its control, taking over Colón and Panama City before 
the July 1918 presidential elections. Even more controversial was the vir-
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tual occupation of Panama’s northernmost province, Chiriquí. It began 
with an uprising in protest of the results of the 1918 election. Without be-
ing asked, the United States sent troops to help put down the uprising, but 
they remained after the uprising was over. In 1920, after Bainbridge Colby 
replaced Robert Lansing as Secretary of State, the troops were finally with-
drawn.20	

Shortly after WWI ended, Panama had its closest brush with war with a 
neighbor. US Supreme Court Justice Edward White had apparently settled 
a lingering dispute over the boundary with Costa Rica through arbitration. 
The decision strongly favored Costa Rican claims and Panama refused to 
accept it. In 1921, Costa Rica sent troops to occupy the disputed territory. 
Despite its lack of an army, Panama responded by sending a larger force to 
the area and capturing the Costa Ricans. Costa Rica then sent a still larger 
force into the Panamanian province of Bocas del Toro. Panamanian nation-
alism was aroused and there was considerable talk of raising an army, but 
the United States quashed all such ideas and ultimately forced Panama to 
accept White’s decision.21

The remainder of the 1920s were relatively uneventful. The police 
handled routine internal security, and the conflict with Costa Rica helped 
convince Washington that it did not want Panama to have an army. US 
officials engaged in internal debates over Canal security, leading to con-
tinued annexation of small parcels of Panamanian territory, but relations 
remained generally peaceful. A revision of the Canal Treaties that removed 
some commercial irritants but also increased US control was signed in 
1926 but never ratified by Panama. That same year the US Navy helped 
settle a brief uprising by Panama’s indigenous Kuna people.22

Two developments in the 1930s threatened to disrupt relations. The 
first was the impact of the world depression. The other was the political 
ascent of the Arias brothers, Arnulfo and Harmodio. Arnulfo would be a 
major figure, and a constant source of instability, for the next half century.

First under Herbert Hoover, and then more decisively under Frank-
lin Roosevelt, the United States moved away from intervening in inter-
nal Panamanian affairs. While Washington continued to discourage any 
Panamanian plans for developing their own army, it resisted temptations 
to use American force to settle political disputes, even refusing to sup-
ply Panama’s police with tear gas or with any training on its use. As the 
Commander of American forces in Panama, General Lytle Brown noted, 
“Any action which might connect the United States Army with the use of 
gas against a Latin American populace could bring forth throughout Latin 
America a storm of protest.”23
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In 1936, the Franklin Roosevelt administration negotiated a major re-
vision of the Hay-Bunau-Varilla Treaty. This increased annual payments 
to Panama and promised equal treatment for US and Panamanian Canal 
employees. It ended the American right to acquire additional land for Ca-
nal defense and, terminated the right to intervene in order to restore order. 
Although the Senate waited until 1939 to ratify the new treaty, the admin-
istration acted as if it was in force and Panama began to lose its protector-
ate status.24 

The National Police were also strengthened and began to resemble a 
constabulary. Some units were mounted and used both to patrol rural areas 
and to break up labor strikes and student demonstrations in urban areas. 
The Arias brothers controlled politics and, freed from the threat of US in-
tervention, used the strengthened police to manipulate elections and harass 
political opponents. A small number of machine guns and automatic rifles 
were acquired from the US Army in the Zone and a presidential guard was 
created, apart from and better armed than the police, and used to guard not 
only the president, but other government buildings.25

Arnulfo Arias became president in 1940 and his problems with the 
United States grew rapidly. He appointed a Guatemalan crony Comman-
dant of the National Police and, in October 1941, refused a US request to 
allow arming of Panamanian flagged merchant ships. Shortly thereafter, 
with the approval if not the instigation of the United States, he was over-
thrown and replace by Ricardo Adolfo de la Guardia. Relations improved, 
the merchant ships were armed, but when De la Guardia asked for Lend 
Lease aid he was turned down on the grounds that Panama did not have 
an army.26

During World War II, unlike a quarter of a century earlier, there was 
a real danger of attacks on the Canal and the United States made a ma-
jor effort to strengthen its defenses. Over 60,000 military personnel were 
stationed on 14 bases and at over 100 other defense sites. Numerous sites 
were acquired from Panama, but were now rented, not simply seized.27 
Aside from maintaining internal order and dealing with resident Axis citi-
zens, no real role was assigned to the Panamanians.

During this period one of the few Panamanians with formal military 
training, José Antonio Remón, a graduate of the Mexican Military Acad-
emy, rose to prominence in the Police. He had clashed with both Arias 
brothers, being dismissed for several years by Harmodio and then sent to 
take a cavalry course at Fort Riley by Arnulfo.28 Shortly after the war he 
became Police Commandant and used his position to dominate politics.
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Panama had created an intelligence unit attached to the police and an 
FBI official was made technical advisor to this unit, largely to watch the 
activities of Arnulfo, who had returned from exile and was running for 
president in 1948.29 Meanwhile, Remón slowly, but steadily beefed up 
the military side of the Police and began sending Panamanians abroad for 
military training, including enrollment in several Latin American military 
academies. He did this with little help from the United States. From 1946 
through 1962, the only military assistance provided Panama was $100,000 
for Military Education and Training.30

After a period of chaos, Arnulfo Arias returned to the Presidency in 
1949. He lasted until 1951 when he tried to dissolve the Assembly and 
arrest his opponents. Instead Remón and the Police ousted him and the re-
constituted Assembly banned him from politics for life. Remón now used 
his power to manipulate new elections and, in 1952, became president. 
One of his first acts was to have a law passed which renamed the 2,500 
strong Police the National Guard, reflecting its transformation into a con-
stabulary force.31 Panama also began sending students to US Army training 
courses held in the Canal Zone at what was originally the US Army Carib-
bean School and, in 1963, became the School of the Americas. Panama’s 
costs were much lower than other nations since those assigned could stay 
at home and often were also able to work part-time at their jobs in the 
Guard. By 1984, 4,202 Panamanians had taken such courses and that was, 
despite the force’s small size, the third highest total in Latin America.32

Remón’s presidency was both controversial and short. He initiated so-
cial reforms and strengthened the new National Guard. The Canal Treaties 
were modified, increasing payments to Panama, but also giving the United 
States continued access to military bases in the Republic. He was also ac-
cused of large scale corruption and there were even allegations that he was 
involved in narcotics trafficking, which began going from Bolivia through 
Panama to the United States while he was president.33 All of this was cut 
short in 1955 when he was assassinated. His vice president was accused 
of complicity, but neither he nor anyone else was ever tried or convicted.

Remón’s death inaugurated a renewed period of turmoil. Inspired by 
Egypt’s seizure of the Suez Canal, students and others began a series of an-
ti-American demonstrations that the Guard, at first, violently suppressed. 
Both fearful of future events and desirous of not creating martyrs the US 
Embassy urged providing the Guard with nonlethal riot control equipment 
including tear gas.34 In 1959, there were also two attempts at exile inva-
sions, one of which included a group of Cubans. With American concerns 
over Fidel Castro’s rule in Cuba rising, this contributed to a major shift in 
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support for the Guard. US military assistance began to flow in 1962 and 
over the next eighteen years totaled $15 million.35

A major crisis in US–Panamanian relations broke out in January 1964 
when Panamanian students tried to have their flag flown at Balboa High 
School in the Zone. Three days of rioting followed leaving three American 
soldiers and at least twenty Panamanians dead. During most of the rioting 
the Guard stood aside, protecting the US Embassy, but not other property 
and doing nothing to discourage the rioters.36 In the aftermath, Panama 
broke relations with the United States and demanded that the Canal Trea-
ties be renegotiated.

These events inaugurated a prolonged period of negotiations that cul-
minated in the 1977 Carter-Torrijos Treaties. Domestic politics in both 
nations prolonged the process, as did American preoccupation with the 
Vietnam War and the Watergate scandals. In Panama deteriorating rela-
tions between the Guard and civilian politicians reached a boiling point 
when Arnulfo Arias was returned to the presidency in the 1968 elections. 
When Arias attempted to alter the Guard’s command structure, a group 
of dissident officers, headed by Colonel Omar Torrijos and Major Boris 
Martinez ousted him and again sent him into exile. This, his third and last 
presidential term, lasted less than eleven days.

Torrijos and Martinez soon fell out and Martinez found himself in ex-
ile in Miami. Then another group of officers tried to oust Torrijos, but, 
with key support from Major Manuel Antonio Noriega, Torrijos held on to 
power. He would dominate Panama until his 1981 death in a plane crash 
and the military would rule for another eight years after that.

Under Torrijos, a series of puppet civilian presidents held office, but 
there was never any doubt where real power resided. He ran an extremely 
hierarchical military organization. He was the only general. There was 
only one full colonel and a small group of lieutenant colonels, including 
Noriega. The Guards military capacity slowly increased, but it was not 
until 1985, four years after his death, that the London-based International 
Institute for Strategic Studies included a listing for Panama in its annual 
publication, The Military Balance. That year, Panama was credited with a 
total force of 12,000, and several aircraft, none of which were designed for 
combat.37 Every other Latin American nation, including Costa Rica, which 
had no army, had been included in earlier editions. 

Torrijos proved a master in playing different groups against each other. 
He made deals with the United States and with the Cubans, with the Drug 
Enforcement Agency and Colombian narcotics traffickers, with Israel and 
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with the Arabs. In the process he kept Panama free of the guerrilla violence 
that rocked Colombia and much of Central America. Most significantly, he 
achieved the dream of most Panamanians: he concluded a Treaty with the 
United States that provided for the end of the Canal Zone and the transfer 
of the Canal to Panama.

Civilian opponents of the military’s rule tended to blame the United 
States and claim that Torrijos and Noriega were creations of Washington, 
DC. As one not untypical account put it:

As for Panama, it had no real military, so its good neigh-
bor to the north came and supplied one. . . . Panama had 
no military caste, so the United States began to grow one 
on the formula Toys plus Training yields Esprit de Corps 
and Elitism. . . .Whoever it was in Washington who de-
cided to give the Guardia Nacional guns and bullets ought 
to have been submitted to psychiatric evaluation and, if 
found sane, shot for treason.38

     It is true that much of the Guard, including Torrijos and Noriega, re-
ceived some US training, but they also received training in Latin America. 
Under Torrijos, potential officers were encouraged to attend Latin Ameri-
can military academies and eventually nearly half the Guard’s officers had 
graduated from these institutions. It was Panamanian politicians who for 
decades had pleaded for heavier weapons and an expanded force and it 
was Washington that, more often than not, turned them down. The advent 
of Castro to power changed the equation and the United States, from 1960 
on, supported a stronger Guard, though primary responsibility for defend-
ing Panama and the Canal continued to rest with the American military. 
Panama’s security forces, exemplified in the career of Remón, had been en-
gaged in making presidents long before this. The United States acquiesced 
in military rule in Panama, but there is no indication it desired it.
	 The signing and eventual ratification of the 1979 Torrijos-Carter 
treaties meant that, by 2000, Panama would have to undertake primary 
responsibility for Canal defense, at least on the land. There was never any 
thought of giving Panama a significant air force or naval capability, but it 
did need strengthening of its land component. Indeed, having a stronger 
Guard was for some in the Congress a sine qua non of their acceptance of 
the Treaties. Along with the Treaties, the United States had pledged up to 
$50 million in Foreign Military Sales Credits to equip the Guard to defend 
the canal. Much of this was disbursed, reaching a peak of $12 million in 
1986, but subsequent conflicts with Panama’s dictator, Noriega, led to aid 
being suspended in 1987 and never fully renewed.39
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	 Torrijos was killed in a plane crash in 1981 and, after considerable ma-
neuvering and intrigue, Manuel Antonio Noriega emerged as the Guard’s 
commandant. From the start, his rule generated conflict. He lacked the 
popular charisma and political skills of Torrijos. He renamed the Guard 
the Panamanian Defense Forces (PDF) and further strengthened its mili-
tary capabilities. Noriega, like Torrijos, preferred to rule behind puppet 
presidents and in 1984 used fraud to engineer the election of international 
banker Nicholas Barletta who allegedly edged out perennial candidate Ar-
nulfo Arias.40 

The PDF’s 1985 murder of a prominent political critic, Hugo Spada-
fora, was a sharp break with Panamanian political tradition and both fright-
ened and infuriated the civilian opposition. Barletta wanted the murder 
investigated, but instead he was forcibly ousted and replaced with Vice 
President Eric Arturo Delvalle. The United States complained, but, with 
Washington preoccupied with events elsewhere in Central America, it took 
no action and military assistance and training continued uninterrupted. 
The combat capacity of the PDF was increased, notably the Battalion 2000 
which, by 1987, included airmobile and airborne companies and a mecha-
nized company. The air and naval component was also expanded with the 
acquisition of a small fleet of helicopters.41 Unfortunately, the corruption 
of the PDF’s officer corps also increased, with growing involvement in a 
variety of criminal enterprises, most notably narcotics trafficking.

In the spring of 1987, Noriega moved to shunt aside his chief rival 
within the PDF, Colonel Roberto Díaz Herrera. In June 1987, Díaz Herrera 
struck back, giving interviews to the opposition press in which he out-
lined a litany of charges against Noriega, including narcotics trafficking, 
involvement in the Spadafora killing, and rigging the 1984 elections. This 
led to a series of riots and demonstrations that were forcibly suppressed. It 
also began a final rupture between Noriega and Washington, DC.42

The next 30 months were marked by a steady deterioration in relations 
between the United States and Panama. General Fred Woerner, who had 
just taken over as the Commander in Chief of the US Southern Command, 
tried for over a year to both pressure Noriega to resign and to maintain 
ties with the PDF. Ultimately, he was unable to accomplish either objec-
tive and, in 1989, was replaced by General Maxwell Thurman. During this 
period there were several unsuccessful plots within the PDF officer corps 
to oust Noriega. The one that came closest to success occurred in early Oc-
tober 1989, shortly after Thurman took command. A group of Panamanian 
officers, led by Major Moisés Giroldi, actually took Noriega prisoner. But 
confusion and indecision, both of the part of the plotters and of American 
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authorities in both Panama and Washington, allowed loyal forces to rescue 
Noriega who promptly had the plots leaders shot.43

After three more months of escalating tensions, the United States in-
vaded Panama and quickly destroyed the PDF.44 This, however, left Panama 
with no police force and the US military was loath to undertake this task on 
a long-term basis. A civilian government had been hurriedly installed and 
First Vice President Ricardo Arias Calderón undertook the difficult talk 
of creating a new National Police, the Panamanian Public Force (PPF). 
Overall control was firmly vested in the civilian Ministry of Government 
and Justice, which Arias Calderón also headed, but the great majority of 
the manpower, both officers and enlisted, came from remnants of the old 
PDF.45 While distasteful to many, this was done because of the urgency of 
raising a police force and because of the fear of the impact of adding all the 
old PDF troops into Panama’s large number of unemployed. Most of the 
PDF’s higher leadership was forcibly retired with Noriega himself being 
shipped to the United States for trial. A few officers who had survived ear-
lier plots against Noriega became the initial force commanders, but in short 
order all were either implicated in earlier criminal actions or involved in 
efforts to exercise influence over the government and were dismissed. The 
remnants of the small air and naval units were reorganized, and a Presiden-
tial Guard was separated from the police and placed under the Ministry of 
the Presidency.46

The new government was determined to avoid any repeat of previous 
military dominance of government. A 1992 referendum on Constitutional 
reform included a prohibition on the creation of an army, articles giving 
the president extensive powers over the police and the Assembly control 
over all security budgets, including fixing the number of personnel, and 
making a civilian head of the PPF with the authority to discipline offi-
cers and enlisted men for insubordination.47 The referendum, however, was 
overwhelmingly defeated, largely because of political issues not connect-
ed to the military reforms. In 1994, an article prohibiting a regular army 
was added to the Constitution, through a deal between outgoing President 
Guillermo Endara and his successor Ernesto Pérez Balladares. The article, 
passed by two successive sessions of the National Assembly, also prohib-
ited members of the Public Force from making political declarations or 
participating in political protests and made them answerable to provincial 
and municipal as well as national authorities.48 

The United States has provided limited training and other assistance to 
the new PPF. Over time their military capabilities have slowly increased, in 
part because of intrusions across their southern border by Colombian guer-
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rillas, paramilitaries, and narcotics traffickers. But the under-armed PPF 
has generally been reluctant to confront such forces, adopting a policy that 
might be characterized as strategic avoidance. The PPF remains under firm 
civilian control. Panama still has no military academy, narcotics trafficking 
through the nation continues, and defense of the Canal depends more on 
international diplomacy and the US Navy than on the capacity of Panama’s 
security forces.

The Panamanian constabulary was never really a US creation. For 
decades, Washington expanded greater efforts trying to discourage the 
formation of such a force than it did in arming and training one. But wider 
considerations related to the Cold War, Central American conflicts, and 
most notably the 1977 Canal Treaties reversed this position. Considerable 
effort was expanded from the late 1960s through the mid-1980s in 
increasing the military capacity of what became the PDF. But, when a crisis 
developed over the political domination and rampant corruption of that 
force, American authorities discovered that their influence was much less 
than they expected. Ultimately, the US military was called on to destroy the 
PDF, creating a security vacuum that has still not been adequately filled.
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Chapter 5

Haiti: Prejudice and Poverty

	 The longest lasting, and, in many ways, most controversial of the 
American interventions was in Haiti, where the Marines essentially 
occupied the country from 1915 until 1934. Those years were marked 
by political controversy, racism, and periods of violent conflict. At the 
end, Haiti remained the Western Hemisphere’s poorest nation with little 
prospects for escaping that position.
	 The product of slave rebellion, Haiti had long been viewed by many in 
the United States with a mixture of suspicion and contempt. Alone among 
the American Republics, it had French as its official language, but the vast 
majority of its population spoke Haitian Creole, a unique blend of several 
languages largely unknown in the rest of the world. While officially Catho-
lic, the most practiced religion was vodun or voodoo, a syncretic mixture 
of African and Christian beliefs that further contributed to its isolation. 
Economics and politics were dominated by a small, French-speaking mu-
latto elite, concentrated in urban areas. It shared the island of Hispaniola 
with the Dominican Republic, but between these two nations there was a 
deep-rooted historical antipathy.
	 Haitian politics had always been violent, with few Presidents leaving 
office alive. It became easier and easier for aspirants to national power to 
recruit a force of unemployed peasants from the nation’s north, provide 
them with rudimentary arms, and descend on the capitol of Port Au Prince, 
looting as they went. Known as cacos, most would then return to the north 
where they were available for the next would-be president. Some would 
join the national army which differed little from the cacos in armament, 
training, or discipline and which often had less motivation to fight.
	 Anxious to exclude European influences from Haiti, concerned over 
the safety of American investments and citizens, and at least mildly inter-
ested in acquiring a naval base, Washington had long sought to expand its 
influence. Efforts to establish a customs receivership repeatedly foundered 
on the twin rocks of Haitian intransigence and instability. By the beginning 
of 1915, President Woodrow Wilson was beginning to consider military 
intervention, something he wished to avoid.1

	 Events overtook policy. In July 1915, another caco army descended on 
Port Au Prince. Before fleeing to the French Legation, President Guillaume 
Sam had 161 political prisoners, many from elite families, murdered. An 
enraged mob broke into the legation and literally tore Sam apart. 
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	 An American Naval force, commanded by Rear Admiral William B. 
Caperton, had already been ordered to Haitian waters and, at the request of 
the diplomatic corps, quickly landed 330 Marines and armed sailors. There 
was no organized resistance, though two sailors were killed, allegedly by 
snipers, but most likely by other Americans.2 The shooting spurred Caper-
ton to disarm as many Haitians as possible, in the process ensuring that 
the task of policing Port Au Prince and eventually the entire nation would 
become the responsibility of the Marines.
	 Reinforcements for the initial landing party arrived steadily, but the ul-
timate goals of the intervention remained unclear. On 14 August, the Chief 
of Naval Operations wrote Assistant Secretary of the Navy, Franklin D. 
Roosevelt, “The State Department has not yet informed us of their exact 
policy in Haiti, but Mr. Lansing has expressed the intention of outlining an 
exact policy in the near future.”3

	 Caperton could not wait for Washington to formulate a policy. On 3 
September, he proclaimed Martial Law in “the territory now occupied by 
forces under my control,” adding, “Military Authorities will not interfere 
in the functions of the Civil Administration and the Courts, except in so far 
as relates to person violating military orders or regulations or otherwise 
interfering with the exercise of Military Authority.”4 

A major issue quickly arose. The Haitian Congress was preparing to 
elect a new president and Washington wanted to insure it picked someone 
who would be amenable to its demands. There were two candidates, Rosal-
vo Bobo, leader of the most recent caco revolt and Senate President Philippe 
Sudré Dartiguenave. Navy Secretary Josephus Daniels cabled Caperton, 
“Allow election of President to take place whenever Haitians wish. The 
United States prefers election of Dartiguenave.” Daniels later admitted, 
“this was equivalent to America making Dartiguenave President.”5 Caper-
ton certainly saw it that way. He summoned Bobo and informed him that, 
“the United States forbids” his presidential candidacy.6 The same message 
was transmitted to the Haitian Congress where, on 11 August 1915, with a 
squad of Marines inside the Chamber, Dartiguenave was elected President 
with 94 out of 116 votes.7 He was immediately sworn into office.

Washington now had a Haitian President who appeared willing to accede 
to its demands. They were rapidly forthcoming. To insure Dartiguenave’s 
cooperation, the Secretary of State sent him a personal message assuring 
him that America would “aid and protect you while you are administering 
Haitian Government provided you stand firm with the United States, no 
matter what course others may take,” and adding that if his Cabinet should 
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resign he should “form another Government of patriots which, in Haiti’s 
interests, will accept wishes and guidance of the United States.”8

Washington’s immediate priority was obtaining a Treaty that would 
legitimize the occupation, establish firm control over finances, and provide 
for the development of a constabulary. As Secretary of State Lansing 
informed the American Chargé in Haiti: “It seems indispensible to organize 
and maintain a trained constabulary which will take the place of the Haitian 
Army and which, well-officered and properly equipped and disciplined 
will possess sufficient power to preserve order, suppress insurrections and 
protect life and property throughout the Republic.”9 Caperton didn’t wait 
for a Treaty before beginning preparations for creating the constabulary. 
He seized control of Haiti’s customs houses, then informed the American 
Legation that, “funds collected will be used for the organization and 
maintenance of an efficient constabulary.”10

	 The Treaty was signed, following considerable American pressure, on 
16 September 1915, but not finally ratified by the US Senate until Febru-
ary 1916. Its provision for the constabulary was the longest clause and 
provided:

The Haitian Government obligates itself, for the preserva-
tion of domestic peace, the security of individual rights, 
and the observance of the provisions of this treaty, to cre-
ate without delay an efficient constabulary, urban and ru-
ral, composed of native Haitians. This constabulary shall 
be organized and officered by Americans appointed by the 
President of Haiti upon nomination by the President of 
the United States. The Haitian Government shall clothe 
these officers with the proper and necessary authority and 
uphold them in the performance of their functions. These 
officers will be replaced by Haitians as they, on examina-
tion conducted under direction of a board to be selected 
by the senior American officer of this constabulary and 
in the presence of a representative of the Haitian Govern-
ment, are found to be qualified to assume such duties. The 
constabulary herein provided for shall, under the direction 
of the Haitian government, have supervision and control 
of arms and ammunition, military supplies, and traffic 
therein throughout the country. The high contracting par-
ties agree that the stipulations in this article are necessary 
to prevent factional strife and disturbances.11
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	 Without waiting for ratification, the Marines immediately began put-
ting the provisions of this article into practice. The most immediate issues 
were recruiting acceptable enlisted Haitians and procuring Marine officers. 
The latter proved somewhat simpler. The Marines made two decisions, 
both of which would serve as precedents for future constabulary develop-
ment in the Dominican Republic and Nicaragua. The first was to draw most 
of the constabulary’s junior officers from the ranks of the Marine’s non-
commissioned officers, mostly sergeants, but including some corporals. 
The second was that those commissioned in the new Gendarmerie (later 
designated as the Garde d’Haiti) would draw a salary from the Haitian 
government in addition to their regular pay. Since most Marines served 
at two or more ranks above their rank in the Corps this was a significant 
incentive and volunteers were not hard to find.12

Unfortunately, the Marines had little to go on, other than prior service 
records, when it came to selecting those detailed to the Gendarmerie. The 
potential pool was very limited and no Marine had significant experience 
in training and leading troops of a different race and culture and speaking 
a different language. The Marines also lacked experience in police duties 
as the Corps left this, along with medical services, to the Navy. Few Ma-
rine officers and almost no enlisted men were fluent in French, while none 
spoke Haitian Creole, the language of the population’s vast majority. Most 
shared the racial prejudices of American society, which exposure to the 
appalling conditions of life in Haiti only strengthened.13 These problems 
would get worse when many of the best qualified Marines were sent to 
Europe after America entered World War I. 

Along with the development of the Gendarmerie, the Marines faced 
the necessity of disarming existing Haitian forces. In the case of the Army, 
this did not prove particularly difficult. Admiral Caperton preferred that 
this be done by paying for weapons and that succeeded with most of the 
old Haitian Army. Each man who turned in a rifle was paid fifteen gourdes 
(less than $3) and officers might get additional funds.14 In some cases, ex-
isting municipal police were allowed to keep their weapons and remain on 
duty until the Gendarmerie could take their place. Dealing with the cacos, 
however, proved much more difficult. They were strongly opposed to the 
intervention, especially when Marines began to move into their traditional 
strongholds in the north. Caperton tried to negotiate payments with some 
of their leaders, but the results were disappointing. Ultimately, Marine pa-
trols were sent into the countryside to forcibly disband them. After several 
sharp encounters, which produced few Marine but numerous caco casual-
ties, resistance was broken and most of the surviving cacos disarmed.15
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The Gendarmerie was not yet sufficiently organized to take part in 
these operations. In December 1915, Major Smedley Darlington Butler 
was appointed as that force’s first commander with the Haitian rank of Ma-
jor General. Butler had distinguished himself in the operations against the 
cacos and had the additional advantage of being the son of the Chairman of 
the House Naval Appropriations Committee. He was forceful, outspoken 
and ambitious. He was also strongly prejudiced against Haitians in general 
and the political leadership in particular. For example, he wrote Brigadier 
General John A. Lejeune:

Things here in Haiti are at a standstill. This wretched Gov-
ernment absolutely refuses to sign any agreement which 
may deprive them of their graft. . . . I have told these mis-
erable ministers what I think of them and if I stay here 
they know exactly what to expect. As far as I am able this 
country will be run as a piece of machinery, with no pref-
erence being shown any negro owing to a supposed supe-
riority due to the infusement of white blood in his veins.16

A few months later he wrote, “This political situation here is becoming 
more ridiculous every day and in my opinion there is nothing to do, but 
kick the whole crowd out and have a military government.”17

	 Despite his misgivings, Butler set out to recruit a force. This proved 
more difficult than had been anticipated. The lowest class of Haitians, 
some of who were forcibly conscripted, had always undertaken police and 
military duties. They rarely received much of their pay. Instead, their of-
ficers put the funds into their own pockets. It was difficult for them to 
conceive that conditions under the Marines would be any different. A re-
quirement for minimal literacy was quickly dropped when it turned out 
that many recruits could not even speak French, much less read and write 
it. This meant that most training had to be done by the use of gestures and 
the exercise of physical force. In a few cases, Marines were able to procure 
the services of Jamaicans resident in Haiti who could speak both English 
and Creole. They received appointments as sergeants, but served largely as 
interpreters.18 Health was also a problem. Medical examinations revealed 
that 95 percent of potential recruits had blood diseases and 85 percent were 
infected with worms.19

	 As a result, training had to be much more rudimentary and prolonged 
than initially envisioned. It was not until early February 1916 that any 
significant number of troops, referred to as Gendarmes, could be deployed 
outside of Port Au Prince. On 31 January 1916, Colonel Littleton Waller, 
the commander of the US Marines in Haiti, issued General Orders No. 35, 
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detailing the duties of the force, then called the Gendarmerie d’Haiti. In 
addition to preserving order and protecting individuals and property, they 
were to control arms, prevent smuggling, take charge of roads, bridges, 
public building, telephone and telegraph services, irrigation services and 
public lands, collect vital statistics and make agricultural reports, undertake 
assorted health related activities including “preventing spread of animal 
diseases,” control prisons, issue permits for internal travel, enforce weights 
and measures standard and enforce harbor and docking regulations.20

	 This huge list underscored the difficult tasks facing the new force. Their 
control over telephone and telegraph lines proved of short duration and 
was transferred to civil authorities, but most of the other functions contin-
ued to be exercised throughout the occupation. Gendarmerie detachments 
were often the only effective government presence in many rural areas giv-
ing them wide authority along with their extensive duties. Of course, how 
much attention was actually devoted to such tasks as controlling animal 
disease and supervising weights and measures is open to question.
	 General Orders No. 35 was amplified and placed on a firmer legal 
footing on 24 August 1916 with the signing of a Protocol between the 
United States and Haiti detailing the composition, duties, and authority 
of the Gendarmerie. This provided for a force of 116 officers and 2,533 
enlisted men plus 16 clerks and a tiny coast guard of 44 officers and men. 
Pay ranged from $3,000 a year for the only general to $120 a year for pri-
vates. The total budget was $766,015 for the land forces and $35,048 for 
the coast guard. The protocol further stipulated that the force should “be 
considered the sole military and police force of the Republic of Haiti” and 
gave broad powers to its American commander.21 
	 At the end of January, in an action which many Marines believed was 
designed to discredit the new force, but which more likely was adopted 
to consolidate presidential power, President Dartiguenave decreed the 
abolition of local law enforcement authority previously exercised by 
a variety of local officials with little central government control. This 
compelled Caperton to issue a hurried proclamation ordering that, “all 
the military and police duties heretofore performed by these officers be 
performed by the Gendarmerie of Haiti, supported by the expeditionary 
forces under my command.”22 Dispersing the Gendarmerie to posts 
throughout Haiti now became a matter of some urgency. Fortunately, this 
process proceeded relatively rapidly and smoothly. Most areas remained 
quiet, but there were numerous complaints of abuses of citizens and 
arbitrary arrests. The American Financial Advisor to Haiti admitted that:
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The gendarmerie, which was in close contact with the 
peasants and villagers, had had an insufficient period of 
training and Haitian gendarmes, not yet thoroughly disci-
plined, exhibited that brutal disregard for individual rights 
which had been a habit with the police and soldiers of 
the old regime. It is probable too that some—though not 
many—of the American officers of the gendarmerie had 
the same attitude.23

	 Arming the Haitians presented a different set of problems. Originally 
they were given outdated weapons used by the old army, for which 
little reliable ammunition was available.24 Some Marines, distrustful of 
black Haitians, opposed providing more modern weapons. But necessity 
ultimately prevailed and a quantity of Krag-Jorgensen rifles, the standard 
American weapon in the Philippines, were made available. This was none 
too soon as they were about to go into combat, joining the Marines in 
eliminating the remaining organized cacos. Earlier Marine successes 
had produced over 200 Haitian deaths, causing Navy Secretary Josephus 
Daniels to cable Caperton to curb his offensive operations and to “inform 
Department before taking steps that would lead to loss of life on either side 
except in cases of urgent necessity.”25 These restrictions, however, didn’t 
necessarily apply to the constabulary. In any case, the effort to establish 
Gendarme posts in Haiti’s north, the traditional caco stronghold produced 
numerous clashes in most of which the Haitian troops prevailed. There was, 
however, one especially embarrassing incident. While the Maine Sergeant/
Gendarme Lieutenant who commanded the prison in Port Au Prince was 
briefly absent, a massive jailbreak occurred. The escaping inmates, led by 
two caco chiefs, seized most of the prison guards’ rifles and headed back 
north. Butler was convinced that at least some of the guards had connived 
in this, and was determined to help recapture the prisoners. As it turned out 
most were soon killed or captured by a mixed Marine-Gendarme patrol. 
One group of ten prisoners who had been captured allegedly tried again to 
escape and were all shot.26 Despite the obviously suspicious nature of this 
account, no effort seems to have been made to investigate the killings or to 
discipline those responsible. 

Relations between the Gendarmerie and the Haitian government were 
often difficult. This was in part due to Haitian efforts to maintain some 
degree of sovereignty, in part to Butler’s personality and prejudices, and in 
part to disputes among Haitian political factions. President Dartiguenave 
was repeatedly caught between US pressures and nationalist sentiments, 
especially those of Haiti’s Congress. His attempts to steer a middle 
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course were constantly frustrated, both by Butler, who often treated 
him with disdain, and by the Congress which was determined to assert 
its independence.27 All of these issues came to a head with Washington’s 
determination to have Haiti adopt a new constitution which would be in 
line with the provisions of the Treaty and would also permit foreign land 
ownership. The latter had been prohibited since the expulsion of the French 
and the issue aroused strong nationalist antipathies. In an effort to deal 
with this, Dartiguenave had the Gendarmerie dissolve the Haitian Senate 
in April 1916. This action, however, also made impossible the adoption of 
a new constitution. In an effort to overcome this, both houses of the Haitian 
Congress were called into a combined session as a Constituent Assembly 
in early 1917. A draft constitution, at least partly written by then Assistant 
Secretary of the Navy Franklin D. Roosevelt (who later claimed authorship 
of the entire document) was presented to the Assembly that tried to ignore 
it. Instead there was an outburst of national feeling and a rush effort to 
push through a constitution distinctly at odds with Washington’s desires. 
The assembly also refused an American request that it declare war on 
Germany.28

Both the United States and President Dartiguenave were increasingly 
concerned by the Assembly’s independence. The president even feared it 
might attempt to impeach him. He and Butler agreed to its forcible dis-
solution. This was done on 19 June 1917, using what Butler described as 
“genuine Marine Corps methods.”29 With a squad of gendarmes he forced 
his way into the room where the Assembly was in session. When its presi-
dent discovered his mission he began to bitterly attack the Americans and 
President Dartiguenave. According to Butler:

The gendarmes, who had previously been Haitian soldiers 
and who had taken part in this dissolving function about 
every six months, had always been accustomed to shoot 
at this stage of the game, and when the President was 
criticized they all commenced to load their rifles, which 
created considerable confusion, and we had to suspend 
operations until we ran around and took the cartridges out 
of their guns. I was their chief and they were interested in 
my cause because I paid them and fed them and treated 
them squarely.30

He later described what happened next in an interview with Lowell Thom-
as:

The hall was in an uproar. Tables and chairs were upset, 
deputies were surging forward. I had to calm down the 
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gendarmes who were clicking rifles again. Finally the pre-
siding officer rang the dinner bell he used for a gavel and 
reluctantly read the presidential decree. He then declared 
the assembly dissolved and directed that the chamber be 
cleared. The gendarmes followed the unwilling legislators 
into the street and locked the door.31

Haiti would have no Congress for the next twelve years. Dartiguenave 
appointed a Council of State, but it had largely advisory powers. With 
considerable assistance from and pressure by the United States, notably 
Assistant Navy Secretary Franklin D. Roosevelt, a new Constitution was 
drafted. It included clauses making the Gendarmerie the “only armed 
force of the Republic,” and allowing resident foreigners to own land. It 
also declared that, “All the acts of the United States during its military 
occupation of Haiti are ratified and validated.”32

	 With the Assembly dissolved there was no legal way for the new 
Constitution to be ratified. Dartiguenave suggested that the document be 
submitted to a plebiscite. Washington, which recognized that this was of 
dubious legality and that asking an overwhelmingly illiterate population to 
vote on a lengthy legal document had obvious elements of farce, ultimately 
agreed. The plebiscite was held on 12 June 1918. Gendarme officers 
were charged with supervising the polls and distributing the ballots and 
were told to make sure the vote was favorable. They evidently had little 
difficulty accomplishing this since the final vote total was announced as 
69,337 for and 335 against.33 It is doubtful in many voters had any idea 
what they were voting for. One allegedly even thought he was electing a 
Pope. Not all American officials were comfortable with this result. After he 
became President, Roosevelt received a letter from Josephus Daniels, who, 
as Secretary of the Navy in 1918, had been his boss, saying:

You know that the things we were forced to do in Haiti 
was a bitter pill for me . . . I never did wholly approve of 
that Constitution of Haiti you had a hand in framing . . . I 
expect in the light of experience we both regret the neces-
sity of denying even a semblance of self determination in 
our control of Haiti when we had to go in and end revolu-
tions or see some European government do so.34

	 While much of the Gendarme leadership was involved with national 
politics, and a few units were still engaging cacos in the north, most of 
the force settled down to more or less routine duties. As it became obvi-
ous that Caperton’s original assurances that the occupation would be of 
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short duration were not going to be fulfilled some Marine officers began 
bringing their wives and families to Haiti. This however, was not an op-
tion for those in rural areas that were isolated, impoverished, and generally 
inhospitable. Being assigned to such areas did have its advantages. As one 
observer noted:

The marine who becomes an officer in the gendarmerie 
finds himself clothed with practically unlimited power 
in the district where he serves. He is the judge of practi-
cally all civil and criminal cases, settling everything from 
a family fight to a murder. He is paymaster for all funds 
expanded by the national government, he is ex-officio di-
rector of the schools, inasmuch as he pays the teachers. He 
controls the mayor and city council, since they can spend 
no funds without his o.k. As collector of taxes he exercises 
a strong influence on all individuals in the community.35

	 An extreme example of this authority was that exercised by Marine 
sergeant–Gendarme Lieutenant Faustin Wirkus, who had charge of the 
Haitian island of La Gonâve. Wirkus, who had already served in Haiti for 
several years before going to La Gonâve, made a sustained effort not only 
to learn Creole, but also to understand Haitian culture and religion. In the 
process he overcame most of his imported prejudices. He managed to so 
ingratiate himself on the island that, ultimately, at least some of the in-
habitants, began addressing him as “the King.”36 American author William 
Seabrook, generally a critic of the intervention, wrote glowingly about 
Wirkus.37 Cases like this, however, were the exception rather than the rule. 
Most officers carried out their duties efficiently, but had little if any social 
contact with local populations and largely failed to understand the culture. 
This was accentuated by frequent rotations of officers from post to post and 
by the relatively low educational level of the average enlisted Marine who 
was made a Gendarme junior officer.
	 One effort to incorporate what was believed to be a traditional part 
of Haitian life turned into a major disaster. This was the adoption of the 
corvée, the old French system of compulsory local labor on the roads. 
The French had built a considerable road network, but in the more than a 
century since they had been expelled these had fallen into disrepair. The 
Marines wanted an improved system to facilitate their operations and other 
Americans saw this as a key to efforts at economic development. But funds 
were scarce and, despite their poverty, almost no Haitians wanted to work 
on the roads. It was evidently Smedley Butler who discovered that there 
was an 1864 law still on the books that could compel local inhabitants who 
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did not pay road taxes to work on them. As Gendarme Commander, most 
of the task of securing labor and building roads fell to his command and 
he undertook this with considerable enthusiasm. He had little trouble in 
selling this idea to his Marine Corps superiors. As General George Barnett, 
Commandant of the Corps from 1914 to 1920, later testified, “you can not 
have good military control, you can not have good business, you can not 
have good anything in a country without roads.” Speaking specifically of 
Haiti, he then added, “The first thing that would occur to a military man, 
and did occur to them, was that before you could keep up any posts in the 
interior you had to have roads.”38

	 At first the road construction projects seemed to go fairly well, espe-
cially the rebuilding of the road from Port Au Prince to Haiti’s second city, 
Cape Haitien. Butler was enthusiastic, personally making one of the first 
trips on the road, but cautioned:

It is not well to describe in a letter the methods we used to 
build this road, but it might be interesting to you to know 
that when this highway is finished, it will have cost the 
Haitian government only about $500 a mile. Since you 
were here we have opened nearly 400 miles of road in this 
country . . . We have over 15,000 at work in the whole 
of Haiti, a goodly sized body of intelligent voters for any 
project the United States may wish to put across. . . . Am 
taking His Excellency and his Cabinet to Cape Haitien and 
Ouanaminthe on January 5th for a big celebration and of-
ficial opening of the road during which trip he will justify 
through his own people any rough stuff we may have em-
ployed in the building of the road.39

	 The “rough stuff” got worse the further the roads got from Port Au 
Prince. Gendarme officers were personally responsible for construction in 
areas under their jurisdiction and this led to abuses. The overall Ameri-
can military commander in the area, Rear Admiral H.S. Knapp, reported 
that in violation of the law Haitians had been compelled to work outside 
their home districts, and had been ”marched to and from work bound to-
gether.”40 Local officials, who were charged with preparing lists of those 
eligible for roadwork, contributed to abuses, exercising favoritism extort-
ing bribes, and making some individuals work repeatedly.41

	 Complaints mounted and the use of the corvée ultimately contributed 
to a revival of the cacos. Recognizing the problem, on 1 October 1918, the 
Marine Commander in Haiti ordered the system discontinued. One officer, 
however, Major Clarke H. Wells, Commander of the District of the North, 
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historically the center of caco activity, ignored the order. In addition to 
continuing the corvée, with all its abuses, there were charges that Wells 
ordered his subordinates to kill prisoners and suppressed reports of these 
activities.42 He was removed from his post, but never court-martialed for 
his offenses.
	 Resistance to the occupation broke out in late 1918 and within a few 
months achieved serious proportions. Charlemagne Péralte, who had 
been imprisoned by the Marines for earlier revolutionary activities, but 
had escaped, led the resistance. He turned out to be a natural and skillful 
insurgent commander. Within a few months, aided by the widespread 
discontent caused by the corvée, he had raised a force estimated at 5,000, 
supported by up to three times that number of part-time fighters and active 
sympathizers. He even developed an effective intelligence system, using 
Haitian market women to keep him informed of Gendarme and Marine 
movements.43

	 Major responsibility for dealing with this new outbreak devolved on 
the Gendarmerie, which had mixed success at best. Many of their officers 
were new in command and of a lesser quality than their predecessors, as 
many of the best men, including their first Commander, Smedley Butler, 
had been sent to Europe to fight in World War I.44 Their dispersal in over a 
hundred small posts, combined with their lack of combat experience and 
outdated arms made it impossible for them to undertake an effective coun-
ter-insurgency campaign. That task increasingly fell to Marine unites, but 
they had seen their strength reduced due to World War I.
	 Charlemagne was finally killed by a covert Gendarme operation, 
involving two Marine non-commissioned officers holding Gendarme 
commission, plus a patrol of Haitian enlisted men. They were able, through 
an elaborate ruse, to penetrate his camp, kill him, and scatter his followers. 
For their exploits, the two Americans were awarded the Medal of Honor.45 
Charlemagne’s death did not end the fighting, which dragged on into the 
spring of 1920. At one point, a caco force actually managed to break into 
Port Au Prince, but was soon driven off. A change in policy provided 
amnesty for those who surrendered and fighting wound down. When the last 
major caco commander was killed in 1920 the conflict essentially ended, 
although clashes with isolated groups, now largely criminal, continued 
for years. During the fighting the Gendarmerie lost five American officers 
and twenty-seven enlisted men killed while caco losses were estimated at 
1,881 in 1919 and another 90 in early 1920.46

	 The problems with the corvée and the subsequent caco uprising had 
revealed serious deficiencies in the intervention’s organization. Jurisdic-
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tions between the State Department, the Naval services, other Treaty of-
ficials, and the Haitian government were often confused and overlapping. 
While the State Department, at least in theory, had overall direction, its 
Minister in Haiti, Arthur Bailly-Blanchard was weak and often absent. The 
Navy Department generally deferred to the Admiral on the scene, but when 
the United States also occupied the neighboring Dominican Republic and 
Caperton’s replacement, Rear Admiral H.S. Knapp, decided to makes his 
headquarters there, Naval direction suffered. The senior Marine officer in 
Haiti was the Brigade commander, but he had limited dealings with the 
Haitian government. The Gendarmerie Commander was always junior to 
him in rank. He was supposed to report to Haiti’s president, but in reality 
usually looked for advice and support to the Brigade Commander. The 
Customs Receivership was nominally under the direction of the Army’s 
Bureau of Insular Affairs, while the Financial Advisor reported to the State 
Department.47 After 1917 all elements of the government in Washington 
were preoccupied with the war in Europe and gave little attention to Hai-
tian affairs. When President Wilson was largely disabled by a stroke during 
his last seventeen months in office, coordination deteriorated still further. 
There seemed to be no clear direction or goals for the occupation, no con-
crete plans for Haiti’s future.
	 The Gendarmerie suffered from this as well. When Colonel Frederic 
Wise returned to Haiti from Europe and took command of the force he 
found that conditions had deteriorated within the force and in its relations 
with the Marine Brigade. While units stationed in the capitol were in rea-
sonably good shape, he found that rural units:

. . . were in bad shape. Their uniforms were in rags. Most of 
them were barefooted. Their rifles were a joke. They were 
discarded Krags, most of them with the sights knocked 
off. If they hit a house at point blank range with those 
weapons they were doing well. Their barracks were tum-
bledown. Their morale was pretty low. The Cacos seemed 
to have them bluffed.48

     Wise also found credible accusations of the killing of prisoners and 
other abuses. He immediately set about trying to remedy these conditions, 
providing a determined leadership that the force had largely lacked since 
Butler’s departure. Improvement in material conditions was steady. The 
troops were given new shoes and uniforms, armed with more modern 
Springfield rifles, and their quarters were repaired. The ration allowance 
was increased from ten to fifteen cents a day.49 Troops began to get regular 
rifle training and soon demonstrated that they were very capable marksmen. 
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In 1924, a Gendarmerie rifle team tied with France for second place in the 
Olympic Rifle competition.50

	 The Gendarmerie also began to develop its own intelligence service. 
Previously, this had been a function of the Marine Brigade. During World 
War I, it had largely focused on the activities of those of German descent 
residing in Haiti, which might in part account for the failure to anticipate 
the caco uprising or to gauge the depth of resentment over the corvée.
	 The end of the caco uprising and the improved condition of the Gen-
darmerie meant that the remaining Marines could largely be concentrated 
in Port Au Prince and Cape Haitien and rural security left in Gendarme 
hands. From 1921 until 1929 the Marine Brigade saw almost no action and 
its strength at times dipped as low as five hundred.51 American efforts to 
pacify Haiti seemed to have largely succeeded and the Gendarmerie was 
free to devote some of its attention to other matters such as a national im-
munization campaign when an outbreak of smallpox threatened.

The end of the caco revolt did not keep the occupation from becoming 
an issue in the 1920 US Presidential campaign, in part because Franklin 
D. Roosevelt was the Democrat’s Vice-Presidential nominee. The 
Republican Presidential nominee and eventual victor, Senator Warren G. 
Harding, denounced the Democrat’s policy in Haiti and declared, “I will 
not empower an Assistant Secretary of the Navy to draft a constitution 
for helpless neighbors in the West Indies and jam it down their throats by 
bayonets borne by United States Marines.”52 

In the fall of 1920, remarks such as this, combined with press accounts 
of abuses by the Marines and Gendarmerie caused the Navy Department 
to dispatch Admiral Henry T. Mayo to Haiti to head a Court of Inquiry. 
Both the Navy and the outgoing Wilson administration had an interest in 
sweeping abuses under the rug and the Court devoted most of its efforts to 
excusing the Marines. Only held three days of hearings were held in Haiti, 
during which it carefully avoided calling the Gendarmerie Commander, 
Colonel Frederic Wise, to testify.53 The Court then issued its report that 
concluded:

After a careful study of the matters in issue, based not 
only upon the evidence in the record, but also upon the 
court’s own observations while in Haiti, the Court regards 
the charges which have been published as ill considered 
and thoroughly unwarranted reflections on a portion of 
the United States Marine Corps, which has performed dif-
ficult, dangerous, and delicate duty in Haiti in a manner 
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which, instead of calling for adverse criticism, is entitled 
to the highest commendation.54

The March 1921 inauguration of the Harding administration seemed to 
open the possibility of at least a thorough review if not a termination of the 
occupation. The purpose of continued occupation was certainly unclear. 
The original treaty had provided for US controls lasting for up to ten years 
with a possible extension for another ten years. In 1917, the United States 
and the Dartiguenave administration had hurriedly signed an agreement to 
extend the Treaty provisions until May 1936, but the Haitian Senate never 
ratified it. With that body dissolved, the legality of this agreement was 
open to question.55 During the last months of the previous administration, 
civilian interest in and control over events in Haiti had been at low ebb 
and the Navy and Marines had been left to run things pretty much as they 
saw fit. Predictably, this meant an emphasis on maintaining order and 
avoiding controversy, with little attention paid to longer-range matters. An 
internal Marine Corps memorandum on the possibility of withdrawing the 
Brigade admitted that, “Haitians are, in general, opposed to the occupation 
and that a large majority of educated Haitians are opposed to the 
Gendarmerie.” The author, however, justified the continuance of martial 
law and the use of Marine provost Courts to try Haitians on the grounds 
that Haitians feared them and if they were abolished it “would destroy 
all good accomplishments of occupation.” If power were turned over to 
Haitians, “the time would truly be opportune for the Haitian politicians . 
. . to undermine the Gendarmerie.” In conclusion, the author argued that, 
“it would be decidedly detrimental to the interests of both Haiti and the 
United States to withdraw the occupation, to abolish the existing martial 
laws or modified form of military government.”56 This essentially became 
the Marine position in discussions within the US government on the future 
of the occupation.

Despite election rhetoric, the Harding administration made no effort 
to end the occupation. It did, however, recognize the need for better con-
trol over events and coordination among the various agencies working in 
the country. The new Secretary of State, Charles Evans Hughes, had been 
asked by President Harding to recommend changes in US policy toward 
Haiti. Hughes responded by telling the President, “We cannot leave Haiti 
at the present time,” and argued that the prime task should be to “perfect 
the methods of administration.” This included efforts to improve the Gen-
darmerie and the appointment of a senior Marine officer as the President’s 
personal representative to coordinate the work of all the American agen-
cies in Haiti.57
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In addition to Hughes’ recommendations, the Harding administration 
had the recommendations of a lengthy Senate investigation of conditions 
in Haiti. A Committee of Inquiry, chaired by Senator Medill McCormick, 
was established in August 1921 to investigate the occupation of both Haiti 
and the Dominican Republic. McCormick made a much more serious ef-
fort then had Mayo and the lengthy report of his Committee included nu-
merous recommendations for improving the administration of Haiti. But, 
in line with both State and Navy Department sentiment, it did not rec-
ommend terminating the occupation. Instead, it recommended that a High 
Commissioner be appointed to oversee and coordinate American policy. 
Hughes agreed and asked the Navy to recommend an active duty Marine 
officer for the post. Smedley Butler actively campaigned for the appoint-
ment, but the State Department feared he would rely on coercion instead 
of persuasion and asked the Navy to find someone else.58 Colonel John H. 
Russell, who had commanded the Brigade in Haiti, was the next choice. 
He was quickly promoted to Brigadier General and appointed by President 
Harding as High Commissioner with the additional rank of Ambassador 
Extraordinary. His instructions came from Secretary of State Hughes who 
informed him:

In the performance of your duties, you will be guided by 
instructions from the Secretary of State and will report to 
the Department of State on all matters other than those 
solely connected with the functions of the Commanding 
Officer of the United States Forces of Occupation. . . . 
All communications from the Government of the United 
States to the Government of Haiti will be conveyed to the 
Haitian Government through the High Commissioner. . . 
. It will be your duty to coordinate the work of the Treaty 
officials . . . and of the Commanding Officer of the United 
States Forces of Occupation in Haiti . . . and to bring about 
harmonious cooperation between these officials and the 
members of the Haitian Government.59

     Hughes went on to say, “the history of our intervention in Haitian Affairs 
is not viewed with satisfaction by this Government,” and to outline several 
areas the administration believed deserved priority attention. One of these 
was the Gendarmerie:

It is understood that the United States Marines, compos-
ing the Forces of Occupation cannot be withdrawn from 
Haiti until the native constabulary, or gendarmerie, is bet-
ter organized and disciplined than it is at present, without 
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a recurrence of disorder. Inasmuch as it is the desire of the 
Government of the United States to withdraw its Forces 
of Occupation as soon as it may be possible, it should be 
one of the chief purposes of your mission to assist the 
Haitian Government in improving the discipline and or-
ganization of the gendarmerie and in bringing about an 
increase in the number of men enlisted, if necessary, so 
as to make the gendarmerie, in as brief a period of time 
as possible, competent in itself to maintain order in Haiti 
without American assistance. It is believed that if such 
reorganization of the gendarmerie is taken up by the Hai-
tian Government, with your support, the presence of the 
United States Forces of Occupation will not be necessary 
after a few years’ time.60

     Despite the tone of these instructions the United States was destined to 
continue its occupation for twelve more years.
	 Russell set out to fulfill his mandate immediately. One of the steps 
he took was to begin training Haitians to fill the junior officer ranks. At 
the outset of the occupation there had been some sentiment for rapidly 
training Haitian officers, but despite the protests of the Marine Brigade 
Commander, the Secretary of the Navy decided that all initial officers 
should be Marines.61

There were some early efforts to train Haitian officers. Ten French-
speaking candidates recruited from the French-speaking mulatto elite 
were enrolled in an officer candidate class in 1915. All, however, soon 
left the program, in part because of cultural clashes, in part because some 
of their Marine instructors couldn’t speak French, and in part because 
many of the Marines were prejudiced against the idea of Haitian officers.62 
Gendarmerie Commander, Smedley Butler, for example, wrote that:

We have tried Haitian lieutenants, but have found them 
to be a failure by actual experience, and I believe that it 
will be necessary, for a time, to have all the officers of this 
force Americans. Under the leadership of our marines, the 
Constabularymen have put down disturbances in Haiti, 
showing that they will make very reliable, good police-
men if officered by Americans.63

     After Russell’s appointment, the Marines began to appoint Haitians to 
the most junior officer posts. At first, there were only five Haitian officers 
in the entire force. These numbers were slowly augmented, largely by pro-
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motions from the ranks of the Gendarmerie. In addition, a revived École 
Militaire was established and admitted twelve students. Twelve more were 
later admitted to what was to be a two-year course of instruction.64 By then 
end of 1925, the force had 53 Haitian officers, and by the end of 1928 a 
majority of the lieutenants and at least one captain were Haitians and half 
of the military sub-districts were totally manned by Haitian officers.65 

The relative tranquility of much of the 1920s also made possible 
improved and expanded training of enlisted personnel. Recruits now 
underwent eight weeks of basic training before being sent to the field. 
In typical Marine fashion, this training included strong emphasis on 
marksmanship. There was also a program established to provide basic 
elementary education for enlisted men, most of who were illiterate when 
they joined. Health services were also expanded and the constabulary 
developed its own health service, including some Haitian physicians.66 
Secretary of State Charles Evans Hughes visited Haiti and reported, “The 
Gendarmerie d’Haiti, the local police force, has been most efficiently 
handled and brought to a very high standard of excellence. It has practically 
taken over the policing of the interior of Haiti and has made possible the 
withdrawal of the Marines.”67

	 Other than the steady integration of Haitians into the junior ranks, the 
remainder of the 1920s passed with few major changes in the roles and 
missions of the constabulary. Perhaps most noteworthy was a November 
1928 change in name from Gendarmerie to the Garde d’Haiti. The original 
name evidently arose from some confusion in the French translation of 
the Treaty and was seen as increasingly inappropriate given the military 
as well as police functions undertaken by the force. Some Marines com-
plained, in part because no additional funds were appropriated to cover 
such costs as new stationery, but the new name became permanent.68

	 There was also some expansion of constabulary functions during this 
period. They took control of the Port Au Prince Fire Department. They 
built and maintained several small landing strips for airplanes throughout 
the Republic. Prisons came under their jurisdiction and while still far from 
ideal, in part because of inadequate Haitian Government funding, condi-
tions were much better than during any previous period of Haitian history. 
	 One area, which remained outside of the Garde’s control, was national 
politics. The American control of the force in this area, as in many others, 
had its strengths and weakness. The strength was that in a nation where 
force had been the traditional arbiter of power the military/police were 
removed from the political equation. The weakness was that knowing they 
had no real influence over the Garde. Haiti’s political leadership was es-
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sentially able to ignore it, often provide inadequate funding, and follow 
American dictates with little fear of a popular backlash. Haitian presidents, 
along with some of the Marines, repeatedly tried to use the constabulary 
to harass and arrest opposition figures, especially those of the press. This 
raised concerns in Washington which feared the results of turning critics 
into martyrs and became a major source of contention between the Haitian 
Government and the State Department.69 
	 Elections, or the lack thereof, also became a growing source of discon-
tent. President Dartiguenave had wanted to succeed himself in 1922, but 
the United States vetoed that idea. Not wanting popular elections, Wash-
ington, and those Haitians anxious to cooperate with its desires, managed 
to have the appointed Council of State select Louis Borno as president for 
the next six-year term. No Congress or local officials were elected. The 
United States imposed Constitution stipulated that Congressional elections 
should be held every two years unless the President stipulated that condi-
tions would not allow this. Borno so stipulated in both 1924 and 1926. 
He also had his handpicked Council of State elect him to a second term 
in 1926. When this seemed to arouse little popular protest he decreed that 
there would be no election in 1928. In agreement with Russell, Borno also 
had several Constitutional Amendments, including one extending his term 
until 1930, submitted to a plebiscite despite the absence of any Constitu-
tional grounds for such a procedure. Once again the plebiscite was a farce, 
with the Government announcing that the amendments had been approved 
by a vote of 177,436 to 3,799.70 By this time, the process was becoming a 
growing source of discontent within Haiti and of potential embarrassment 
in Washington. When the world depression hit Haiti the following year the 
stage was set for major confrontations.
	 On 5 October 1929, with the reluctant acquiescence of the State 
Department, Borno announced that there would be no elections in 1930 
and that the Council of State would once again choose a President. Dana 
Gardner Munro, who as a senior State Department official supported this 
decision, later admitted, “In the light of hindsight, the wisdom of this 
decision seems doubtful. The consequences of holding an election might 
have been less embarrassing to the United States than what did happen.”71

	 What did happen was a wave of popular protests. They began with 
strikes by students at the Central Agricultural School, but quickly spread. 
Borno wanted the protests crushed and opposition political leaders ar-
rested, but Russell, at first, refused. As government workers began to join 
the strike, both Russell and Borno began to fear that the Garde’s loyalty 
might not be reliable. While these fears ultimately proved illusory, a ner-
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vous Russell declared a state of martial law, something that had originally 
been decreed in 1915 and never officially revoked, and asked for Marine 
reinforcements.72 
	 Despite continued anti-American and anti-Borno demonstrations, the 
situation seemed under control when, on 6 December, a Marine patrol 
fired on demonstrators in the coastal town of Aux Cayes, killing at least 
twelve and wounding a least 23 others.73 Promptly dubbed the “Aux Cayes 
Massacre” this event doomed the Russell-Borno regime and set the stage 
for ending the occupation.
	 President Herbert Hoover had expressed concern over events in Haiti 
in his 3 December 1929 State of the Union message. Noting the presence 
of Marines in Haiti, Nicaragua, and China he had declared, “we do not 
wish to be represented abroad in such a manner.” Referring directly to 
Haiti, which he characterized as a “difficult problem, the solution to which 
is still obscure,” he announced his plan to “send a commission to Haiti to 
review and study the matter in an endeavor to arrive at some more definite 
policy than at present.”74

	 Following the events at Aux Cayes, the promised commission was hur-
riedly established. Headed by W. Cameron Forbes and therefore known as 
the Forbes Commission, it arrived in Haiti on 28 February 1930 and stayed 
until 16 March. While there it not only prepared a report for the Presi-
dent, it forged a political agreement between Borno and his opponents 
which led to the selection of Eugene Roy as provisional President, serving 
from May until November 1930. Legislative elections were to be held in 
October and the new Haitian Congress would then choose a President to 
take office in November.75 Elections were held on schedule, resulting in 
an overwhelming victory for the opponents of Borno and the critics of the 
U.S. occupation. The new Congress then chose one of the most prominent 
critics, Sténio Vincent, as President for a six-year term.76

	 While in Haiti, the Forbes Commission looked into most aspects of the 
occupation, including the Garde. The American commander of that force, 
Major General Frank E. Evans, told the Commissioners that, “The need 
for an efficient Haitian Garde is clear,” and that Haitian officers wanted 
“some form of legislation that would protect them from displacement by 
any political favorite.” After criticizing the Haitian political class he con-
cluded that Haiti’s future depended on “an efficient Garde and the legis-
lation needed to insure its permanency and freedom from political influ-
ence.”77

	 Some of the Commissioners were worried that the Garde, itself, might 
become an instrument of repression once the Marines departed, but their 
66



greatest concern was the slow pace of Haitianization of the force.78 By the 
time they arrived, only 2 of the Garde’s 23 captains, 17 of 58 first lieuten-
ants, and 17 of its 57 second lieutenants were Haitians. In addition, there 
were 28 Haitian cadet officers.79 The Commission strongly recommended 
the adoption of the plan for Haitianization that it had drawn up and its 
relatively speedy enactment.80

	 The Commissions Report and the replacement of Borno, first by Roy 
and then by Vincent, insured the end of Russell’s tenure as High Commis-
sioner. He left Haiti and the office was abolished. The State Department 
was determined to regain control over Haitian affairs and named Dana 
Gardner Munro as Minister to Haiti, filling a post that had been vacant 
since Russell had been made High Commissioner. The Marines and the 
Navy Department, which had dominated Haitian affairs for the previous 
dozen years, were now clearly in a subordinate position.81

	 One of the first steps taken to Haitianize the Garde was to establish a 
permanent École Militaire with regulations modeled on those of that of 
the US Naval Academy. The course, however, lasted only a year.82 Classes 
were regularly graduated every year from 1931 through 1934, providing 
sufficient officers to man the Garde.
	 The process of Haitianization was steady, but not always smooth. Vin-
cent proved more difficult to deal with than Borno and there were repeated 
efforts to exert political influence over the Garde. One such dispute in-
volved Vincent’s refusal to approve the promotion of a Haitian lieutenant 
to captain on the grounds that he had made “disparaging remarks.” The 
State Department was willing to give in on the issue, but Munro pressed 
the point, arguing that to give in would set a dangerous precedent of politi-
cal control over Garde promotions and ultimately Vincent relented.83

	 This did not end the Haitian Governments efforts at exerting political 
influence. In September 1931, Vincent’s Minister of the Interior wrote to 
the Garde Commander, ordering him to issue instructions that the Garde’s 
police must obey all his requests. This contradicted the existing principle 
that all orders had to be given through the Commander and he refused to 
comply.84

	 Despite such conflicts, the Haitianization process continued. In late 
1930, the first Haitian was promoted to major and placed in command 
of one of Haiti’s departments. Two more promotions and subsequent ap-
pointments to department commands followed in 1932. By early 1934 
a Haitian officer was in command in all the districts. This was not fast 
enough for the Vincent administration that wanted the process speeded 
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up. General R.P. Williams, the Marine Commander of the Garde, defended 
the progress, noting that, as of November 1931, 109 of the 195 officers 
were now Haitians and the remaining slots would be filled as more classes 
graduated from the École Militaire. He added that early in 1932 a Haitian 
major would be promoted to colonel and two others would be promoted to 
major. He pointed out that Haitians were being promoted faster than their 
Marine counterparts and that the process of Haitianizaton was running well 
ahead of that projected by the Forbes Commission.85

	 The impact of the Depression complicated the process. The Vincent 
administration tried to reduce the budget for the Garde, and demanded a 
major reduction in the allowances given to Marines who served with it. 
How much of this was the result of actual budgetary pressure and how 
much was a political maneuver to gain increased control is impossible to 
determine since both factors were clearly present. In any case, after consul-
tations between the State and Navy Departments, the United States agreed 
to a 15 percent reduction in the allowances given to Marines, but continued 
to press for full funding of the Garde.86 Haiti briefly considered asking for 
an American Military Mission to be sent to continue training the Garde 
after the occupation ended, but ultimately did not pursue the idea.
	 The final US withdrawal, originally planned for 1936, was moved up 
to 1934, with Assistant Secretary of State Francis White telling Munro in 
1931 that the President wanted “to withdraw from Haiti immediately if that 
were possible.”87 If anything, the victory of Democratic candidate Frank-
lin D. Roosevelt in the 1933 elections may have speeded up the process. 
There were some final minor disputes over transferring title of equipment 
and property that legally belonged to the Marines to Garde and the United 
States eventually simply donated much of this. Training programs were 
set up to prepare Haitian officers for assuming total command and other 
programs were established for those who would assume duties as quarter-
masters and medical directors. On 1 August 1934, Colonel Demosthenes 
Calixte, who had originally enlisted in the Garde as a private, took com-
mand and two weeks later the last Marine unit left Haiti.88 Although the 
United States retained some control over Haitian finances until 1947, the 
occupation was over.
	 The United States had created Haiti’s first truly professional armed 
force. In the process, it had virtually ended the banditry and disorder which 
had long plagued the countryside, had broken the power of local strongmen 
and eliminated much of the graft and corruption which had always char-
acterized local politics, and had forever ended the danger of governments 
being overthrown by caco or other irregular armies recruited by disaffected 
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political leaders. What had not been done, of course, was to change the 
basic political culture where a small, ambitious elite dominated a largely 
illiterate and impoverished population. With politics circumscribed by 
Washington and the Garde controlled by the Marines, there was no viable 
pattern of civil-military relations, no formal instruments of civilian control, 
and little trust and/or communication between the political class and the of-
ficer corps. This situation would play out with generally disastrous results 
in Haiti’s future.
	 Problems between Vincent and the Garde increased following the Ma-
rines departure. Anger over the Government’s failure to respond to a mas-
sacre of Haitian peasants in the Dominican Republic led to an abortive plot 
by a group of officers in 1937. It was discovered and Colonel Calixte was 
ousted as Garde Commander and sent into exile.89 Vincent then purged the 
officer corps of all those whose loyalty was suspect.90

	 Washington was able to block Vincent’s desire to perpetuate himself 
in office and Élie Lescot became President in 1941. He promptly declared 
himself “Commander in Chief of the Armed Forces.” After Pearl Harbor, 
Haiti quickly declared war on the Axis and, in return, received a large 
supply of equipment and some US training for the Garde which acquired 
artillery, tanks and aircraft.91 Lescot used the war as an excuse to repress 
political opposition and extend his control over the Garde. An abortive 
1945 plot against the President by some enlisted men was discovered and 
seven alleged ringleaders were summarily executed.92

	 In 1946, when Vincent tried to extend his time in office, student riots 
broke out and the Garde’s officers forced him to resign. This coup, the first 
but not the last made by the Garde, established a military junta that also 
dismissed the Congress. They promised to hold new elections and to turn 
over power to whatever civilian government was selected.93 To the surprise 
of many, this is exactly what happened. Dumarsais Estimé became Presi-
dent before the end of 1946 and the following year he renamed the Garde 
the Armee d’Haiti.94

	 The change in title did not produce a change in behavior. In 1950, 
the military again intervened, ousted Estimé and, following a questionable 
election, installed its own Commander, Colonel Paul Magloire, as presi-
dent. Six years later the military forced him out. Elections the following 
year were won by Dr. François Duvalier, popularly known as “Papa Doc.” 
He soon established the most tyrannical and prolonged rule in modern Hai-
tian history.
	 Surprisingly, one of the new President’s first acts was to ask for an 
American military mission to undertake the training of the military. He 
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specifically wanted a Marine mission. The United States had established 
missions in most Latin American nations, but they were under Army, not 
Marine, control. His requests became more urgent when a strange con-
glomeration of former Haitian officers and Dade County deputy sheriffs 
tried to invade Haiti and overthrow him. This predictably failed, but the 
following year, with the ascension of Fidel Castro to power in Cuba, US 
concerns over Haitian security grew. Another abortive invasion, this time 
including Cubans as well as Haitians, heightened anxieties in Haiti and in 
Washington.95 A mission, led by Marine Colonel Robert Debs Heinl, was 
dispatched in January 1959. It almost immediately began to find itself in 
conflict with the regime.
	 Papa Doc never trusted the military. He saw the US mission as a means 
of keeping them out of politics while at the same time strengthening their 
ability to defeat efforts to overthrow him. But, at the same time, he created 
a force of armed political thugs, known as the Tonton Macoutes, or the Vol-
unteers in National Service, as a politically reliable counterweight to the 
military. As Duvalier repression grew, his problems with Washington and 
with his own military increased and there were several aborted attempts to 
overthrow him. All of this placed the Marine mission in an impossible po-
sition, but they stayed on until March 1963 when the failure of an attempt 
to get the Dominican military to help oust Duvalier made their position 
impossible.96

	 Despite continued efforts to overthrow him Papa Doc clung to power 
until his death in 1971. The Presidency was inherited by his son, Jean-
Claude Duvalier, known as “Baby Doc.” While not as conspicuously brutal 
as his father he may have been, he was even more corrupt. In February 
1986, a combination of widespread anti-regime riots and demonstrations 
and US pressures convinced Baby Doc to go into exile. A military junta 
took over.97

	 The next few years were chaotic. In 1990 a charismatic but somewhat 
unstable ex-priest, Jean-Bertrand Aristide, was elected President. His 
policies rapidly collided with the interests of the military and he was 
overthrown and sent into exile. The United States refused to recognize the 
new regime, headed by General Raoul Cédras and pushed for the restoration 
of Aristide. This led to a US military intervention in 1994. Although there 
was no actual fighting, one result of this was the total destruction of the 
Haitian military. The force that Washington had created it had now helped 
destroy.98
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Chapter 6

Dominican Republic: An Unintended Foundation for Tyranny

	 The Dominican Republic shares the island of Hispaniola with Haiti 
and has over sixty percent of the land including the most fertile areas and 
the best beaches. As a nation it had to gain independence twice, first from 
Spain and then from an occupation by Haiti. This began the traditional, 
deep-seated animosity between the two nations. Its strategic position, 
athwart the Windward Passage, long made it an object of international 
interest especially on the part of the United States. During the Grant 
administration, an effort was made to annex the nation, then known as 
Santo Domingo. A treaty was negotiated and the American flag raised, but 
ratification failed in the Senate by a single vote.1 

	 Dominican politics were factionalized along family and regional rather 
than ideological lines and force. Votes were not the traditional arbiter. One 
result was a rising national debt, much of it owed to European creditors. 
During Theodore Roosevelt’s administration, the United States got directly 
involved. The State Department began efforts to negotiate a Treaty which 
would establish an American Customs Receivership, would give Washing-
ton the option of leasing a naval station at Samana Bay, something much 
of the Navy ardently desired, and which might even include the right of 
military intervention to restore order. The President, at first, was reluctant 
to pursue the issue, writing a friend:

I want to do nothing, but what a policeman has to do in 
Santo Domingo. As for annexing the island, I have about 
the same desire to annex it as a gorged boa constrictor 
might have to swallow a porcupine wrong-end-to. . . . If 
I possibly can, I want to do nothing to them. If it is abso-
lutely necessary to do something, then I want to do as little 
as possible.2

	 The continued problem of Dominican debts to Europe, coupled with 
the possibility that this might produce European intervention ultimately 
changed the President’s mind. In January 1905, a Treaty was signed estab-
lishing an American customs receivership, but it ran into trouble gaining 
Senate ratification. Roosevelt tried to justify the Treaty in his 5 December 
1905 State of the Union Address, declaring, “there was imminent danger 
of foreign intervention,” and adding, “at least two foreign nations were on 
the point of intervening and were only prevented from intervening by the 
unofficial assurances of this government that it would itself strive to help 
Santo Domingo.”3
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	 The 1905 Treaty was never ratified, but a Customs Receivership was 
established under a modus vivendi. A slightly revised Treaty was negoti-
ated in 1907 and this time received prompt Senate ratification, but was 
held up for several months before finally being ratified by the Dominican 
Congress.4 This ended any threat of European intervention, but failed to 
stabilize the Republic’s internal politics.
	 Political struggles revolved around the long-standing rivalry between 
the followers of General Horacio Vázquez and the partisans of ex-President 
Isidro Jiménez. By the second decade of the 20th century a third faction, 
loyal to regional strongman Desiderio Arias emerged, adding to the 
conflict. A suggestion by the American Minister that promoting baseball 
might offer “a real alternative to the excitement of revolutions,” was of 
little help and in 1914, only the threat of US intervention caused all parties 
to agree to Washington’s demand that they select a provisional President, 
hold elections, and abide by the results.5

	 Regional uprisings broke out again in 1915. The United States, which 
had just occupied neighboring Haiti, was in no mood to tolerate renewed 
conflict and William Russell, the American Minister, demanded that the 
Republic cease increasing its debt, accept an American financial advisor 
and permit the United States to create a constabulary, replacing existing 
military and police forces.6 The government and its opponents joined in re-
jecting these demands, but Washington was now just waiting for an excuse 
to impose them.
	 That excuse was not long in coming. In April 1916, Desiderio Arias 
occupied the capital and forced Congress to impeach President Isidro 
Jiménez. Jiménez began gathering his own army to attempt to oust Arias. 
Russell pressured Jiménez to ask for American intervention against Arias, 
but instead Jiménez suddenly resigned. Russell then confronted Arias with 
the demand that he surrender or be attacked by the Marines who had already 
begun landing.7 Arias refused, but fled the capital and the Marines quickly 
occupied the city without resistance. Admiral William B. Caperton, who 
was also in command of the American occupation of Haiti, seemed unsure 
as to what to do next. When he asked the Navy Department what American 
policy was, the reply directed him to “consult with the American Minister, 
examine the archives of the legation, and obtain therefrom the policy of the 
United States.”8

	 More Marines were landed and some sent north where they rapidly 
compelled the surrender of the forces loyal to Arias. But, in the capital, 
events were not going as well. The Dominican Congress met to elect a new 
president and Minister Russell tried to use the threat of force to secure a 
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candidate favored by the United States. American control, however, was 
not nearly as complete as in Haiti and the Dominicans were not nearly 
as compliant as their Haitian counterparts. Russell’s effort to arrest some 
senators only further inflamed Dominican nationalism and they elected 
a candidate who refused to give prior assurance of complying with US 
demands for greater financial controls and creating an American-led 
constabulary.9 As a result, Washington refused to recognize the new 
government and the customs receiver cut off all its funds. 
	 This stalemate continued until November. With economic conditions 
deteriorating, new elections pending, and the government still unwilling 
to concede to all of Washington’s demands, a conference between State 
and Navy officials determined to declare martial law and install a Military 
Government. They argued that, “in order to legalize our action in keep-
ing order and putting down any revolutionary activity it is considered that 
the only remedy will be the declaration of martial law.”10 Navy Captain 
Harry Knapp, who had succeeded Caperton as area Commander, drafted a 
proclamation that Wilson reluctantly approved and, on 29 November 1916, 
Knapp proclaimed a full military occupation with himself as Governor. 
Most Dominican officials would be allowed to remain in their posts, but 
would operate “under the oversight and control of United States Forces 
exercising Military Government.”11 
	 It was originally intended that the Military Government be of relatively 
short duration, but this was not to be the case. The bulk of Dominican of-
ficials refused to serve under the American authorities. On 8 December, 
Knapp declared all cabinet offices vacant and appointed Navy and Marine 
officers to fill them. Secretary of the Navy Josephus Daniels disapproved 
this action, causing Knapp to complain that reversing his position caused 
“loss of prestige and embarrassment to the Military Government.” Explain-
ing that he could not order Dominicans to fill the posts and that his action 
would only be temporary, he concluded, “The Military Government will 
be saved much embarrassment if by Sunday night I receive an approval of 
my action.” At this point Daniels gave in with the proviso that US officials 
could assume the duties but not the titles of the cabinet offices.12 The newly 
installed Military Government ruled by decree. One of the first of these, is-
sued on 2 January 1917, indefinitely suspended the Dominican Congress.13

	 Creating a constabulary was one of the principle objectives of 
establishing Military Government and Knapp, drew up a detailed plan to 
accomplish this. He suggested the force be titled the Guardia Nacional 
Dominicana and urged that recruitment and training by the Marines begin 
at once.14 The State Department concurred, emphasizing the importance of 
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creating such a force, but also recommending that existing units of rural 
guard and frontier police be incorporated into it.15 Some Marines, however, 
wanted a force that was strictly military rather than a combined military/
police constabulary. Knapp rejected this idea, arguing that the nation 
needed only a police force with limited military capabilities such as was 
being created in Haiti. Contending that it would be “many years” before 
Dominicans would “prefer ballots to revolutions,” he said that the new 
Guardia must have a strong American commander.16 Discussion over the 
exact composition and duties of the force, the selection of its American 
officers, and the transferring of funds from the Customs Receivership to 
pay for it consumed the next three months. In the interim the Marines had 
been busy extending their control throughout the nation and disarming 
local police and other armed groups.
	 It wasn’t until April 1917 that the Military Government formally is-
sued Executive Order 47, establishing the Guardia and providing $500,000 
for its support.17 Initial strength was set at 1,200 and the new force was 
supposed to perform police duties, guard the frontier with Haiti and aid 
the Marines in confronting a developing insurgency in the northeast. Its 
strength and training, however, were never adequate for all these tasks. As 
one Marine officer later noted, “it was never large enough to discharge the 
military functions incumbent on a national army and was too military to 
devote itself, except spasmodically, to its police duties.”18

	 Recruiting began quickly and securing enlisted personnel proceeded 
rapidly. The biggest problems were the scarcity of literate recruits and poor 
health of many applicants. Discipline was a problem, both because most 
recruits had never been subject to regular discipline and because growing 
internal security issues cut short the time allotted for training. Clashes with 
civilians and breeches of discipline were frequent, leading to a high rate of 
courts-martial.19

	 Procuring capable officers proved even more difficult, in part because 
organization of the Guardia corresponded with the American entry into 
World War I. The withdrawal of some of the Marines for service in Europe 
combined with increasing insurgent activities led to a rapid expansion 
of the force. While Marine officers filled the higher posts, Marine non-
commissioned officers (NCOs), few of whom spoke Spanish or had any 
experience leading forces of this size in combat, filled company grade 
posts. A few literate Dominicans were also commissioned, but they lacked 
training and experience. By October 1917, the Guard had 691 enlisted men, 
with 17 Dominican and 21 Marine officers. Most of the Marines serving as 
Guardia officers were actually NCOs.20
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	 Under the circumstances, abuses were inevitable. Friction became 
even worse in 1918 when a new Military Governor decided to add the sup-
pression of cockfighting to the duties of the Guardia. Several provincial 
governors quickly protested, with one declaring:

With respect to the total suppression of cock-fighting, it 
is the opinion of the undersigned that this is not an op-
portune time, since this is the only diversion which our 
country people have at the present time and if they were 
deprived of this, they would undoubtedly turn to other 
more obnoxious diversions where they could be far from 
the vigilance of the authorities.21

     The Military Government not only ignored such protests, but the 
next Governor, Rear Admiral Thomas Snowden, added suppression of 
prostitution to Guardia responsibilities.
 	 All of this made Guardia tasks even more difficult and added to 
problems in its relations with the civilian population. Guardia posts in the 
interior took on judicial as well as police functions, with Marines serving as 
judges. Dominicans who were allegedly in violation of any decrees of the 
Military Government were tried before provost courts with few rights and 
a generalized presumption of guilt. They could be sentenced for anything 
from criticizing the Military Government to selling food above set prices.22 
There were no appeals from most of these sentences. A State Department 
official complained that one Marine, after a brief hearing, “which usually 
took place within ten minutes of the arrest,” would invariably pronounce 
judgment by saying, “Take the son of a bitch out and bump him off.”23

	 By 1919, the force’s reputation was low even among the officials of the 
occupation. When the State Department inquired as to when the Guardia 
would be able to handle internal security by itself Minister Russell replied 
that it was “in no way fitted to insure law and order if our force should 
retire,” and added that if the Marine Brigade was withdrawn “chaos will 
prevail.”24 In a 1919 conference between State Department and Navy De-
partment officials, including acting Navy Secretary Franklin D. Roosevelt, 
there was a general consensus that the Guardia needed a major reorganiza-
tion, with the State Department representatives stressing that, “there could 
be no efficiency in the Guardia Nacional unless it is officered by white 
officers and not native Dominicans.”25 Similar racial serotypes were found 
among the Guardia’s Marine officers. Lieutenant Colonel Harry David, 
Commander of the Southern District, wrote President Harding’s Executive 
Secretary described Dominicans as “negroes whose minds are apt to have 
a queer sort of turn, even in the most solemn events.”26
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	 Even the Guardia’s own Commanders admitted the force’s shortcom-
ings. In an account written after he left the country, Colonel J.C. Breckin-
ridge, who commanded the force from 1920 to 1921 noted that of the 1,300 
personnel of the Guardia “some 300 were in jail or should be,” and con-
cluded, “An armed constabulary that is not reliable, strong and energetic is 
a menace instead of a security.”27 Admiral Thomas Snowden, the Military 
Governor, went even further, claiming that, “there can be no doubt that the 
loyalty of the Dominicans in the Guardia to the government is directly due 
to the presence of American troops and if left to themselves through the 
withdrawal of the Marines they would revert to the former insurrectionary 
habits.”28

	 Those Dominicans who had been made officers were at times a large 
part of the problem. A graphic example of this is the case of 2nd Lieuten-
ant Rafael Leonidas Trujillo. He had been commissioned on 11 January 
1919 and after minimal training was put in charge of rural patrols in one of 
the most conflicted areas. His actions on one patrol resulted in his court-
martial on charges of multiple rape and extortion. The evidence seemed 
overwhelming, and the only defense offered was his own denials and the 
remarkable claim by his Marine Defense Attorney that since the victim 
claimed she had been raped three times, “three times implies consent.”29 
He was, nevertheless, acquitted of all charges, returned to duty, and soon 
thereafter promoted.30 By the time the Marines turned over command, he 
was one of the forces’ senior officers and later used this to propel himself 
into power, where he left a record as the bloodiest dictator in Caribbean 
history.31

	 This episode exemplified both the problem of finding qualified 
Dominican officers and the low standards that were expected of them. 
Trujillo was probably acquitted because the Marines did not want the 
negative publicity that his conviction would have produced and were already 
short of Guardia officers. In addition, there was virtually no precedent in 
Dominican history for officers being convicted for anything they did to 
civilians. What is even more notable is that this incident seemed to have no 
impact on his future career. He was simply sent to a four-month course at 
the newly established military academy and then steadily promoted. 
	 Several factors contributed to a November 1920 decision to reorga-
nize and reduce the Guardia. One was the rising tide of criticism by both 
American officials and Dominican citizens. Second was a decline in the 
level of internal violence, especially the insurgent activities in the east. 
Finally, there was a looming budget crisis. The Dominican Republic de-
pended heavily on sugar exports for income and the price of these had 
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boomed during World War I. The Military Government took advantage of 
this spending heavily on roads, health, and education. The Guardia had 
shared in this largesse, and by 1919 was consuming 26.3 percent of the 
government’s income.32 There had been no effort to set aside money from 
sugar prices and once the war was over the sugar market collapsed, fall-
ing to levels much lower then before the war.33 The financial situation also 
revealed some incompatibility between the goals of the occupation. Two 
principle objectives had been to stabilize finances and insure payments 
to foreign bondholders through establishing a customs receivership and 
organizing a professional constabulary. In keeping with the principles of 
the Roosevelt Corollary to the Monroe Doctrine, however, the Customs 
Receiver always gave first priority to paying off the bondholders, insuring 
that foreign government had no financial excuse for possible intervention. 
In times of acute financial crisis, this left little money available for the 
government, including the constabulary. Since the Americans would not 
or could not resort to such traditional remedies as not paying the enlisted 
men, and resisted ending the double salaries paid to Marines serving with 
the Guardia, they had to find other ways of reducing expenses. As a result, 
the Guardia was steadily reduced until, on 6 December 1921, it numbered 
only 77 officers and 493 enlisted men.34 At the same time the name of the 
force was changed from Guardia Nacional Dominicana to Policía Nacio-
nal Dominicana (Dominican National Police).35

	 The reduction in force probably eliminated many of the force’s worst 
offenders, though officers like Trujillo were retained. But it also substantially 
reduced the capacity of the force to maintain even minimal levels of internal 
security. One result was a proliferation of other armed bodies, some loosely 
attached to the Guardia, others generally independent. Municipal police 
forces, under local authorities, took over most urban policing. The large 
sugar producers and other wealthy rural landowners were allowed to raise 
their own private guards. Most significantly new units, designated as civil 
guards, were recruited locally, put under the command of a marine officer, 
and sent of to fight the insurgents. They proved more effective than either 
Marine or Guardia/Policía units, in part because of their local roots.36

	 While factors such as budget constraints undoubtedly played a role in 
the decisions to reorganize, reduce, and rename what became the Policía 
Nacional, there was another factor at work, the increasing disputes between 
the State Department and the Navy, notably Admiral Thomas Snowden, 
the Military Governor. He had repeatedly expressed his low opinion of 
Dominicans in general and their political leaders in particular. In a speech 
at the opening of an American-sponsored agricultural experimental station, 
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he declared that the Military Government would last “until the generation 
of Dominicans then in the cradle had reached adult age.”37 He expressed 
similar sentiments in a message to the Secretary of the Navy, declaring 
that, “Dominicans have always been subjected to some form of Military 
Government and until they have been taught differently that is the only 
kind of government that can be successful.” He concluded: “In my opin-
ion, the Military Government of the United States in Santo Domingo is 
now and will be for at least ten years longer a necessity for the peace and 
prosperity of the island.”38 In another communication he refused to con-
sider suspending the provost courts and argued that if Washington made it 
clear that the Military Government would last another ten or twenty years 
“business would receive a great impetus and encouragement.”39 At the end 
of 1919, under pressure from the State Department, he had appointed a 
Dominican advisory council, but he ignored all their recommendations, 
including an end to press censorship, and they all resigned at the start of 
1920.40

	 Bainbridge Colby, who had replaced Robert Lansing as Secretary of 
State, was increasingly concerned that the occupation of the Dominican 
Republic, especially with growing criticism of press censorship and the 
actions of the provost courts, was harming US relations with the rest of 
Latin America and he began searching for a way to end the occupation. 
Russell, who had continued to be the American Minister to the Dominican 
Republic, but with no national government in existence had spent most of 
the last few years in Washington, was sent back and was instructed to begin 
plans for withdrawal. By November 1920, Colby had obtained President 
Wilson’s approval for formulating a plan for gradual withdrawal.41 In all 
his efforts, however, he encountered the determined opposition of Admiral 
Snowden. For Snowden, a weak and discredited Guardia/Policía served 
his purposes admirably, lending credence to his claims that Dominicans 
were incapable of maintaining order without the presence of a substantial 
force of Marines.
	 In one of the stranger anomalies of the Military Government, Admiral 
Snowden had dispatched a trusted aide, Lieutenant Commander Arthur H. 
Mayo, to Washington to act as the his representative. In many ways, this 
made him the equivalent of the Dominican Republic’s Ambassador to the 
United States, a unique experience for an active duty Navy officer. He ag-
gressively defended Snowden and denounced Dominican politicians and 
State Department officials. In early 1921, he wrote Snowden:

The Navy department is now, I think, lined up flatly behind 
you. . . . This is true of Operations and at present—today—
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seems so of Mr. Daniels—but he is not dependable. . . . 
Then followed many interviews in Latin American Affairs 
. . . Mr. Daniels had arranged an interview for me with 
Mr. Davis (Norman Davis, Acting Secretary of State). 
. . . When we reached Mr. Davis office and all through 
the interview Mr. Daniels interrupted me—replied in the 
negative on all points. . . . He brought up the two orders 
issued December 6 and both he and Mr. Davis stated they 
were afraid you had destroyed your further usefulness by 
the issuance of them. Then I got mad—good and plenty—
and let them have it. Told them that in the first place 
the orders would not have been condemned had the real 
character of the people been appreciated. . . . That you had 
not been taken into the confidence of the State Department 
or informed in advance of their plans and that therefore 
you could not be expected to know what they wanted. . . . 
In the meantime I had been working on Captain Freeman 
to endeavor to get better cooperation between the State 
and Navy Departments—exchange of information and the 
sending of orders to you through one source only—the 
Navy Department. . . . Captain Freeman and I cannot talk 
State Department with cussing. They are the limit and their 
stand can only be understood if you take it for granted that 
they are all conceited asses trying to throw a bluff to cover 
the grossest, but perhaps unknowing ignorance.42

     That a mid-ranking Navy officer would write and talk in such a manner 
about his civilian superiors, including two of cabinet rank, is perhaps the 
strongest evidence of just how badly relations had deteriorated not only 
between the State and Navy Departments, but the Military Government 
and all of Washington. Such a situation could not be permitted to endure. 
Change, though, had to wait until the inauguration of President Warren G. 
Harding in March 1921.
	 The new administration continued and expanded the policy of seeking a 
way to end the occupation. The new Secretary of State, the capable Charles 
Evans Hughes, and the new Navy Secretary, Edwin Denby, were able to 
eliminate much of the friction between the two Departments that had 
paralyzed action during the previous year. One of the first steps they took 
was to replace Admiral Snowden as Military Governor with Rear Admiral 
Samuel B. Robinson.43 With Snowden went his Washington representative, 
Lieutenant Commander Mayo and the atmosphere quickly improved. 
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Within the State Department, Sumner Welles was first charged to draw 
up a plan for withdrawal and was then made Special Commissioner and 
personal Presidential Representative to the Dominican Republic with the 
rank of Minister and the power to negotiate an agreement on withdrawal. 
As the personal representative of the President, he took precedence over all 
other American officials in the Republic.44

	 In June 1921, at the instructions of the State Department, the Military 
Government issued a Proclamation declaring that elections would be held 
for a new Dominican government and expressing the “hope that the with-
drawal may be completed . . . within a period of eight months.”45 Issued on 
14 June, this declaration received what the American Minister described as 
“a hot blast of protest from the press, advising the people not to accept it 
as this would imply sanction of past wrongs.”46 Most Dominican political 
leaders echoed the reaction of the press and the scheduled elections had to 
be postponed. It would be thirty-nine, not eight months, before the Marines 
finally left.
	 With Snowden and Mayo finally out of the way and the State Depart-
ment again in firm control over Dominican policy two major obstacles 
remained before the Marines could be withdrawn. The first was reaching 
some sort of agreement with the increasingly anti-American political lead-
ers of the Republic. The second was getting the long neglected Policía 
Nacional in a position to provide basic security. Work on this task began 
almost immediately.
	 In order to better prepare Dominicans to take command of the Policía, 
the Marines established the Haina Military Academy and its first class was 
admitted in August. Many of the initial students were already serving as 
officers, but the four-month Academy class gave them at least a brief expo-
sure to the duties of a professional officer. In the next three years it turned 
out a steady stream of graduates, providing the necessary material to fill 
all the Policía’s officer slots. While new officers were being trained part 
of the task of dealing with the still smoldering insurgency was turned over 
to small patrols of the civic guards. Their activity, combined with an am-
nesty program, finally began to restore peace to this region in the spring of 
1922.47 This made the task that the Policía would face considerably easier. 
They could now concentrate on routine rural patrolling, guarding the fron-
tier with Haiti, and enforcing the law outside of the larger towns. This also 
provided an opportunity for them to begin repairing their badly damaged 
image.
	 While relations with Robison were not nearly as conflictive as they had 
been with Snowden, there were still major points of disagreement. Welles 
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found himself constantly trying to balance the position of the Military Gov-
ernment with the demands of the Dominicans. He brought considerable 
diplomatic skills and a great deal of personal patience and determination 
to this task. In the final analysis, though, when disputes seemed irreconcil-
able, he more often than not sided with the demands of the Dominicans.48 
Admiral Robison was not concerned with extending the occupation, as his 
predecessor had been, and evidenced no interest in continuing the crusades 
against cockfighting and prostitution. His concerns were largely those of 
a military professional, notably insuring the safety of his own forces and 
maintaining security in his area of responsibility. Political problems rarely 
entered into his calculations.49 
	 One additional complicating factor emerged with the 1921 visit to the 
Republic of the Senate Committee charged with investigating the occupa-
tions of the Dominican Republic and Haiti. Senator Medill McCormick, 
the Committee Chair, was frustrated in his efforts to help negotiate an ac-
cord on a plan of evacuation and informed the State Department that the 
occupation might need to continue for up to three more years and that a 
primary task during that period must be the training of Dominican officers 
for the Policía Nacional.50

	 Negotiations between Welles and Dominican leaders was complicated 
by their extreme distrust of the Military Government, by the Dominicans’ 
own bitter factional divisions, and by Washington’s insistence that any 
evacuation agreement include Dominican acceptance of the actions and 
decrees of the Military Government. Leadership and training of the Policía 
was also a continuing issue and led to frequent disputes not only between 
Welles and the Dominicans but between the State and Navy Departments. On 
25 January 1922, Welles informed Hughes that the situation was “growing 
constantly more unsatisfactory,” and suggested that Robison inform the 
Dominican leaders that if an agreement wasn’t reached on installing 
a provisional government the Military Government would continue 
“until such time as the urgent public works have been completed and an 
adequate Dominican constabulary is functioning.” He also recommended 
that Washington stop insisting on the retention of an American military 
mission that would remain in charge of training the constabulary after the 
occupation ended. At the end of this message, Admiral Robison added that 
he concurred.51

	 Negotiations remained largely stalemated through the spring of 1922. 
On 16 March, Robison, acting on instructions from Hughes, issued a proc-
lamation that the Military Government would continue until at least July 
1924.52 This may have convinced some Dominican leaders that they had 
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to adopt a more flexible approach in negotiations. Welles resigned from 
the State Department, but was quickly sent back to the Dominican Repub-
lic as American Commissioner with full powers. Negotiations proceeded 
steadily over the installation of a provisional government that would then 
conduct national elections, but this raised new concerns on the part of Ad-
miral Robison. In a letter to Welles, he advanced a plan to maintain the 
US military presence under the provisional government to insure order 
and continue training the Policía. US forces would only intervene on the 
request of the provisional government or if “the situation fell apart com-
pletely.” He saw the alternatives as either adopting his plan or pulling out 
completely. He also inquired as to whether the United States saw the Do-
minicans as friends or enemies, arguing that if they were enemies we must 
guard against any surprise actions on their part.53

	 As negotiations with the Dominicans progressed, friction between 
Welles and Robison, notably over security issues, increased. The 
Dominicans insisted that when a provisional government was installed all 
Marine officers should be withdrawn from the Policía. Robison reluctantly 
agreed, but insisted that training be left in Marine hands and that the Military 
Government alone approve all candidates for officer’s commissions.54 The 
Dominicans ultimately agreed to Marine control over officer training, 
something Robison attributed to their discovering that, “they did not have 
enough officers of their own,” adding, “The Dominicans are suspicious of 
us and do not want us.”55

	 Robison protested Welles’ plan to withdraw the Marines from most of 
the Republic, concentrating their forces in the three principal cities and 
confining them all to their barracks on election day, but his protests were 
all overruled. So, too, were his efforts to continue press censorship and to 
block the release of political prisoners, to obtain a one-year extension of 
American instruction of the Policía, and to have the Military Government 
continue to exercise some control over the government’s budget. Finally, 
the Navy Department had to tell him not to make any further suggestions.56 
He was recalled to Washington two days before the provisional govern-
ment took office and was replaced by the senior Marine officer in the Re-
public, Brigadier General Harry Lee. 
	 One area where Robison and Welles were in agreement was on the 
need for continued Marine training, and here they were largely able 
to overcome Dominican objections. The agreement establishing the 
provisional government left training of both officers and enlisted recruits 
in the hands of the Military Government. As for the force itself, the 
provisional government would appoint its higher officers, but there was 
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the expectation, or at least the hope, that these would be steadily replaced 
by Marine-trained officers.57 Two last minute decrees from the Military 
government further defined the status of the Policía. The first declared that 
the Policía Nacional Dominicana would be the nation’s only armed force 
and gave control over assignments and promotions to the civilian Secretary 
of State for the Interior and Police. The second, issued just twelve days 
before the provisional government’s inauguration, reversed this giving that 
power to the colonel-commander of the Policía. Probably designed as a 
hedge against political manipulation of the force this actually set the stage 
for the rise to national power of its commander.58

	 The first Dominican commander of the Policía was General 
Buenaventura Cabral, a provincial governor with no ties to the major 
political parties. He and the other nominees for senior posts were given 
a few weeks of Marine indoctrination before assuming their duties when 
the new government was inaugurated on 21 October 1922.59 General Lee 
retained the title of Military Governor, but his limited powers were largely 
confined to security issues.
	 It would be July 1924 before a constitutional Dominican government 
was elected and installed and two months after that before the last of the 
Marines departed. This period went relatively smoothly. There were none 
of the major conflicts within the American policy community that had char-
acterized earlier periods. General Lee emphasized the need to minimize 
friction between the Marines and the national population and effectively 
disciplined those who disobeyed his instructions.60 The provost courts had 
been eliminated when the Marines were concentrated in the major cities 
and this removed a major source of Dominican complaints. Welles report-
ed in April 1923:

I feel that the relations between the provisional 
government and the military government are exceedingly 
satisfactory. The President advises me that the attitude 
of the military government under General Lee has been 
consistently helpful and has been little or no disagreement. 
. . . The increase of efficiency of the national police has 
exceeded the most optimistic expectations of the military 
government and the relations between the American 
officers in command of the training centers and the 
Dominican officers in command of the field forces are 
entirely harmonious.61

	 There, were of course, some problems. General Lee, supported by 
Welles, was concerned that the Navy, evidently assuming that its mission 
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was essentially completed, had begun withdrawing officers assigned to 
training the Policía and was not replacing them. Welles argued that the 
training was an obligation undertaken by the United States and that, “no 
greater service could be given the Dominican people.” He urged the State 
Department to take the matter up with the Navy.62 Evidently this had the 
desired effect as there seem to have been no further complaints. 
	 Following the election there was an effort to retain some Marines 
to continue training the force. At first, this seemed to be going well, but 
ultimately the President-elect, Horacio Vásquez, introduced so many 
conditions and restrictions that the Marines decided they could not 
undertake the task and the officers assigned to training withdrew with the 
rest of the Marines in September 1924.63

	 The fate of the Policía after the Marines withdrew would be a disap-
pointment to its American creators and a disaster for hopes for Dominican 
democracy. Central to this was the career of Rafael L. Trujillo. When the 
Marines left, he was the third-ranking Dominican officer of the Policía and 
before the year was out he was his chief of staff. By June 1925, he had been 
promoted to colonel and was the force’s commandant. Two years later, he 
was made a Brigadier General and the Policía Nacional were renamed 
the National Army.64 By adroit maneuvering he managed to first force the 
ouster of the president, then had himself “elected” president in 1930. Once 
in office, he rapidly expanded the army, ending its police functions by cre-
ating a new national police. This force, in turn, replaced all existing local 
police forces, centralizing power in his hands. A huge intelligence service 
was created, opposition was ruthlessly repressed, and, in 1937, an esti-
mated 15,000 Haitian peasants, residing in the Republic, were massacred. 
Army equipment was updated and compulsory military service instituted.65

	 Trujillo hung onto power by a combination of ruthless terror, 
extravagant spending on the military which was allowed to engage in a 
wide variety of corrupt practices, and by doing whatever was necessary 
to stay in Washington’s good graces.66 This worked until the late 1950s. 
By then his tyranny had become so obvious and US concerns about the 
rise to power of Castro in Cuba so central that he had become both an 
embarrassment and an obstacle in Washington’s eyes. In May 1961, he 
was assassinated by a group of Dominicans with the support of the CIA.67 
His family tried to hang on to power as had the Somozas in Nicaragua, but 
a combination of political pressures and the threat of military intervention 
by the Kennedy administration forced them out and led to the inauguration 
of Juan Bosch as Dominican president. Seven months later the military 
overthrew him and took over the government.68 In April 1965, an uprising 
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by a dissident military faction supporting the return of Bosch threatened 
to turn into a civil war. Fearful that Castro might take advantage of the 
situation, the United States intervened, first on its own, then with the 
cooperation of a few Latin American nations, notably Brazil. Months of 
uncertainty, negotiations and sporadic violence followed before the leaders 
of both military factions were sent into exile, and new elections held.69 
	 The elections brought to power Joaquín Balaguer, an aging but crafty 
politician. Although there were rumors of coups, he managed, by mixture 
of dividing authority and overlooking corruption, to keep the military 
largely out of politics for the next two decades. His successors, benefitting 
from the hemisphere-wide move to civilian rule, have kept the military 
under tighter control.70

	 Divided American authority and the vague and shifting purposes of the 
occupation constantly hampered the US creation of a constabulary force 
in the Dominican Republic. The Military Government produced stability, 
but at a very high price. The force it created was the most powerful and 
unified in Dominican history and was able to bring to an end the power of 
regional caudillos and the era of political civil wars. But in the process it 
became a potential political power itself and in the hands of a ruthless indi-
vidual became the instrument of establishing one of the worst and longest 
lasting dictatorships in Latin America. The remarkably smooth transition 
to national command was a significant accomplishment, but the failure to 
leave behind any mechanism for establishing effective civil control over 
the force undid any good this may have produced. Dr. Bruce Calder, au-
thor of the best study of the Occupation, concluded, “foreign intervention, 
as practiced by the United States in the Dominican Republic from 1916 
to 1924, was a policy neither wise nor just, a policy unproductive for all 
concerned.”71
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Chapter 7

Nicaragua: Limited Success and Costly Failures

No nation in Central America has provided as many foreign policy di-
lemmas or caused as much frustration as Nicaragua. From the filibustering 
expeditions of William Walker in the 1850s until the present day efforts 
to deal with the governments of President Daniel Ortega, Washington has 
repeatedly tried to direct and reshape Nicaraguan politics with little if any 
success. At the heart of many of these efforts have been dealings with Ni-
caragua’s security forces.

Nicaragua, prior to the 1990s, never had a true national army or nonpo-
litical police. Up until 1926, most forces were simply armed instruments of 
partisan politics, with little training or discipline and a reputation for being 
largely instruments of individual political ambitions. From 1926 until the 
end of 1932, police and military were combined into a national guard un-
der foreign command, serving to support an American intervention. From 
1933 until 1936, the force experienced numerous internal conflicts, result-
ing in its domination by another ambitious individual, Anastasio Somoza 
García. He used it to seize political power that he and his sons held until 
1979. That year, the guard was totally destroyed by a Marxist insurgency, 
the Frente Sandinista de Liberación Nacional (FSLN). The insurgents be-
came the army and police, and this highly partisan force soon found itself 
in a civil conflict against US-backed counter-revolutionaries. Only when 
the FSLN lost power in the 1990 presidential elections did the military and 
police begin to assume a national, nonpolitical orientation and even then 
the transition was slow and difficult.

Direct United States military involvement began with the 1912 inter-
vention by units of Marines and armed sailors. This ended a civil conflict 
and essentially destroyed the rebel forces, but provided no guarantee of 
future stability. Determined to prevent civil conflicts, the United States left 
a company-sized force in Managua, ostensibly to guard the American lega-
tion, but actually to serve as an indicator of Washington’s refusal to tolerate 
efforts at armed revolution.1

The minority Conservative Party, which had been installed in power by 
the US intervention, used the Marine presence to rig elections and oppress 
the opposition Liberals. From 1913 until 1925, Nicaragua was also able 
to have one of smallest military forces and budgets in Latin America. By 
1924, the army had only 37 officers and 329 enlisted men. There were also 
934 national police, a force whose main occupation seemed to be harassing 
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opposition political figures.2 The 1925 military budget was only $132,571 
with another $194,704 designated for the police, less than a quarter of what 
its notably peaceful neighbor, Costa Rica, was spending.3

In 1923, the State Department brought representatives of the five 
Central American nations (Panama was not considered part of Central 
America) to Washington for a conference on Arms Limitation. The five 
nations agreed to limit the size of their armies and, under considerable US 
pressure, to “establish a National Guard to cooperate with existing Armies 
in the preservation of order.” They also promised to “give consideration 
to the employment of suitable instructors in order to take advantage, in 
this manner, of experience acquired in other countries in organizing such 
corps.”4 Washington clearly saw this as referring to Americans given their 
experience in the Philippines and in other Latin American nations.

Creation of such constabulary forces was an American project and 
most of the Central Americans ignored this provision after they left Wash-
ington. El Salvador did create a National Guard to maintain order in rural 
areas, but hired Spanish rather than American instructors to train it. This 
force in no way replaced the regular army. In fact its officers were gradu-
ates of the same military academy as regular army officers and it was under 
the military high command.5 Over time, it became known for corruption 
and extreme brutality in defending the interests of the rural oligarchy.

Only in Nicaragua was the United States able to move its project of 
creating a constabulary forward. In 1924, that nation was experiencing 
something of a political crisis. Splits within both traditional parties had led 
to the formation of an uneasy coalition between factions of both traditional 
parties. The new president, Carlos Solórzano, faced bitter opposition from 
the Conservatives powerful military caudillo, General Emiliano Chamorro. 
So as soon as he took office he asked the State Department to suspend 
its plans to withdraw the legation guard. The Department agreed with the 
proviso that the new administration move quickly to create an American-
trained constabulary. Solórzano wasn’t enthusiastic about American 
proposals, but fear of Chamorro, who strongly opposed the idea and US 
pressures, led him reluctantly to support a law creating the new force. As 
passed by Nicaragua’s Congress the final bill watered down US proposals, 
limiting the authority of foreign trainers, and giving control over the supply 
system, traditionally a major source of graft, to the Minister of Police. 
The new “Guardia Nacional” was defined as “an urban, rural and judicial 
police force,” with no mention made of its replacing the existing army.6

While far from what was hoped for, Washington decided to accept this 
plan and proceeded to select a retired US Army Major, Calvin B. Carter, 
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who had helped train the Philippine Constabulary, to command the Guard. 
To assist him an additional four American’s were selected as his assistants. 
Unlike previous Nicaraguan security forces, his force was to be recruited 
voluntarily, have regular pay, uniforms, and training, and was supposed to 
be open to all qualified citizens, not just supporters of the party in power.

Carter arrived in Nicaragua on 16 July 1925, less than three weeks 
before the last Marines departed. Of the original 200 recruits, nearly half 
failed their entrance physicals. The force lacked weapons and supplies, 
but the nervous president wanted them rushed into service, patrolling the 
streets of the capitol and serving as his personal guard.7

Just over a month after Carter arrived, Nicaragua was plunged into 
political turmoil. Supporters of General Chamorro seized his War Minister, 
General José María Moncada, and other Liberals in the government, then 
demanded that the President purge all Liberals from his cabinet. Despite 
promises of support from Major Carter, Solórzano gave in. A few days 
later, Chamorro seized control of the principal army post in Managua then 
demanded that all remaining Liberals be removed from the government 
and that he be made commanding general of the army. Again, Solórzano 
caved in.

Chamorro, who had previously opposed the constabulary, now became 
its strong supporter, urging its expansion. The US Minister to Nicaragua, 
Charles Eberhardt, explained this change of heart:

Logically enough, the ins are usually in favor of a well-
trained Constabulary. . . . It is doubtful if in these countries 
such an organization, free from politics, is ever wanted, 
but rather one made up largely of men of the same politi-
cal faith as is held by those in power. Thus General Cham-
orro and the Conservatives as a whole, who formerly op-
posed strengthening the organization, now recommend its 
increase by several hundred men and their continued train-
ing under Major Carter.8

Chamorro now moved steadily to place himself in total power. He had 
the congress purged of its Liberal members and the vice president, Liberal 
Juan Bautista Sacasa, fled into exile, fearing for his life. The rump con-
gress promptly declared that office vacant and selected Chamorro as first 
designate to succeed the president. On 16 January, that same body grant-
ed the president an indefinite leave of absence and just over two months 
later he formally resigned. The United States, committed to a policy of 
not recognizing Central American regimes that took power by non-con-
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stitutional means, brushed aside the legal façade Chamorro had erected 
and announced it would not recognize his government now or in the fu-
ture.9 Encouraged by this and by the absence of the Marines the Liberals 
promptly began preparations for an uprising.

Chamorro now frantically tried to build up the guard, abandoning any 
pretense of nonpartisanship in the process. The American Minister reported 
that that force was “fast disintegrating into a politically controlled machine 
for the present regime.”10 He later noted:

It is very apparent that the time has not yet come, if it ever 
will, when a nonpartisan constabulary or National Guard, 
organized and maintained under American ideas and ide-
als, will be a success in Nicaragua. It is not wanted. Just 
as the President may be Conservative or Liberal, so will 
he insist that the organization be made up of men of his 
following.11

While Chamorro managed to contain the initial Liberal uprisings others 
followed and his government began to lose control. The State Department, 
suspicious of Mexican support for the Liberals, but determined not to 
recognize Chamorro, found itself with a major policy dilemma. An effort 
to negotiate a settlement, held on the USS Denver, broke down on Liberal 
instance that Sacasa become President. Meanwhile, the Guard fought 
reasonably well, but was steadily decimated. Major Carter left Nicaragua 
and the regime appeared about to collapse.

Chamorro finally resigned and his temporary replacement agreed to re-
store the twenty-one ousted Liberals to the Congress. Only three, however, 
returned. The congress, with US support, then selected former President 
Adolfo Díaz, who had been in office during the 1912 intervention, as Presi-
dent and Washington recognized him three days later. This did nothing to 
deter the Liberal forces that continued to gain ground.

American forces had begun to land in Nicaragua in mid-January, and, by 
15 March 1927, there were nearly 2,000 Marines and sailors in Nicaragua, 
ostensibly to protect foreign lives and property. But the Liberals continued 
to advance and the United States seemed to have to choose between an all-
out occupation and allowing Díaz to be overthrown. Trying to find a third 
option, President Coolidge sent former Secretary of War Henry L. Stimson 
to Nicaragua, backed by the threat of US force, to negotiate an end to the 
conflict.

Initial negotiations with Liberal political leaders foundered on US in-
sistence that Díaz remain in office through the 1928 elections. Stimson 
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then went directly to General Moncada, their principal military command-
er. Faced with the threat of all-out intervention, Moncada ultimately agreed 
to a package of agreements, including restoration of local Liberal political 
officials, a disarmament of both his and the government’s forces, US su-
pervision of the 1928 elections, and the replacement of existing army and 
police by a new National Guard, officered and trained by Americans.12 All 
but one of Moncada’s Generals accepted this plan. The refusal of a rela-
tively minor commander, Augusto César Sandino, to disarm did not, at the 
time, arouse much concern.

Without waiting for a formal agreement with the Nicaraguan govern-
ment, the Marines quickly set about recruiting and organizing the new 
Guardia Nacional. The remnants of the old Guard were dissolved, but 
many immediately enlisted in the new force. Recruiting formally began on 
24 May 1927 and within a month three companies had been organized and 
a Marine Colonel had assumed the rank of Nicaraguan Brigadier General 
and the title Jefe Director de la Guardia Nacional de Nicaragua.13 The 
original plan was to give recruits several months of training, then slowly 
have them replace Marines throughout the country, but this quickly foun-
dered when Sandino began to attack the government.

Sandino’s forces were concentrated in the rural province of Nueva 
Segovia, near the Honduran border. Stimson had suggested that an Army 
cavalry regiment be sent to the region, but the Navy and Marines opposed 
this, with Brigadier General Logan Feland, the Marine commander in 
Nicaragua noting that they “didn’t want any of the Army down here.”14 
Sandino still was not taken seriously until, in late June, he seized an 
American-owned gold mine and took several hundred pounds of dynamite. 
Hurriedly, the newly organized First Company of the Guardia was 
dispatched to Ocotal. Shortly after they arrived, Sandino launched an all-
out attack on the town that lasted for nearly two days and was only beaten 
off with the support of Marine aircraft dispatched from Managua.15

Fighting Sandino would occupy the majority of the Guardia for the 
next five and half years, but it did not release them from their other mis-
sion of taking over policing duties. The Marines put in charge of this were 
ill-prepared for such a mission and encountered a host of difficulties. A 
colorful account of some of these was later recorded by the first to serve as 
Managua’s Chief of Police:

The first few days were spent getting in touch with the 
old police force. . . . Well it was run mostly by graft. . . . 
We had to study up on existing police laws and how to cut 
thru red tape to get convictions. I had four junior officers 
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assigned who could read, write and speak Spanish. . . . 
To get the office going we had to borrow, bum and swipe 
what we needed.
I immediately started schools and had the lieutenants go 
over with the men the police laws then in force. The po-
liceman was taught first to know what is wrong and then to 
know what to do about it. Their idea of the job was to lock 
up everybody they had a grudge against or who would not 
turn over to them a little graft. Well we had to weed out 
the undesirables at the start before we got a write up in 
the paper. . . . We worked on the newspaper men and got 
something on them and they left us alone.
In the beginning the police force was armed with the rifle 
and the bayonet. We immediately discarded that because 
we had several policemen cut by their own bayonets. . . . 
We then had several cases where the policeman was justi-
fied in shooting his rifle, but the bullet, after hitting the 
fugitive, would continue on and hit an innocent bystander. 
. . . We turned to and armed them with clubs and pistols.
The people were against us at first because they could not 
bribe us to look blind or the other way. I used the lady 
next to the police station (Mrs. Irene de Pasos) to present 
our case to the President (Díaz) whenever we had to lock 
up some prominent Conservative or once in a while his 
nephew or brother or his secretary. . . .
I hope it is possible . . . to have the Marine Corps get 
up a pamphlet on practical police work. . . . I believe it 
should be made part of the law course in the Marine Corps 
Schools in Quantico. It is very important when the Ma-
rines capture a place for the Navy in a foreign country that 
we have officers competent to handle one of the most im-
portant functions in getting in touch with the natives. Also 
in taking over a foreign city allowance should be made for 
differences in race, customs, laws, language and habits of 
the natives, until they get used to us.16

Slow progress in training, budget issues, and the growing preoccupa-
tion with fighting Sandino meant that the Guardia was slow in taking over 
police functions, especially in outlying provinces. In the Department of 
Chontales, for example, the local police remained in place until mid-1928. 
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When the Guard took over the number of arrests, the amount of fines, and 
weapons seized increased more than twenty-fold, something which some 
segments of the population appreciated and others did not.17

While the initial recruiting and training was going on and the com-
bat with Sandino had begun the negotiation and ratification of a formal 
agreement establishing the Guard continued to languish. Marine Generals 
John Lejeune and Logan Feland had prepared a draft treaty that the State 
Department approved. But the Díaz administration tried to make several 
basic changes, including filling the ranks through compulsory rather than 
voluntary service, and creating separate military and police forces. The 
Conservatives were especially strong in wanting to retain locally con-
trolled police, hoping to use these to influence the 1928 elections. The 
State Department rejected all these proposals. The Liberals generally sup-
ported the treaty, believing it would enhance their chances of success in 
the 1928 elections, and even wanted the United States to agree to train the 
Guardia for twelve years. All of this was rejected and the agreement was 
finally signed on 22 December 1927.18 Final ratification was repeatedly 
delayed in the Nicaraguan Congress, but the United States simply oper-
ated as if the treaty was in full force.

The treaty provide for a force of 93 officers, initially all Americans, 
and 1,136 enlisted men with an annual budget of $689,132. Provisions 
were included for expanding both with these numbers declared to be “the 
minimum requirements for the Guardia Nacional de Nicaragua.” Other 
provisions declared that the force would be “the sole military and police 
force of the Republic.” Its commander, with the title of Jefe Director, was 
given control over “recruiting, appointment, instruction, training, promo-
tions, examination, discipline, operation of troops, clothing, rations, arms 
and equipment, quarters and administration.” American officers serving 
in the Guardia were exempted from the jurisdiction of Nicaraguan courts 
and those Americans serving with the force would all be appointed by the 
US President.19

Organizing and training this new force presented a wide variety of 
problems. Recruits were supposed to be able to pass a physical exami-
nation and be literate, but STDs, parasites, and other afflictions were 
widespread and large numbers failed the physicals. Once in the Guardia 
these problems persisted, with the Medical Department reporting 487 new 
reported cases of venereal disease among enlisted men in 1932 alone, a 
figure representing nearly a quarter of the total enlisted strength. Only ma-
laria, with 804 cases, represented a more serious problem. Literate recruits 
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were extremely scarce and that requirement was largely overlooked, with 
the Guard instead setting up schools to teach enlisted men basic literacy.20 

Finding officers presented a different set of problems. As an incentive 
to Marines, those assigned to the Guardia drew both their Marine pay and 
Nicaraguan government pay. Since they normally served one or two ranks 
higher in the Guardia than in the Corps, this represented a major increase. 
But, with the Corps occupied in Haiti and China, and depression restric-
tions on funding, there were never enough available officers. As had been 
the practice elsewhere, this meant that most of the junior officer slots were 
filled by Marine NCOs. While dedicated and courageous, most of these 
had limited education and often little command of Spanish. They usually 
proved effective in combat, but were less capable in many areas of train-
ing, especially those related to inculcating national loyalties and nonparti-
san sentiments in the troops.

Medical duties were to be handled by Navy doctors and Corpsmen, 
but these were also in limited supply and Nicaraguan contract physicians 
eventually did much of the work. This may have had an unforeseen advan-
tage as this part of the Guardia had fewer problems when the time came to 
change over to Nicaraguan command.

Following the battle at Ocotal, Sandino was relatively inactive for 
a time, but his activities increased steadily beginning in late 1927. The 
Guardia reported three clashes in November and eight in December. In 
January 1928, there were ten and in February eight. There were even more 
with Marine units. There was some decline in late 1928 and 1929, and 
the Marines were largely withdrawn from combat. But violence escalated 
dramatically beginning in 1930 with 132 clashes, between Guardia units 
and Sandino’s forces, followed by 141 clashes in 1931 and 176 in 1932.21

The Guardia generally performed well in these combats and the ca-
sualties inflicted on Sandino’s forces were much greater than those they 
suffered. But the strains of combat, disrupted training, reduced attention 
to policing functions, and contributed to problems between the Guardia, 
civilian populations, and the general public. It also led to a bitter hatred of 
Sandino by most of the Guardia. The United States and the Guardia helped 
run relatively free and honest elections in Nicaragua in 1928. The head of 
the electoral Commission sent by Washington to oversee the elections was 
an Army Brigadier General, Frank McCoy, and most of his assistants were 
also Army officers.22 President Díaz, at the request of the State Depart-
ment, gave control over the Guardia to McCoy, an action that upset the se-
nior Navy and Marine officers in the area. McCoy also began investigating 
the overall military situation. Admiral David Foote Sellers, the senior US 
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Naval official in the area, grew increasingly upset with McCoy’s tendency 
to criticize the Marines and to issue orders directly to the Guardia, by-
passing the regular chain of command. As friction increased, some began 
to fear that McCoy would try to replace the Marines with Army person-
nel. Colonel L. McCarty Little, Director of Marine Corps Operations and 
Training, wrote a memorandum arguing that:

To take from the Navy a problem it has successfully han-
dled for century and to assign such duty to the Army, of 
whose functions it is not properly a part would be uneco-
nomic to say the least. An Army officer assigned in charge 
of the problems of Nicaragua would under the present 
depend entirely . . . upon the support of a service with 
whose technical limitations he is not wholly familiar. Why 
introduce this possibly jarring note? . . . To assign Army 
officers to the Guardia Nacional is to introduce an addi-
tional system of training. . . . Army officers detailed for 
duty under Marines would require instruction in our spe-
cial type of training. Army training placed over a Marine 
system would to a large degree undo the results of last 
year’s work.23

Sellers supported Little’s stand noting that:
I am very decidedly of the opinion that the best results will 
not be obtained by mixing the Army with the Navy and 
Marine Corps in matters like the present operation. . . . To 
import a lot of Army officers whose standards, traditions 
and methods differ from ours does not tend to promote 
harmony, efficiency or develop esprit de corps.24

While these inter-service rivalries proved largely ephemeral problems 
with the victor in the 1928 elections, President José María Moncada, were 
much more concrete. Unlike the compliant Díaz, who owed his position 
to the Americans, Moncada felt no such debt. He was determined both to 
assert his independence and to expand his powers. Shortly after his inau-
guration he began calling for the formation of a “Volunteer Army” under 
officers appointed by him to support the fight against Sandino. The Ameri-
can Minister and the Marine Jefe Director of the Guardia objected, but 
Moncada, supported by the Marine’s commander, General Feland, began 
recruiting his volunteers. Two columns, accompanied by Marines, were 
ultimately dispatched to Northern Nicaragua where they accomplished 
little in a military sense, but did arouse alarm among many Marines be-
cause of their habit of shooting prisoners. Word of these actions reached 
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the State Department, where Henry Stimson had just become Secretary, 
and he quickly began urging Moncada to disband the volunteer troops. In 
June, the Nicaraguan President reluctantly complied with this request, but 
did not abandon his schemes to create a force under his control.25

The 1927 Guardia Agreement was finally ratified by the Nicaraguan 
Congress on 19 February 1929, but Moncada was able to get several 
amendments added, including some which seemed to give local officials 
the power to issue orders to the Guard, others which could limit the force to 
the size specified in the original agreement and one which required all Ma-
rines serving as Guard officers to have a working knowledge of Spanish.26 
The State Department rejected all these amendments, convinced that their 
true intent was to undermine the Guardia and make possible the creation of 
a partisan army. Efforts to resolve these differences failed and, until they 
withdrew, the Marines continued to operate as if the original agreement 
was in effect.

Meanwhile, Mondaca persisted in efforts to manipulate the force 
for his own political interests. In April 1929, he ordered the Guardia to 
arrest sixteen of his political opponents, including a prominent newspaper 
editor. The State Department opposed such action, placing the Guardia in 
an awkward position. As the police force, it was supposed to carry out 
arrest orders from the courts, but, since the President controlled these, 
involvement in political arrests became virtually inevitable. In May, 
Moncada ordered the arrest of over forty more political opponents. Again, 
the State Department protested, but to no avail.27

The Nicaraguan court system was a constant problem for the Marines 
and the Guardia. In Haiti and in the Dominican Republic, Americans had 
exercised some control over the courts, but not in Nicaragua. There existed 
a welter of local and national tribunals, often with unclear and overlapping 
jurisdictions, and all highly politicized.28 For either personal or political 
motives, judges often refused to try or sentence individuals brought before 
them by the Guardia. In rural areas, Guardia officers sometimes resorted to 
holding court themselves, trying everything from homicides to civil cases 
to domestic disputes, but this was not the general rule and the court system 
remained an object of constant frustration.29

Other disputes between Moncada and the Americans involved the 
Guardia’s budget. The onset of the great depression had created serious 
financial problems for both governments, but Moncada saw in these more 
opportunities to extend his control over military affairs. In 1929, he tried 
to reduce the Guardia’s budget to $800,000, an amount that would have 
forced a sharp reduction in personnel, and might have opened a door for 
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the return of the “volunteer” army. The newly appointed American Min-
ister, Matthew Hanna, an Army veteran who had served in Cuba, tried to 
compromise. He suggested that municipal police, paid by local communi-
ties, should take over much of the police duties, freeing the Guard to focus 
on the fight with Sandino. The State Department rejected this idea, insist-
ing that the Guardia remain Nicaragua’s only police as well as military 
force. The following year Moncada tried to force Marines serving with 
the Guardia to take a 20-percent pay cut, something they, not surprisingly, 
resisted.30 They denounced this effort as:

. . . only one cog in the policy to destroy the Guardia. 
Without asking that the United States withdraw the Ma-
rines attached to the Guardia he kills it by non-support and 
thus lays the blame for the death on the United States and 
attains his own end: that of substituting Nicaraguans of his 
own personal choice for United States Marines.31

Escalated attacks by Sandino cooled this dispute as conditions made it 
imperative that the Guardia expand, not contract. When the Marines turned 
over command at the end of 1932 it had reached a total strength of 267 
officers and 2,240 enlisted men.32 In addition, due to President Moncada’s 
efforts, there were several hundred municipal police, ostensibly under 
Guardia control, but recruited locally and paid for by liquor taxes. Another 
group, known as civicos, served as both a reserve force and as private 
guards for companies and farms. Finally, beginning in 1931, a force of 
300 auxiliares was created, short-term armed groups who accompanied the 
Guardia on specific missions. Another 250 were added in 1932 and these 
sometimes operated independently. In all cases, Guardia officers, supplied 
through the Guardia’s Quartermaster Department, and, at least in theory, 
subject to Guardia regulations, commanded the auxiliares.33 They do not 
seem to have generated the controversy engendered by the earlier voluntar-
ies and, in early 1933, after peace was negotiated with Sandino, they were 
apparently disbanded.

Despite limited funds, constant combat, and seemingly endless 
political disputes, the Marines did a reasonably good job in organizing and 
training the Guardia. While under their command it remained nonpartisan, 
reasonably honest, and by far the best trained, disciplined, and equipped 
force in Nicaraguan history. The very nature of Marine leadership and 
training, however, contributed to future problems in the nation’s civil-
military relations. As one scholar has noted that, “despite [the Marines] 
efforts to eradicate the old caudillo style military history of Nicaragua 
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[they] ended up recreating the same style of command within the new 
Guardia.”34

The problem was what is characterized in Spanish as personalismo, the 
habit, especially among Latin American militaries, of giving prime loyalty 
not to a nation or an institution, but to one’s immediate commander. It is 
common to address a superior officer as mi General or mi Capitan, my 
General or Captain, emphasizing the highly personal nature of the relation-
ship. This had always been a dominant characteristic in Nicaragua, and 
troops reacted to Marine officers much as they had to earlier Nicaraguan 
leaders. As Marine Lieutenant Colonel Arthur Racicot noted in 1930:

The morale of the Guardia Nacional is in general satisfac-
tory. Their loyalty appears almost wholly based on per-
sonal loyalty to their officers. Development of loyalty to 
their government as the duty of a soldier, above every-
thing else, is not apparent in any perceptible degree, yet.35

Writing after the Marines withdrew another officer stressed the role 
of personal loyalties in effective command of Guardia units, emphasizing 
that, “The Marine became guide, philosopher, and friend, and, in most in-
stances, the idol of his command.” He concluded that, “with a careful eye 
upon their comfort and wellbeing, kindness, and an occasional word of 
appreciation and the Jefe became the demigod of his men.36

An exacerbating factor was the series of disputes between the Marines 
and Nicaraguan politicians. Many Guardia officers made little effort to 
conceal their contempt for the entire political class. One senior officer went 
so far as to declare that, “most Nicaraguan politicians should be in jail.”37 
Such open contempt did nothing to promote Guardia loyalty to the govern-
ment. Instead, both the Nicaraguan officers and enlisted men increasingly 
came to think of themselves as a class apart, not just separate from, but in 
most ways superior, to the political leadership. At its most extreme, this 
attitude created the image that they were the true defenders of the state and 
politicians among the principal menaces.

Racial, religious, and cultural prejudices also hampered the development 
of the Guardia, though to a lesser extent than was the case in Haiti or 
the Dominican Republic. It must again be recalled that such prejudices 
were extremely common in the United States at this time. The Corps had 
no minority officers or enlisted men and many came from the segregated 
South. In addition, anti-Catholic sentiment was common, reflected in the 
defeat of Al Smith’s run for the presidency in 1928. What is notable is 
the extent to which many Marines, detailed to the Guardia, were able to 
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overcome or at least modify their prejudices. Compliments on the quality 
of Nicaraguan troops were frequent and at times those of mixed heritage 
were seen as superior to the more Europeanized elites. At the same time, 
many of the enlisted men may have found the class prejudices of their 
American officers less intense than those they had experienced under 
Nicaraguan command. In the Marine Corps, ties between officers and 
enlisted personnel, especially the famous Gunnery Sergeants, were always 
close and this attitude carried over to their development of the Guardia. 
One prejudice, however, did have a real impact. As in Haiti, the Marines 
were never willing to have a native officer in a position of command over 
any Marine. This insured that Nicaraguans did not fill any posts above 
the rank of Captain until just before the final withdrawal. The lack of any 
professional preparation of the higher officer corps would create major 
problems for the future of the Guardia and of Nicaragua.

Sandino was not the only major challenge that the Guardia confronted. 
On 31 March 1931, a powerful earthquake devastated the city of Managua. 
Damage and casualties were immense, water and electricity services were 
disrupted, and fires broke out, destroying much of what the earthquake had 
spared.38 The Guardia’s Marine Commander immediately declared martial 
law, and his troops and the members of the Marine Brigade in Managua 
worked furiously to stem the fires and prevent looting. They also took over 
efforts to provide food, water, and medical care for the city’s surviving 
inhabitants. Almost all the buildings used by the Guardia were destroyed, 
as was the National Penitentiary.39 Despite immense difficulties, the force 
functioned well and probably did more to enhance its image by these ac-
tions than at any other time. In December 1972, when an earthquake again 
devastated Managua, the Guardia’s performance would produce condem-
nation rather than praise.

By the time of the earthquake, preparations were already underway 
for transferring command to Nicaraguan officers and withdrawing the 
Marines. President Hoover’s desire to end American military interventions 
in Latin America, budgetary pressures exacerbated by the depression, and 
Secretary of State Stimson’s belief that the interventions hampered his 
efforts to oppose Japan’s invasion of Manchuria all added to the urgency. 
In April 1930, a Nicaraguan military academy was finally opened, but 
there were only nine students in the initial class. Increased clashes with 
Sandino’s forces led to a very premature graduation of this class, but this 
still left the Guard with only 15 Nicaraguans among the 220 officers.40 A 
class of thirty-seven, four of whom were already Guardia officers, was 
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admitted to the military academy in November 1930 and twenty-seven 
graduated on 1 June 1931. The following class graduated fifty-nine new 
second lieutenants in April 1932. Admissions to each class were supposed 
to be nonpartisan, but President Moncada had to approve them and he 
clearly favored those with Liberal party connections.41

The State Department continued efforts to limit political influences, 
but with little success. Washington was determined to end the intervention 
when the victor in the 1932 presidential elections took office and pres-
sures to comply with this mandate overwhelmed all other concerns. The 
Academy would produce enough graduates to fill all the slots for second 
lieutenants, and promotions of existing offices would take care of the posi-
tions for first lieutenants and some of those for captains. But there was no 
provision for filling the higher ranks. These positions would be critical in 
determining the Guard’s trajectory once the Marines departed. 

Washington did not seem to take serious notice of this problem until 
February 1932. Laurence Duggan of the State Department’s Division of 
Latin American Affairs wrote a memo noting that the Guardia had no 
regular promotion procedures and no means of preventing the President 
“from appointing to all the high commands his own henchmen, pledged 
to carry out his personal or party wishes.”42 The State Department then 
asked its Nicaraguan Legation to report on preparations for turning over 
command. Chargé Willard Beaulac responded by forwarding a November 
1931 proposal by Guardia Jefe Director, General Calvin B. Matthews, that 
Nicaragua adopt a law freeing the Guardia from local political control and 
prohibiting its members from any political participation including voting. 
He also included a later message from Matthews noting that none of the 
Academy graduates would have the experience necessary for high command 
and that these posts would need to be filled by “Nicaraguans of mature age 
and with previous military experience,” who would be appointed by the 
winner of the 1932 elections.43 Since the only way Nicaraguans outside 
of the Guardia had gained such experience was in bitterly partisan civil 
conflicts, this made the future of the concept of a nonpartisan constabulary 
dubious at best.

Washington’s response to this situation seems to have been a combi-
nation of denial and wishful thinking. On 17 May 1932, Acting Secretary 
of State Francis White wrote Matthew Hanna, the American Minister in 
Nicaragua:

It is going to be difficult to maintain the theory of the 
Guardia as a nonpartisan organization if outsiders are 
appointed to high command. However, in view of the fact 
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that no Nicaraguans have so far been trained to hold grades 
higher than that of lieutenant, I suppose it may be necessary 
to go outside of the Guardia for some of the appointments 
to higher grades. It would of course be advisable if such 
appointments could be given to Nicaraguans who do not 
have a record of strong political partisanship.44

In June 1932, Matthews pointed out that appointments to higher po-
sitions could precipitate a conflict between the incumbent and incoming 
presidents and therefore urged Washington to allow fifty Marine officers 
to stay for an additional two months to facilitate the turnover. Secretary of 
State Stimson firmly rejected this suggestion.45 An alternate plan, proposed 
by Matthews, was accepted by the State Department. It provided that each 
major party candidate for president should prepare a list of officers, drawn 
equally from both parties, before the election and that President Moncada 
should agree to appoint the list of the winning candidate. However, the key 
post of Jefe Director, was exempted from this and would obviously be a 
supporter of the winning candidate and his party. The Acting Secretary of 
State seemed satisfied with this arrangement, declaring that it provided for 
“continuance of the nonpartisan nature of the Guardia since its officers will 
be drawn equally from the two historic political parties.”46 This assertion 
was patently false, since the new officers would be appointed because of 
their political loyalties, not the lack thereof. Moreover, the Jefe Director 
would almost certainly be an individual of strong political loyalties and 
would have great control over future assignments and promotions, virtu-
ally assuring that the force would become increasingly partisan.

With no better options readily available, this plan was put in motion. 
At President Moncada’s suggestion, the two major presidential candidates, 
on the day before the election, signed an agreement, pledging to keep the 
Guardia nonpartisan and to give President Moncada, in agreement with 
General Matthews, the right to appoint the officers on the winning candi-
dates list.47 On 6 November, the elections were held, under American su-
pervision, and the Liberal Party candidate, Dr. Juan Bautista Sacasa, won a 
decisive victory. The Guardia performed well during the elections and even 
the defeated party acknowledged that it had remained completely neutral.

While Sacasa supposedly was free to appoint whomever he wished 
as the Guardia’s new Jefe Director, he had to negotiate this with both 
President Moncada and the American Minister, Matthew Hanna. A letter 
from Matthews to Moncada confirmed this, saying Sacasa had been given 
three names—Anastasio Somoza García, Gustavo Abaunza, and José 
María Zelaya—from which to choose the “higher officials.”48 All three 
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were strong partisans of Moncada’s faction of the Liberal Party. Eventually 
Somoza was made Jefe Director, and Abaunza Chief of Staff.49

Sacasa found Somoza, Moncada’s acting Foreign Minister, the least 
objectionable of this group, largely because he was married to the incoming 
President’s niece. The Americans wanted him because he had long worked 
with them, often serving as a buffer between the volatile and frequently 
intoxicated Moncada and American diplomatic and military officials. He 
also had studied at the Pierce School of Accounting in Philadelphia where 
he learned English and became an ardent baseball fan. Hanna had openly 
stated his preference for Somoza, characterizing him as “the best man in 
the country for the position” and concluding, “no one will labor as in-
telligently or conscientiously to maintain the nonpartisan character of the 
Guardia or will be as efficient in all matters connected with the administra-
tion and command of the Force.”50

With this obstacle removed the Marines set about making final 
preparations for the change of command and their departure. Matthews and 
his staff prepared a large number of proposed laws governing the Guardia 
that they wanted adopted, but no Nicaraguan administration ever acted on 
these. On 1 January 1933, Matthews turned over command to Somoza and 
departed in such a rush that his Chief of Staff doubted that he even finished 
packing.51 They left behind the best trained, armed, and equipped military 
force in Nicaragua’s history. Despite limited academic preparation, the 
junior officers were better trained than any previous officer corps and in 
addition most had some combat experience, often under Marine direction. 
Separate medical, quartermaster, and communications departments were 
organized and functioning. 

The majority of the Guardia were destined to function more as po-
lice than as military, and in this area, too, the force was better trained and 
disciplined than ever before, with much of the petty graft and almost all 
of the political harassment previously characteristic of Nicaraguan police 
eliminated. On most technical matters, the Marines had done as good a job 
as possible under the circumstances. The chances of these changes endur-
ing would now depend on Nicaraguan leadership. That leadership, it soon 
became apparent, was determined to mold the Guardia into an instrument 
of personal ambitions.

Some individuals in both the State Department and the Marine Corps 
had a good idea of what the future was likely to hold. Laurence Duggan, 
ever the pessimistic realist, had, as early as November 1931, noted that 
the animosity between traditional parties probably made establishing a 
nonpartisan constabulary an impossibility, and openly wondered what had 
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ever made American officials think that might be possible.52 The following 
year Duggan was even more pessimistic, predicting:

Upon the withdrawal of the Marine officer in the Guardia 
next fall the forces of disintegration will be set into  ac-
tion. . . . It is a foregone conclusion that Nicaragua will not 
maintain the Guardia along present Marine Corps lines. 
The loss of the spirit of impartial service, so laboriously 
instilled, involves a return to a partisan, political constab-
ulary. Judging from the historical position of the Army 
in Central America and more particularly in Nicaragua a 
strictly nonpartisan military is not, at the present time, a 
possibility.53

Many of the Marines who had served with the Guardia were also pes-
simistic about its future. Writing in the November 1932 issue of the Marine 
Corps Gazette, Lieutenant Colonel Robert Denig, who had served as Guar-
dia Chief of Staff until injuries suffered in the 1931 earthquake forced his 
evacuation, criticized the plan for political appointments to the Guardia’s 
higher positions, and concluded, “At best there is sure to be a shakeup in 
the Guardia; it will soon become a partisan force used to further the party 
in power.”54 Even General Matthews, the Guardia’s last American com-
mander, was pessimistic, admitting that the best that could be hoped would 
be that the politically appointed officers would have a minimum, not an 
absence of political bias, and noting that political bias already existed as 
Moncada had openly favored Liberals for both officer and enlisted posi-
tions.55

These fears would prove all too true. At first, though, it seemed as if the 
Marine’s withdrawal might bring peace to Nicaragua. Sandino had often 
declared that he would quit fighting when the Marines left and to the sur-
prise of many, he kept his promise. On 23 January, a fifteen-day truce was 
declared to allow negotiations, and, in early February, Sacasa and Sandino 
agreed to a treaty that provided for an end to the fighting, a general am-
nesty, and the disarmament of all but 100 of Sandino’s men.

This agreement may have come just in time for General Somoza and 
the Guardia. The political appointments to the senior officer positions an-
gered some military academy graduates and a disgruntled group plotted 
to force the president to fire all but Somoza and promote junior officers 
in their place. The plot was discovered, but, unsure of its dimensions, the 
president and his Jefe Director simply reassigned the ringleaders to remote 
posts or administrative billets.56
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Guardia unity was restored more by a common dislike of the peace 
terms obtained by Sandino than by anything else. The former insurgent 
leader’s retention of his own armed force, in contravention of the stipu-
lation that the Guardia, was to be the nation’s sole armed force, was the 
greatest issue. Somoza repeatedly asked the American Minister, Arthur 
Bliss Lane, for permission to “lock Sandino up,” an action Lane always 
refused to endorse.57 But, pressured by the Guardia’s officer corps, Somoza 
decided to move ahead anyway. On the night of 21 February 1934, San-
dino was seized as he left a meeting with President Sacasa and, along with 
several of his chief lieutenants, shot. At the same time, other Guardia units 
attacked his followers camped along the Coco River.58

At first terrified that Sacasa might seize on the killings as an excuse 
to replace him, Somoza quickly recovered his nerve when the president 
failed to act. He now began to maneuver, first to gain complete control 
over the Guardia then to make himself president. The first step was having 
the congress pass an override of a presidential veto of a general amnesty 
for all those involved in Sandino’s murder.59 Somoza also had to put down 
several plots against him from within the Guardia during 1934 and 1935. 
Their failure helped the Jefe Director to steadily purge the force of officers 
whose loyalty was suspect. In the process most of the Conservatives who 
had been appointed to senior positions following the 1932 election were 
forced out.

With the Guardia now largely loyal to him, Somoza put into action 
plans to make himself president. President Sacasa attempted to block his 
ambitions, but to no avail. In June 1936, there was a brief armed confronta-
tion between the Guardia and Sacasa’s supporters. The President appealed 
to the United States and other nations for support, but beyond a few verbal 
statements, got nothing. Terrified for his own safety, he ordered his sup-
porters to surrender, then resigned and fled the country.60 With Sacasa out 
of the way, the Liberal Party obediently nominated Somoza for president, 
the opposition boycotted the 1936 elections, and he was declared the victor 
with over 99 percent of the votes. As the Constitution required, Somoza 
ostensibly stepped down as Jefe Director during the campaign, but shortly 
after his victory resumed the post, combining in his person the civilian and 
military leadership of the nation.61

What many had feared had come to pass. The Guardia had become not 
only an instrument of partisan politics, it had essentially taken over poli-
tics, dominating the Liberal Party, intimidating the opposition, and placing 
its commander in the presidency. This came as no surprise to Arthur Bliss 
Lane, who a year earlier had written:
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The people who created the G.N. had no adequate under-
standing of the psychology of the people here. Otherwise 
they would not have bequeathed Nicaragua with an instru-
ment to blast constitutional procedure off the map. Did it 
ever occur to the eminent statesmen who created the G.N. 
that personal ambition lurks in the human breast, even in 
Nicaragua. In my opinion it is one of the sorriest examples 
on our part of our inability to understand that we should 
not meddle in other peoples affairs.62

For the next 33 years, the history of Nicaragua, the Guardia Nacional, 
and the Somoza family were inextricably intertwined. Anastasio Somoza 
García and his sons built their power on the twin pillars of control of the 
Guardia and maintaining the image of Washington’s support. In the process, 
they constantly strove to portray all opposition as either pro-Axis (through 
1945) or pro-Communist.63 They became a constant ally of the United 
States, promptly declaring war on Japan and Germany in 1941, always 
voting with Washington in the United Nations, sending his sons, Luis and 
Anastasio Somoza Debayle, to study in the United States (Luis graduated 
from Louisiana State and Anastasio from West Point) and even naming 
Managua’s main street Avenida Roosevelt. In return, the United States 
provided training and military assistance to the Guardia, especially during 
World War II and following Castro’s assumption of power in Cuba. When 
the CIA wanted bases to train an exile army to oust left-leaning Jacobo 
Árbenz from power in Guatemala, Somoza readily complied.64 In return, 
Nicaragua received generous amounts of American military assistance 
and training and the Guardia’s strength steadily expanded.65 His sons later 
supplied the bases from which the CIA launched its unsuccessful Cuban 
invasion in 1961.66 This contributed to an intense hatred between the two 
regimes and to Castro’s strong support for the Nicaraguan insurgents of 
the FSLN. 

Relations were not always smooth. After World War II, the Truman 
administration pressured Somoza not to run for re-election, and then, 
when he overthrew his handpicked successor withdrew recognition, ended 
military training and assistance for a time. The Eisenhower administration 
helped block his efforts to overthrow the Costa Rican government in 
1954.67 Despite Nicaraguan support at the Bay of Pigs, the Kennedy 
administration tried to pressure the sons to lessen their grip on power, but 
only succeeded in having a puppet president installed for one term. In every 
case, security considerations, the identification of the regimes opponents 
with Communism and, eventually, with Castro, and the perceived lack 
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of viable alternatives aborted these efforts and enabled the Somozas to 
maintain their power and the Guardia to continue receiving US assistance 
and training. They took full advantage of every such opportunity and, until 
relations broke down in 1978, under the Carter administration, sent more 
individuals to the US Army’s School of the Americas in the Canal Zone 
than any other Latin American nation.68

Anastasio Somoza García was assassinated in 1956, but his sons Luis 
and Anastasio (Tachito) Somoza Debayle quickly assumed power. Luis 
handled politics and Anastasio commanded the Guardia until Luis died in 
1967. The younger brother then tried to direct both political and military 
affairs, plus manage the family’s huge business interests, but lacked the 
skills of his father and brother. Corruption became more and more blatant, 
and frustrated youth increasingly turned to the Cuban-backed Sandinista 
guerrillas. Relations with the Roman Catholic Church were also deterio-
rating as Guardia human rights violations increased. When the Guardia 
largely disintegrated following the 1972 earthquake and Tachito used the 
event to further enrich himself opposition within the business class mount-
ed as well.69

The regime’s final collapse began in January 1978 with the assassination 
of Somoza’s most prominent political opponent, newspaper editor Pedro 
Joaquín Chamorro. Widespread strikes quickly followed and there were 
scattered uprisings that the Guardia crushed. Relations with the United 
States deteriorated and Venezuela, Panama, and Costa Rica took the lead 
among Latin American nations in calling for Somoza’s ouster. In August, 
an FSLN commando unit, led by Edén Pastora (Commandante Zero) 
infiltrated Managua and took the Congress hostage. Despite opposition 
from elements of the Guardia, Somoza Debayle negotiated a settlement. 
Political prisoners were released, an FSLN communiqué was broadcast 
on radio and television, and the guerrillas were flown to safety in Panama 
and Venezuela.70 This inspired a rash of uprisings across Nicaragua that 
the Guardia again put down, this time with greatly increased brutality, 
including bombing civilian areas and shooting any young men suspected 
of Sandinista sympathies.71

The United States devoted the next several months to trying to lever-
age the Somozas out of power, but to no avail. Military assistance and 
training were suspended, but the regime managed to find other sources, 
including Israel and rightwing Latin American governments. In May 1979, 
the FSLN launched coordinated attacks on the regime from within Nica-
ragua and from Costa Rica. Frantic US efforts to negotiate an end to the 
fighting, including efforts to get the Organization of American States to 
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intervene, and to negotiate the survival of at least elements of the Guardia 
failed.72 Somoza was finally persuaded to resign in July 1979 and the rem-
nants of the Guardia fled into exile or sought refuge with the Red Cross in 
Managua. This sanctuary was quickly violated and most of the officers and 
enlisted men from combat units were imprisoned. The United States cre-
ated Guardia Nacional de Nicaragua had ceased to exist.73

The Nicaraguan experience demonstrates again that, while technical 
expertise can be created, altering political behavior and institutions are 
much more difficult, if not impossible. It also underscores the reality that 
policies towards small, weak nations are so often overtaken by perceived 
wider concerns, be they developing a nonintervention policy, fighting 
global enemies, promoting democracy and human rights, or simply want-
ing stability at almost any price in order not to have attention diverted from 
more pressing matters. In the end, neither stability nor wider interests were 
achieved and, during the 1980s, the United States would find itself once 
more absorbed with trying to deal with Nicaragua.
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Chapter 8

Conclusions: Lessons Lost and Lessons Forgotten

A hundred and ten years after the United States began developing the 
Constabulary in the Philippines and the Rural Guard in Cuba, it finds itself 
again engaged in efforts to create security forces, this time in Iraq and 
Afghanistan. The problems of ethnic divisions, active insurgencies, limited 
resources, language and cultural barriers, and seemingly endless political 
conflicts which bedeviled efforts to create security forces in the first third 
of the 20th century all seem to be reoccurring in the first decade of the 21st. 
As Yogi Berra has observed, “it’s déjà vu all over again.” The question is, 
can we learn from the problems of the past and achieve better results in the 
future? 

The US efforts to create constabulary-type forces in the first third 
of the 20th century produced disappointing results. Every one of the six 
nations involved—the Philippines, Cuba, Panama, Haiti, the Dominican 
Republic, and Nicaragua—ultimately fell under dictatorial rule. In all 
but the Philippines, control over the military brought these regimes to 
power and sustained them. In the Philippines, the military, including the 
constabulary, initially supported the Marcos dictatorship, but ultimately 
split and the constabulary was an important element in the uprising that 
finally forced him from power. In every case but the Philippines, the United 
States found itself intervening again, either with regular military force (in 
the Dominican Republic, Haiti, Panama) or with proxy forces (in Cuba and 
Nicaragua).
	 Also disturbing is the fate of these forces. In Cuba, the Rural Guard 
and its descendents were essentially destroyed three times, first when the 
Guard lost its independence and became an adjunct of the army, second 
when the officer corps was destroyed in the sergeants’ revolt, and finally 
when the entire military apparatus was eliminated by Fidel Castro. In 
Panama, the force became progressively more militarized and more corrupt, 
culminating in the Noriega dictatorship. It took another US intervention to 
oust this regime and in the process the military was destroyed. In Haiti, 
the military made and unmade presidents until Duvalier created his own 
paramilitary thugs, the Tonton Macoute, to neutralize the Army. After 
Duvalier, the military returned to its old habits until a US-led intervention 
ended its existence. In the Dominican Republic, by contrast, the 1965 US 
intervention may have prevented the Army’s destruction while in Nicaragua 
the Guardia Nacional first became a tool of the Somoza family, and then 
was destroyed by Marxist guerrillas.
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	 What can we learn from this unhappy history? Would a different US 
policy, altered goals and/or methods, have produced a fundamentally 
different result? To what extent was the United States the cause of their 
subsequent trajectories, and to what extent was this largely a likely, if 
not inevitable, result of each nation’s history and social structure? When 
dealing with security forces in other nations, especially when there are 
major differences of power, culture, and human development, what are 
the limits of influence? The answers to such questions will always be at 
least partially speculative, but by raising these issues some fundamental 
principles can emerge. 
	 Andrew Bacevich has observed that, “Good intentions detached from 
prudential considerations can easily lead to enormous mischief, both prac-
tical and moral.”1 This applies to some of Washington’s efforts to create 
constabulary forces. The weakness, corruption, and repressive nature of 
traditional military forces in Haiti, the Dominican Republic, and Nicaragua 
were all too apparent. So too was their inability to control insurrections. 
But, when policies were being formulated, no American official, civilian 
or military, appears to have asked if replacing such forces with a better 
trained and equipped constabulary would change their relation to the rest 
of society or in any way alter the traditional political equation which made 
force the final arbiter. Nor does there appear to have been any question-
ing of how nationalist sentiments would react to a foreign-created security 
force, or how that force, itself, would react once foreign control was ended. 
Comparisons to colonial experiences, whether that of the United States in 
the Philippines or, as was often cited, that of the British in Egypt and India, 
was misleading as in those cases there was no prospect, at least in the fore-
seeable future, of constabularies coming under national control. 
	 Instead of asking such questions, policymakers seem to have assumed 
that a constabulary created with American instructors and under American-
imposed regulations would behave like an American military force. There 
was no understanding of traditional Latin American distinctions between 
state, government and population, with the military owing its allegiance 
only to the first of these and assuming the right to define when the govern-
ment or the population became a threat to the state. Neither did there seem 
to be comprehension of the great gap between American and Latin political 
culture over the source and nature of citizens’ rights. In the United States, 
rights were inherent and the state had only the power that its citizens gave 
it. In Latin America, citizens had only the rights the state allowed them 
and, if the state believed itself threatened, it could usually impose a state of 
siege that suspended all rights. This was compounded by Latin America’s 
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lack of a strong tradition of judicial independence. Courts were largely 
seen as an instrument of executive power and were designed principally 
to maintain order, not protect citizens’ rights. Under such circumstances, 
a more efficient police usually meant a more repressive state, not more 
citizen security.2

	 None of this should be taken to mean that leaving the old military and 
police as they were offered any solution for American policy aims or for 
domestic peace and development. Abstaining from any effort to create ef-
fective security forces can produce its own version of policy disaster, as the 
American experiences in Lebanon and Somalia demonstrate. The issues in 
each case are less what can be done than what should not be done, and what 
are the likely unintended consequences of any program. 
	 Analysis of these case studies can produce some basic principles. The 
first is the need for clarity of purpose. Simply wanting to create a constabu-
lary force is not enough. There must be thought given to how this relates to 
other elements of government such as the courts, local governments, and 
treasury. A nation’s internal divisions, racial, ethnic, religious, ideological 
and/or regional must be carefully taken into account in determining both 
personnel and mission. What exactly such a force can accomplish and how 
it is likely to evolve when left to its own devices should enter into planning 
at the earliest stages. 
	 Second, there must be unity of effort. The bitter disputes between 
American civil and military personnel, notably, but, by no means exclu-
sively in the Dominican Republic, are a case in point. They disrupted the 
effort to develop the Guardia, contributed to policy confusion in Washing-
ton, and ultimately made it more difficult for those on the scene to get a fair 
hearing for their concerns.
	 Third, goals must be realistic. A force created by outsiders, no matter 
how capable or dedicated, will be shaped by its domestic context. To the 
extent that it becomes a foreign transplant it will lose credibility, contribute 
to internal divisions, and become an object of nationalist attacks. Ameri-
cans can train, equip, even command such forces, but in the end they will 
fall under national authority that will strive to remove all evidence of ex-
ternal domination. 
	 This relates directly to the fourth and final basic point: know and ac-
cept the limits of influence. No matter what is done to mold and indoctri-
nate a foreign security force it will evolve into something different. No 
matter what efforts are made to shape attitudes towards civil authority, citi-
zens’ rights and legal responsibilities, post occupation realities will reshape 
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if not eliminate such principles. This is not our country and everyone who 
is recruited into forces we create knows that and acts accordingly.
	 In addition to these broad principles, there are some specific lessons 
that can be drawn from these experiences and, hopefully, applied to present 
and possible future operations.3

1.	 You will have neither the time nor the resources necessary to do 
the job the way it should be done. Resources are always limited, 
newer problems always divert attention, political and popular sup-
port is a limited and diminishing resource. Arguing for more time, 
more resources can become a self-defeating exercise, diminishing 
credibility and diverting attention from determining urgent priori-
ties.

2.	 Once national policy begins to focus on withdrawal, this concern 
will overwhelm all others. Anything that interferes with this goal 
will be shoved aside.

3.	 Always remember, technology transfers, values do not. It is rela-
tively easy to train someone how to use a weapon; it is much more 
difficult to control when they use the weapon and against whom. 
Americans are very good at technical training and it is easy to 
measure success in such terms. But the political results of such 
training depend on the when and against whom aspects.

4.	 Keep in mind that in the creation of security forces you are dealing 
with adults. Their values are already well formed and largely im-
mutable. They know their political and social environment better 
than you and they know what it takes to survive and prosper in it. 
Any aspect of training which runs contrary to this will have little 
if any impact. If an alteration in traditional patterns is perceived as 
advancing their goals, it may be accepted and incorporated, but if 
it is perceived as largely advancing your goals or if it runs contrary 
to their cultural values it will be rejected. One Nicaraguan experi-
ence provides a graphic, if somewhat comical example of this. The 
rates of sexually transmitted diseases among enlisted personnel of 
the Guardia were extremely high and the usual lectures on health 
and morality had the usual lack of effect. So the Navy doctors 
and Corpsmen passed out prophylactics. While the enlisted per-
sonnel insisted they were using them, infection rates continued to 
climb. One doctor decided to investigate and discovered that they 
were indeed being used—to polish their boots before they went 
off to the brothels on payday.4 Having highly polished boots was 
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a source of male pride in Nicaragua, using a prophylactic was not. 
They took American technology and adapted it to their values.

5.	 Never assume that the motives for someone joining a foreign cre-
ated security force are the same as those that motivate Americans. 
There is usually some similarity at enlisted levels, individuals may 
join because they need a job or hope to gain a skill. For those be-
coming officers, however, the motives may be very different. This 
is especially true in nations with deep internal divisions. Candi-
dates may seek to advance their own ethnic/racial/religious group 
and/or counter the interests of others. They may be motivated 
largely by hopes for social advancement, for opportunity for per-
sonal enrichment, or a means of enhancing family security. What 
Americans would define as patriotic motives, seeking to serve 
one’s nation, may be present, but usually to a lesser degree and are 
often absent altogether.

6.	 Using the military in the role of police is always a bad idea, al-
though not using them in such a role may be even worse. When 
Washington conceived of creating these constabularies the as-
sumption was that combining police and military functions would 
serve numerous purposes: reducing expenses, giving the new force 
a credible mission, curbing political manipulation and limiting 
corruption. What it did in fact do was exacerbate the tendency to 
overly centralized authority, eliminating any police responsibil-
ity to local authorities. In practice, individuals were sometimes 
deliberately assigned to areas where they had no local ties in or-
der to undercut the power of regional leaders. In other cases, the 
constabulary was barely present and in its place local paramilitary 
forces were raised, operating largely outside the rule of law. Those 
assigned to police duties were under military authority and their 
officers often graduated from the national military academy. But 
these were usually those of less ability and/or ambition (and often 
in practice with fewer moral scruples). In none of these nations 
was there a tradition of a primary police responsibility being pro-
tecting average citizens and once national control was established 
over the police, protecting average citizens fell off their priority 
list and traditional attitudes toward the population returned, if they 
had ever been absent. Order took precedence over justice, and pro-
tecting privilege, not citizens’ rights, was the priority.

7.	 Career military are not ideal trainers for police. The military, es-
pecially in the early 20th century, placed a higher value on order 
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and discipline than did society as a whole and often tended to treat 
foreign populations in policing situations as a potential enemy. 
Admiral Robison’s inquiry as to whether he should consider the 
Dominicans as enemies illustrates this.5 Military trainers were 
sometimes well versed in the technical skills needed for police 
work, but not in the human relations required. This is not meant 
as a criticism of the military; no one would expect a career police 
officer to be the ideal trainer of a combat unit. But it does highlight 
an ongoing problem and explains why the first Marine commander 
of the Managua police should plead for the Marines to “get up a 
pamphlet on practical police work” and argue that, “it should be 
made part of the law course in the Marine Corps schools.”6

8.	 In nations with only a constabulary force, it is the police units 
that will have most contact with the population and will determine 
popular attitudes towards the institution as a whole. When corrupt, 
brutal and/or repressive they often generate violent resistance to 
authority. For a centralized, military command, efficiency and the 
maintenance of a least the appearance of order are normally more 
important that the state of police/civilian relations. For police units 
in most of these constabulary forces, their relationship with overall 
command authority is more important and career promoting than 
their relations with the local authority or population. But for politi-
cal stability and for countering an existing insurgency the opposite 
is true: relationships with local populations are key.

9.	 Efforts to change a society largely through changing its security 
forces never produce the desired effect and inevitably bring un-
desired effects. The most extreme case of this is when security 
forces are modernized, but the overall administration of justice 
is not. When police and judicial organs are in conflict, or when 
the courts simply don’t function effectively two things invariably 
happen. The police increasingly take justice into their own hands, 
including eliminating prisoners, and corruption spreads hand-in-
hand with rising police frustrations.7

10.	 Prejudices and stereotypes always hinder effective force develop-
ment. They are never a secret from those who are being trained and 
can have significant, negative long-range results. The Haitian case 
is rife with examples, but this impacted to a greater or lesser extent 
on every one of the six cases included in this study. The worst ex-
ample was the Trujillo court-martial in the Dominican Republic. 
By not expecting a Dominican officer to come close to the stan-
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dards they set for themselves, the American officers of the Guar-
dia helped advance the career of a future mass murderer. Taking 
into account cultural and educational differences does not equate 
with abandoning standards. Differences do not imply inferiority.8

11.	  Language skills and their cultural context are vital. This does not 
simply mean achieving a certain degree of fluency, being able to 
give training lectures and conduct drills. It means learning the 
values that a language carries. It means knowing that in Spanish 
there is no good translation for rule of law, that in most indigenous 
languages our concepts of justice and of the state protecting 
citizens’ rights are largely absent. It means knowing why, for a 
Creole-speaking Haitian peasant, the concept of state authority 
and the phrase “to squeeze and suck” are essentially synonymous.9 
Language shapes relationships with authority, values and attitudes, 
loyalties and expectations. What you think you are saying and 
what they hear are never exactly the same and sometimes the 
differences can be critical.

12.	 Most of your influence will leave when you do. The traditions of 
national culture and the realities of existing power structures will 
rapidly replace most of whatever influence you may have had. This 
has nothing to do with whether you are liked or not, something to 
which Americans often give too much weight. It simply reflects 
who is in a position to dispense rewards and punishments, whose 
expectations one needs to meet. 

13.	 Secondary issues in development and training often become ma-
jor issues once command is transferred. The role of intelligence is 
a key example. Under American control intelligence functioned 
largely as a tactical tool for both the police and the military. Data 
collection and analysis were emphasized with few questions asked 
about how this material would ultimately be utilized. But in the 
nations where we were creating constabularies, intelligence, such 
as it was, had traditionally been largely an instrument of internal 
political control and repression. When national forces took control 
intelligence quickly reverted to this pattern, only now it was nota-
bly more efficient.

14.	 Communications between those making policies in Washington and 
those assigned to carry them out in the field always cause problems. 
With modern communications, directives from Washington arrive 
with the speed of light, however responses from those in the field 
often seem to travel with the speed of an intoxicated turtle. The 
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turnover to national command in Nicaragua was a prime example. 
Those making policy persisted in the illusion that a nonpartisan 
force could somehow be maintained, while those dealing directly 
with the Guardia Nacional knew better. But experience had taught 
them that arguing such cases with higher authority accomplished 
nothing and could be career threatening. In such cases, simply 
continuing the form of policy without the substance becomes the 
rule, and keeping the lid on for the moment, the “not on my watch” 
syndrome becomes standard operating procedure. Being able to 
honestly assess situations during operations, rather than long after, 
would be a major step towards making security force creation and 
training a more effective element of national policy.

15.	 If there is a final principle, it is that an ability to learn from the past 
is always essential. Past experiences cannot be replicated. What 
works in one situation may not work at all in another context. The 
effort to apply examples from the Philippines to the Latin American 
nations well-illustrates this. We usually learn more from mistakes 
than from success. History rarely teaches us what will work, but it 
can demonstrate what doesn’t and can put us on our guard against 
the inevitable tide of unintended consequences.10

At the end of his study of intervention, Richard N. Haass wrote:
Getting it right will be difficult. Policymakers must al-
ways exercise judgment. Guidelines are just that; they 
are not rules, much less absolutes. Interests alone do not 
provide answers or dictate choices. One must begin with 
an assessment of whether intervention is desirable, then 
address its feasibility, and then return to the question of 
desirability. . . . Making policy is always about choosing, 
deciding whether to intervene with military force is no ex-
ception. It is only that the stakes are greater.11

This advice applies not only to the issue of intervening but to specific poli-
cies related to such a decision, notably the development of new security 
forces. We ignore the lessons of past experiences at our peril. This was 
summed up by my maternal grandfather who was fond of observing, “If 
our foresight was as good as our hindsight we’d be better off by a damn 
sight.”
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